
1

MEETING: LICENSING AND REGULATORY COMMITTEE

DATE: Monday 7th September, 2020

TIME: 12.00 pm

VENUE: Remote Meeting

Member

Councillor John Kelly (Chair)
Councillor Brenda O'Brien (Vice-Chair)
Councillor Bradshaw
Councillor Carragher
Councillor Dodd
Councillor Friel
Councillor Gannon
Councillor Halsall
Councillor Keith
Councillor McGinnity
Councillor Morris
Councillor Michael O'Brien
Councillor Anne Thompson
Councillor Lynne Thompson
Councillor Tweed

COMMITTEE OFFICER: Ruth Appleby
Democratic Services Officer

Telephone: 0151 934 20181
E-mail: ruth.appleby@sefton.gov.uk

If you have any special needs that may require arrangements to 
facilitate your attendance at this remote meeting, please contact the 
Committee Officer named above, who will endeavour to assist.

Public Document Pack

mailto:ruth.appleby@sefton.gov.uk


2

This page is intentionally left blank.



3

A G E N D A

1.  Apologies for Absence

2.  Declarations of Interest
Members are requested at a meeting where a disclosable 
pecuniary interest or personal interest arises, which is not 
already included in their Register of Members' Interests, to 
declare any interests that relate to an item on the agenda.

Where a Member discloses a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest, 
he/she must withdraw from the meeting by switching their 
camera and microphone off during the whole consideration of 
any item of business in which he/she has an interest, except 
where he/she is permitted to remain as a result of a grant of 
a dispensation.

Where a Member discloses a personal interest he/she must 
seek advice from the Monitoring Officer or staff member 
representing the Monitoring Officer by 12 Noon the day 
before the meeting to determine whether the Member should 
withdraw from the meeting room, during the whole 
consideration of any item of business in which he/she has an 
interest or whether the Member can remain in the meeting or 
remain in the meeting and vote on the relevant decision.

3.  Minutes of the Meeting held on 23 March 2020 (Pages 5 - 8)

4.  A59 Northway - Receipt of Petition (Pages 9 - 16)
Report of the Head of Highways and Public Protection

5.  Public Path Dedication – Meadway, Maghull (Pages 17 - 
26)

Report of the Head of Highways and Public Protection

6.  Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, Section 53, 
Application to modify the Definitive Map and Statement 
to include various public rights of way on and around St 
Luke’s Church Road, Formby.

(Pages 27 - 
70)

Report of the Head of Highways and Public Protection

7.  Proposed Zebra Crossing  - Park Lane West, Netherton, 
Bootle

(Pages 71 - 
80)

Report of the Head of Highways and Public Protection

8.  Statutory Taxi & Private Hire Vehicle Standards (Pages 81 - 



4

126)
Report of the Head of Highways and Public Protection

9.  Taxi Licensing Performance Report 2019/20 (Pages 127 - 
134)

Report of the Head of Highways and Public Protection

10.  Local Licensing: Performance Report 2019/20 (Pages 135 - 
140)

Report of the Head of Highways and Public Protection

11.  Determinations made under the Licensing Act 2003 and 
the Gambling Act 2005: period covering 29 February 
2020 to 7 August 2020

(Pages 141 - 
150)

Report of the Head of Highways and Public Protection



THIS SET OF MINUTES IS NOT SUBJECT TO “CALL-IN”

20

LICENSING AND REGULATORY COMMITTEE

MEETING HELD AT THE TOWN HALL, SOUTHPORT
ON  23 MARCH 2020

PRESENT: Councillor John Kelly (in the Chair)
Councillors Dodd, Halsall, McGinnity and Tweed

34. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Bradshaw, 
Carragher, Friel, Keith, Morris, Michael O’Brien, Brenda O’Brien, Anne 
Thompson and Lynne Thompson.

35. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

No declarations of any disclosable pecuniary interests or personal 
interests were received.

36. MINUTES 

RESOLVED:

That the Minutes of the meeting held on 6 January 2020 be confirmed as a 
correct record.

37. APPROVED PREMISES FOR MARRIAGES AND CIVIL 
PARTNERSHIPS 

The Committee considered the report of the Chief Legal and Democratic 
Officer that sought approval to extend the room area of the Marine Suite at 
the Bliss Hotel, Southport to include the area of the dome window and to 
change the name of the Marine Suite to ROOM.

RESOLVED: That

(1) approval be given for the Marine Suite name to be changed to 
ROOM and the area extended to include the dome window area, to 
the current licence for the Bliss Hotel, Southport; and

(2) it be noted that the current licence will expire on 30 April 2023, at 
which time it will need to be renewed.

38. PROPOSED CHANGES TO SOUTHPORT TOWN CENTRE 
HACKNEY RANKS 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



LICENSING AND REGULATORY COMMITTEE- MONDAY 23RD 
MARCH, 2020

21

Further to Minute No. 14 of the meeting held on 17 June 2019, the 
Committee considered the report of the Head of Highways and Public 
Protection which updated Members on the request from the North Sefton 
Hackney Carriage Association (NSHCA) for changes to a number of 
Hackney Ranks within Southport Town Centre, namely, the ‘Troc Rank’ – 
Lord Street, Southport (the rank on the service road fronting the former 
Woolworths store); the Rank outside June’s the Florist (on the service road 
adjacent to Eastbank Street Square), opposite June’s the Florist; and the 
Main Rank – Lord Street (the feeder rank on the north-west side of Lord 
Street to the north east of Hulme Street).

Mr Dave Marrin, Manager – Highways Management, presented the report 
and answered questions thereon. He reminded Members that 
consideration of the ranks had been deferred on 17 June 2019, to enable 
a more informed decision by Members in the light of the results of the 
Unmet Demand Survey of Taxi Ranks, which subsequently took place in 
January 2020.

The report provided details of the survey results for each of the ranks and 
Officers opinions based on these results were indicated in paragraphs 4.0, 
5.0 and 6.0 of the report.

The report also indicated that in line with the Council’s policy for changes 
to Hackney Carriage and Private Hire facilities consultation had been 
carried out with all Hackney Carriage Associations; all Private Hire 
Associations; Merseyside Police; Merseytravel and the Hackney Carriage 
and Private Hire Trade Licensing Office; but that no comments had been 
received from these bodies in response to this consultation.

RESOLVED: That

(1) the results of the consultation regarding changes to various Hackney 
Ranks in Southport Town Centre be noted;

(2) the Cabinet Member – Locality Services be requested to consider 
authorising progression of the changes to the Traffic Regulation 
Order in relation to the ‘Troc’ rank; and
’

(3) the Head of Highways and Public Protection be requested to carry 
out further consultation with trade representatives regarding the 
suggested revocation of the rank outside June’s the Florist.

39. DETERMINATIONS MADE UNDER THE LICENSING ACT 2003 
AND THE GAMBLING ACT 2005: PERIOD COVERING 7 
DECEMBER 2019 TO 28 FEBRUARY 2020 

The Committee considered the report of the Head of Highways and Public 
Protection updating on applications made under the Licensing Act, 2003 
and the Gambling Act 2005, which had been determined by Licensing 
Officers. 

Page 6

Agenda Item 3



LICENSING AND REGULATORY COMMITTEE- MONDAY 23RD 
MARCH, 2020

22

The report indicated that Sefton Council’s Statement of Licensing Policy 
(issued under the Licensing Act 2003) and the Statement of Gambling 
Policy (issued under the Gambling Act 2005), both followed the 
recommended delegation of functions contained within the Guidance 
issued under Section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 and the Guidance 
issued under Section 25 of the Gambling Act 2005.  Where there are no 
relevant representations to applications, then these matters would be dealt 
with by Officers in order to speed matters through the system. The 
Guidance also recommended that where powers had been delegated, the 
Committee would receive regular reports on decisions made by Officers in 
order to maintain an overview of the general licensing situation.

The report indicated that during the period 7 December 2019 to 28 
February 2020 the Head of Highways and Public Protection had received 
and determined the following numbers of applications: 

Under the Licensing Act 2003:

 69 Applications made under Premise Licences 
 18 Applications made under Personal Licences
 32 Notifications of Temporary Event Notices 
 22 Notifications of Late Temporary Event Notices 

Under the Gambling Act 2005:

 1 application made under Gambling Premise Licences
 4 notifications for Licensed Premises Automatic Gaming

Details of the determinations were indicated in annexes 1 and 2 of the 
report.

RESOLVED: 

That the report and the fact that further update reports would be submitted 
as necessary, be noted. 

Page 7

Agenda Item 3



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to: Licensing and 
Regulatory 
Committee

Date of Meeting: Monday 7 
September 2020

Subject: A59 Northway - receipt of petition

Report of: Head of Highways 
and Public 
Protection

Wards Affected: Park;

Portfolio:

Is this a Key 
Decision:

No Included in 
Forward Plan:

No

Exempt / 
Confidential 
Report:

No 

Summary:

To report the receipt of an on-line petition, requesting the provision of pedestrian 
crossing facilities at the junction of A59 Northway and Kenyons Lane.

Recommendation(s):

(1) That Members note the contents of the petition;

(2) That Members note the proposal to include the upgrade of the junction in future  
programmes;

(3) That the lead petitioner be informed of these recommendations.

Reasons for the Recommendation(s):

To improve road safety at the junction of A59 Northway and Kenyons lane.

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: (including any Risk Implications)

None

What will it cost and how will it be financed?

(A) Revenue Costs

Nil

Page 9

Agenda Item 4



(B) Capital Costs

None at this stage. 

Implications of the Proposals:

Resource Implications (Financial, IT, Staffing and Assets):

None
Legal Implications:

None
Equality Implications:

There are no equality implications. 

Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose:
 

Protect the most vulnerable: Any future alterations to the traffic signal controlled junction 
will include a Pedestrian phase to assist pedestrians crossing each leg of the junction.

Facilitate confident and resilient communities: N/A

Commission, broker and provide core services: N/A

Place – leadership and influencer: N/A

Drivers of change and reform: N/A

Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity: N/A

Greater income for social investment: N/A

Cleaner Greener N/A

What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when?

(A) Internal Consultations

The Executive Director of Corporate Resources and Customer Services (FD6101/20) 
and the Chief Legal and Democratic Officer (LD4293/20) have been consulted and any 
comments have been incorporated into the report.

(B) External Consultations 

None

Page 10

Agenda Item 4



Implementation Date for the Decision

Immediately following the Committee / Council meeting.

Contact Officer: Steve Johnston
Telephone Number: Tel: 0151 934 4258
Email Address: steve.johnston@sefton.gov.uk

Appendices:

There are no appendices to this report

Background Papers:

There are no background papers available for inspection.

Page 11

Agenda Item 4



1.0 Introduction

1.1 An online petition has been received by officers, relating to a request for a 
signalised Pedestrian Crossing on Northway, at its junction with Kenyons Lane.

1.2 The petition generated 300 electronic signatures from all over the UK, including 
Isle of Man, Jersey and Cork. 47 stated that they were residents of Maghull or 
Lydiate, although other ‘Liverpool’ signatories commented that they used the 
crossing whilst visiting friends and relatives.  

1.3 Various comments have been made by some of the signatories on the petition, 
and these are shown as Annex A. Names have been removed under data 
protection regulations.

2.0 Discussion

2.1 Currently, the junction is controlled by traffic signals, with uncontrolled pedestrian 
crossings across Northway, on the northerly side of the junction. This enables 
pedestrians to cross to the central reservation when Northway traffic (southbound) 
have stopped. Crossing the opposite carriageway would be more problematic as 
pedestrians would have to cross in the intergreen period between Kenyons Lane 
traffic being stopped on a red light and before northbound traffic on Northway 
started off.  

2.2 Members should be aware that correspondence has previously been received, 
from residents and via a Ward Member, requesting the installation of a Pedestrian 
phase within the existing traffic signals at this location.

2.3 Requests for new pedestrian crossing facilities are normally dealt with via the 
Council’s Annual Pedestrian Crossing Review. This is a process for prioritising all 
requests, to ensure that the site(s) which have the highest number of pedestrians 
and traffic are treated first. On average, we have sufficient funding to provide one 
new Crossing per year.

2.4 In order for a pedestrian crossing to be justified at any requested location, vehicle 
and pedestrian surveys are undertaken. These surveys are carried out between 
8am and 6pm on a weekday during the school term, which is when both traffic and 
pedestrian flows can be expected to be at their highest level. The results are then 
calculated for each hour using the Department for Transport (DfT) formula PV2, 
where P represents the number of pedestrians crossing the road and V represents 
the number of vehicles travelling along the road. An average of the 4 highest 
hourly figures are taken, which must exceed  0.2 x 108  for the provision of a 
refuge,  0.5 x 108 for a Zebra, or 1.0 x 108  for a Puffin or Pedestrian phase within 
Traffic signals. 

2.5 The junction at Kenyon’s lane was assessed in 2016 and the four highest hours 
(predictably) were 8-9, 9-10, 3-4 and 4-5. During these four hours, an average of 
28 pedestrians crossed Northway, with 1132 vehicles passing on Northway. This 
gave a PV2 value of 0.36 which is insufficient to justify a new Crossing out of the 
Pedestrian Crossing allocation contained within the Capital Programme.

2.5 Whilst the new Crossing cannot be accommodated from the Capital Programme, it 
is fully accepted that difficulties crossing the northbound leg of the junction can be 
exacerbated if drivers turning right from Kenyons Lane, waiting in the middle of 
the junction, are being held up by drivers exiting Kenyons Lane after their signal 
has turned to red. This then reduces the intergreen period available for 
pedestrians to cross this side of Northway. 

Page 12

Agenda Item 4



3.0 Accident Record

3.1 In the latest 3 year period, there have been 3 recorded collisions, involving rear 
end shunts on the approach to the traffic signals. All resulted in slight injuries. 
There have been no recorded injuries to pedestrians in the last 30 years. 

 
4.0 Proposal

4.1 It has been recognised for a number of years that whilst the A59 Northway 
provides a massively important strategic link into Sefton and Merseyside, it also 
creates a huge barrier for all categories of road users travelling between Lydiate 
and Maghull. Both Sefton and the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority 
(LCRCA) are therefore striving to improve linkages between the two communities, 
whilst improving capacity on the A59.

4.2 Several schemes within Maghull have already been completed, having been 
funded from sources other than Sefton’s Capital Programme, the largest of these 
being the creation of two new slip roads onto the M58 at junction 1, allowing 
access to and from Maghull and Switch Island.

4.3 This has linked in with a number of grant applications being made to the Liverpool 
City Region Combined Authority (LCRCA) on the basis of improving access along 
the A59 and into Maghull, especially given the anticipated increase in traffic 
arising from the proposed housing development on land east of Maghull and other 
Local Plan allocations in the area. The first successful grant application related to 
the Northway/Dover Road junction, which was aimed at greatly improving capacity 
and reducing congestion at this key junction to the north of Switch Island. This 
junction was completed early in 2020 and work on the Damfield Lane junction is 
currently being planned.

4.4 In relation to the housing developments, the Planning process requires officers to 
ensure that all traffic and pedestrian movements generated from the development 
will be able to made to Northway in a safe manner and any reasonable changes to 
the highway would be funded by the developers via commuted sums. There is a 
Local Plan allocation housing site on Kenyons Lane and any potential developer 
of that site will be required to fund the creation of a second approach lane on 
Kenyons Lane (west of the A59) and incorporate a pedestrian phase into the 
lights. The new lane is a Local Plan stipulation and the pedestrian phase has 
always been a transport requirement to make the site acceptable in sustainable 
transport terms. However, at present, there is no certainty about when that site 
would be developed.

4.5 Further grant applications will be made this year to the LCRCA to supplement 
contributions from the developer to ease traffic movements at all of the remaining 
junctions on Northway. Kenyons Lane will be included in this process as it 
potentially gives pedestrian and cycling access to the new developments, linking 
in with schools to the west of Northway. 

4.6 As with all grant applications, officers will attempt to extract as much benefit as 
possible for residents, by including solutions to as many existing ‘problems’ as we 
can justify, even though it may not currently meet the criteria for funding from 
Sefton’s own resources.

Page 13

Agenda Item 4



5.0 Summary

5.1 It is fully accepted that crossing this junction without the aid of dedicated push 
button facilities can be difficult and intimidating for pedestrians and officers are 
currently attempting to fund an upgrade of the junction using developer and 
LCRCA funding. 

5.2 This will be vital to cater for additional traffic generated by the new housing 
developments and to reduce congestion and collisions along the A59, which forms 
part of the City Region’s newly designated Key Route Network.

5.3 Members will be appraised of outcomes as matters progress throughout the year.

Page 14

Agenda Item 4



ANNEX  A
Comments from Petitioners

Maghull, England, UK 2020-07-07   "Nightmare of a crossing"

Liverpool, England, UK 2020-07-07 "As a disabled resident I risk my life crossing this 
area to get buses to and from vital appointments. While pregnant and as a mum with a 
young family it is impossible to cross without fear."

Lydiate, England, UK 2020-07-07 "St Thomas School is on Kenyons Lane and many 
pupils have to cross there in order to get to and from school and it is dangerous - an 
accident waiting to happen."

Liverpool, England, UK 2020-07-07 "Totally agree, we need this crossing to be safe"

Maghull, England, UK 2020-07-07 "This is such a dangerous junction. It's not clear 
where you should position your car."

Liverpool, England, UK 2020-07-07 "I feel a crossing is definitely required here not only 
for when children are crossing for school but also other people when they are out. The 
cars speed down here and it’s an awful road."

Lydiate, England, UK 2020-07-07 "I agree either everything listed. To wait for a death is 
terrible, the implications of the family who will lose someone should far outweigh adding 
assisted crossing or something similar."

Liverpool, UK 2020-07-07 "My grandchildren have to cross here. It’s so dangerous."

Liverpool, England, UK 2020-07-07 "My children cannot walk to school as I am too 
worried about them crossing this road alone."

Liverpool, England, UK 2020-07-07 "I live in the area, have children, and it makes no 
sense why there would not be a safe way to cross such a busy toad"

Lydiate, England, UK 2020-07-07 "I cross this road everyday with my daughter to get to 
school. It’s a very dangerous crossing."

Formby, England, UK 2020-07-07 "Clearly a very dangerous and confusing situation"
Liverpool, UK 2020-07-07 "I have crossed this road for nearly 10 years and had so many 
near misses from speeding cars, confusing traffic lights and just so much bad driving at 
this crossing something needs to be done. Lets not wait until someone gets hurt or 
worse."

Liverpool, UK 2020-07-07 "Very dangerous, needs crossing"

Lydiate, England, UK 2020-07-07 "My children cross this road"

Mobberley, England, UK 2020-07-07 "I have very elderly parents that live in maghull any 
extra help crossing roads is most welcome"

Maghull, England, UK 2020-07-07 "This is a very dangerous crossing near my daughters 
primary school."

Page 15

Agenda Item 4



UK 2020-07-08 "It's a dangerous junction."

Liverpool, England, UK 2020-07-08 "Always been a hazardous crossing . Thanks for 
arranging this petition"

Ormskirk, England, UK 2020-07-08 "Dual carriageway. Populated area. Safety for all. 
Surprised no lollipop person but there are schools on both sides of A59."

Lydiate, England, UK 2020-07-08 "Because I walk there and it's dangerous"

Liverpool, England, UK 2020-07-08 "It will make it safer for everyone"

Liverpool, England, UK 2020-07-08 "Only a matter of time before someone is killed."

Runcorn, England, UK 2020-07-08 "I have witnessed a lot of dangerous driving along 
this road on several occasions whilst visiting my sister"

Liverpool, England, UK 2020-07-09 "Can get really busy around school time"

Liverpool, UK 2020-07-10 "There is a clear need for a safe pedestrian crossing."

Maghull, Merseyside, England, UK 2020-07-10 "To make this a safer crossing"

Liverpool, England, UK 2020-07-10 "I regularly use this route & feel it is dangerous for 
pedestrians at both sides."

Maghull, England, UK 2020-07-10 "Lives matter ! It is a dangerous junction/main roads 
to attempt to cross"

Lydiate, England, UK 2020-07-10 "It needs to be made safer for children and their 
families to cross such a busy road?m!"

Southport, England, UK 2020-07-10 "To protect those crossing"

Liverpool, England, UK 2020-07-11 "My daughter crosses over here from the bus an my 
heart is my mouth until I know she’s safely over. I see how people speed there, anyone 
crossing there wouldn’t stand a chance at those speeds"

Liverpool, England, UK 2020-07-12 "Living in L31 ,I use thus junction all the time ,albeit 
as a motorist, but realise how dangerous it is for pedestrians, when the new M58 junction 
eventually opens it will be even busier"

Lydiate England, UK 2020-07-13 "I believe that crossing here is not safe"

Liverpool, England, UK 2020-07-14 "Anybody crossing this road is at serious risk to 
being run over, cars are always speeding through this area and you have to cross the 
road safely. Please put in a crossing, please reduce the speed limit from 60 to 40. I live 
on the corner of Dodds and Northway which is 40 and the majority of cars passing 
through from maghull to ormskirk slapped through as if they were already in a 60 zone."

Lydiate, England, UK 2020-07-17 "I live in Lydiate, my daughter has had a serious 
accident at this junction and there will be plenty more, it's an absolute death trap!"

Page 16

Agenda Item 4



1

Report to: Licensing and 
Regulatory 
Committee

Date of Meeting: Monday 7
September 2020

Licensing and 
Regulatory 
Committee

Date of Meeting: Monday 7 
September 2020

Subject: Public Path Dedication – Meadway, Maghull Public Path Dedication – Meadway, Maghull

Report of: Head of Highways 
and Public 
Protection 

Wards Affected: Park Head of Highways 
and Public 
Protection

Wards Affected: Park;

Portfolio:

Is this a Key 
Decision:

N Included in 
Forward Plan:

Yes / No
Please delete as 
appropriate and 
remove this text.

N Included in 
Forward Plan:

Yes / No
Please delete as 
appropriate and 
remove this text.

Exempt / 
Confidential 
Report:

N N, the report is NOT FOR PUBLICATION by virtue of 
Paragraph…. of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local 
Government Act 1972.  The Public Interest Test has been 
applied and favours the information being treated as exempt
Please delete as appropriate and remove this text.

Summary:

i. To seek Members’ authority to dedicate a section of Meadway as a Public 
Bridleway.  

ii. To modify the Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way 
accordingly.

Recommendation(s):

The Chief Legal and Democratic Officer be authorised in conjunction with the Head 
of Highways and Public Protection to:- 

i. Dedicate a section of Meadway Lane as public bridleway pursuant to Section 
1 of the Localism Act 2011 as shown on plan DC2093, to be known as 
Maghull Bridleway No.34.

ii. Make the Legal Event Modification Orders under the provisions of Section 53 
of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 to record the additional way as 
shown on plan DC2094 on the Definitive Rights of Way Map and Statement.

Reasons for the Recommendation(s):

Consideration of rights of way issues fall under the remit of the Licensing and 
Regulatory Committee.

To recognise the route as a public rights of way and protect the rights of the public to 
the use and enjoyment of the path. 

Page 17

Agenda Item 5



2

To act in accordance with the Trans Pennine Trail Agreement with Barnsley MBC 
and the trail partnership.

Sefton Council fulfils the role of Surveying Authority and as a consequence has a 
duty to continually review the Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way 
and should it become aware of the need to add, alter or remove a Right of Way, 
make the required Modification Order.

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: (including any Risk Implications)

Do nothing and leave the path as part of the Trans Pennine Trail, with no recorded 
public rights. Therefore, risking the long term public protection of the publics rights.
 
It has been shown that the path is used and is a valued public amenity and amongst 
other things, provides a means of access to the adjacent Jubilee Wood, Public 
Rights of Ways and Trans Pennine Trail. Dedicating and recording it as a public right 
of way will protect its availability for the public.

What will it cost and how will it be financed?

(A) Revenue Costs

Meadway is already included within the Authority’s maintenance responsibilities as 
landowner and as it is part of the Trans Pennine Trail therefore, the proposals will 
not impose any additional liabilities upon the Council.

(B) Capital Costs

Nil.

Implications of the Proposals:

Resource Implications (Financial, IT, Staffing and Assets):

None
Legal Implications:

See body of the report
Equality Implications:

There are no equality implications.

Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose:

Protect the most vulnerable: Not applicable

Facilitate confident and resilient communities: Not applicable

Page 18

Agenda Item 5



3

Commission, broker and provide core services: Not applicable

Place – leadership and influencer: Not applicable

Drivers of change and reform: Not applicable

Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity: An improved Rights of Way network will 
help provide sustainable transportation and encourage sustainable travel options.  

Greater income for social investment: Not applicable.

Cleaner Greener: An improved Rights of Way network will provide better access for 
all to Sefton’s visitor attractions and promote healthier and more sustainable modes 
of transport.

What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when?

(A) Internal Consultations

The Executive Director of Corporate Resources and Customer Services (FD 
6024/20) and the Chief Legal and Democratic Officer (LD4286/20) have been 
consulted and any comments have been incorporated into the report.

(B) External Consultations 

None

Implementation Date for the Decision

Immediately following the Committee / Council meeting.

(Please delete as appropriate and remove this text)

Contact Officer: Brian Goodwin
Telephone Number:
Email Address: brian.goodwin@sefton.gov.uk

Appendices:

The following appendices are attached to this report: 

Appendix 1 – Maps and Plans

Background Papers:

Cabinet Member - Technical Services – 10th October 2007 - Trans Pennine Trail 
Memorandum of Understanding

Page 19

Agenda Item 5



4

1.0 Background

1.1 The Trans Pennine Trail concept involved the development of a robust multi-
user recreational route for walkers and cyclists with as much as possible of 
the route available for people in wheelchairs and for the enjoyment of 
horseriders.  Creation of a mainly off road route, segregated from heavy traffic 
was central to the concept.

1.2 The Trans Pennine Trail passes through Sefton for some 18km (11 miles).  
The trail is of particular local, as well as national, importance and its route has 
been safeguarded within the Council’s Local Plan as one of a number of key 
strategic paths.

1.3 Sefton M.B.C were required to enter into an Agreement for a trail partnership 
with the lead authority Barnsley MBC, the Millennium Commission and other 
trail partners containing a number of undertakings in relation to the individual 
project legs.

1.4 In particular the Council agreed to use its reasonable endeavours to dedicate 
any Project Asset owned by it as a right of way and to supply any documents 
required by the Commission confirming this.  Where the land is not a public 
right of way or owned by the Council, the Council shall procure the execution 
of a path agreement.

1.5 A section of the Trans Pennine Trail that runs along land to the rear of 
Maghull High School and is accessed from Meadway is now owned by Sefton 
Council but is not currently a public right of way. In line with the Authorities 
agreement with Barnsley MBC, it is expected that Sefton should dedicate this 
section of the trail as a Bridleway.

1.6 To enable a Public Right of Way to be secured over the land it is possible to 
enter into a Creation Agreement or make a Public Path Creation Order. It is 
possible to create a footpath, bridleway or restricted byway with either of 
these options. In this area of the Trans Pennine Trail it is necessary to create 
a bridleway. 

1.7 The Highways Act 1980, Section 25, gives Local Authorities the power to 
enter into a creation agreement with any person having the capacity to 
dedicate the land as a public right of way. However, where the land owner 
and the Local Authority are the same it is not possible to enter into such 
agreement because a corporate body is not able to form a such a legal 
agreement with itself.

1.8 The Localism Act 2011 by virtue of Section 1 – Local Authority’s general 
power of competence, introduced the power for a Local Authority to do 
anything that individuals generally may do. Therefore, it gave the Local 
Authority the power, as any individual landowner would have, to dedicate a 
path as public, without having to enter into a Highways Act 1980, Section 25 
agreement.

Page 20

Agenda Item 5



5

2.0 Information
 
2.1 The parcel of land in question is shown on plan number DC2092 below, with 

the route shown as a dashed line on plan number DC2093. Consultation with 
Sefton’s Asset Property Manager has confirmed that Meadway is within the 
ownership of Sefton Council, land registry title number MS564467.

2.2 There is no legal requirement to consult anyone as part of Section 1 of the 
Localism Act 2011 but there is an expectation that notice of the dedication is 
given. This is achieved through erecting site notices and a notice in the local 
press.

2.3 The path exists as a tarmacked route linking Meadway to Maghull Footpath 
No.21 and Sefton Bridleway No. N5. No works are required to the path other 
than the installation of two small rights of way signs, one at each end.

2.4 Following completion of the dedication, an order to update the Definitive Map 
and Statement (DM) for Public Rights of Way will be required. These are 
known as a Legal Event Modification Orders (LEMO’s). 

2.5 The proposed LEMO for bridleway leading from Meadway will alter the DM 
Map as shown on Plan No.DC2094 (attached) and alter the DM statement to 
include the following description:  

 Maghull Bridleway No. 34

 Commencing at its junction with Meadway, point A, O.S Grid 
Reference SD 336695,401398, the way is a tarmac path with a 
width of 2.1 metres running in a south-westerly direction for a 
distance of 2 metres to a metal access control at point B, O.S Grid 
Reference SD 336693,401369, it then continues in a south-westerly 
direction with a tarmac surface path 3.5 metres wide for 2 metres to 
point C, O.S Grid Reference SD 336692,401394, continuing in a 
south westerly direction for 7.6 metres as a tarmac path with a 
width of 2.2 metres to point D, O.S Grid Reference SD 
3356691,401387 where it then heads in a south south-easterly 
direction as a 1.8 metre wide tarmac path for a distance of 202.5 
metres until the bridge across Dover’s Brook, at point E, O.S Grid 
Reference SD 336798,401218, the path crosses the bridge, with a 
width on 1.5 metres in a south south-easterly direction for 10.5 
metres to point F, O.S Grid Reference SD 336803,401209. The 
path then continues in a south south-easterly direction for 71.5 
metres as a 1.8 metre wide tarmac path to its junction with Sefton 
Bridleway No. N5 at point G, O.S Grid Reference SD 
336834,401145.

 The length of the way is 296 metres.

3.0 Conclusion
 

Page 21

Agenda Item 5



6

3.1 In order to comply with the terms of the agreement the Authority has with 
Barnsley MBC and trail partners and to protect the rights of the public and 
their enjoyment of the rights of way network, it is considered expedient to 
dedicate the path to the south east of Meadway as a bridleway.

3.2 Following the dedication, the requisite Legal Event Modification Order should 
be made to add the route to the Definitive Map and Statement for Public 
Rights of Way. 

Page 22

Agenda Item 5



Page 23

Agenda Item 5



Page 24

Agenda Item 5



Page 25

Agenda Item 5



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to: Licensing and 
Regulatory 
Committee

Date of Meeting: Monday 7 
September 2020

Subject: Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, section 53, application to 
modify the Definitive Map and Statement to include various 
public rights of way on and around St Luke’s Church Road, 
Formby. 

Report of: Head of Highways 
and Public 
Protection 

Wards Affected: Harington

Portfolio:

Is this a Key 
Decision:

N Included in 
Forward Plan:

Yes / No

Exempt / 
Confidential 
Report:

N

Summary:

To determine an application for a Definitive Map Modification Order, under Section 53(5) 
of The Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 relating to several routes in Formby and seek 
authority to make Modification Orders, if the evidence shows that public rights of way 
exist or that the Definitive Map and Statement needs modifying.  

Recommendation(s):

It is requested that the Committee 

(i) re-affirms the resolutions of the Highways Committee dated 6th March 1995 
and the Transportation (General Purposes) Sub-Committee dated 12th 
February 1996 and authorises the making of Modification Orders by the Chief 
Legal and Democratic Officer to make Orders to add the following ways to the 
definitive rights of way map and statement for the area:

1. Albert Road, A-B on TSU/DC/ROW/0160/50 – Byway open to all traffic,
2. Alexandra Road, A-B on TSU/DC/ROW/0160/51 – Byway open to all 
traffic,
3. St. Luke’s Church Road, Bushby's Lane to Alexandra Road, A-B on 
TSU/DC/ROW/0160/52 – Byway open to all traffic,
4. St. Luke’s Church Road, Alexandra Road to Range Lane, A-B on 
TSU/DC/ROW/0160/53 – Byway open to all traffic,
5. St. Luke’s Church Road, Range Lane to Altcar Footpath 5, A-B on 
TSU/DC/ROW/0160/54 – Public Footpath,
6. Cambridge Road, A-B on TSU/DC/ROW/0160/55 – Byway open to all 
traffic,
7. Range Lane, A-B on TSU/DC/ROW/0160/56 – Byway open to all traffic,
8. Two tracks connecting Albert Road to Alexandra Road, A-B on 

Page 27

Agenda Item 6



TSU/DC/ROW/0160/57 and TSU/DC/ROW/0160/58 – Public Footpaths,
9. Extension of Albert Road to Shore, A-B on TSU/DC/ROW/0160/59 – 
Public Footpath,
10. Track extending seaward from Range Lane, A-B on 
TSU/DC/ROW/160/43 – Public Footpath;

and either confirm them as unopposed or, in the event of objections being 
received and not withdrawn after statutory notice of the Order is given, to 
report back to the Committee for review prior to referring any to the Secretary 
of State for the Environment, Food and Rural Affairs for determination;

(ii) considers the evidence and the law to determine the status of the claimed 
public rights of way at Beechwood Drive, as shown in drawing DC2054, 
that was not part of the previous Formby Civic Society applications and 
authorise the Chief Legal and Democratic Officer to either:

1. make a Definitive Map Modification Order under Section 53(2) and 53(3) 
(b) and (c)(i) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act, 1981, to modify the 
Definitive Map and Statement by adding/upgrading/amending the route that 
is considered to be a public right of way and either confirm as unopposed 
or, in the event of objections being received and not withdrawn after 
statutory notice of the Order is given, report back to the Committee for 
review prior to referring it to the Secretary of State for the Environment, 
Food and Rural Affairs for determination,;

Or 

2. refuse authorisation for a Modification Order to be made on the grounds 
that the existence of a public right of way cannot be reasonably alleged. 

And

(iii) authorises the Chief Legal and Democratic Officer to give notice of the 
Authority’s decisions on the application to the applicant and the landowners 
as required.

Reasons for the Recommendation(s):

The Council, as Surveying Authority, is under a statutory duty, imposed by Section 53(2) 
of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, to keep the Definitive Map and Statement of 
Public Rights of Way under continuous review. Under the provisions of Schedule 14 of 
the Act applications can be made to the Surveying Authority for a Modification Order to 
amend the Definitive Map and Statement of Rights of Way by way of adding, deleting, 
upgrading or downgrading a route.

The Licensing and Regulatory Committee has delegated powers to approve the making 
of Orders, under the Highways Act 1980 and the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, that 
affect the Public Right of Way network

Page 28

Agenda Item 6



Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: (including any Risk Implications)

Sefton Council has a duty to consider and determine the application and to abide by the 
instruction from the Planning Inspectorate.

What will it cost and how will it be financed?

(A) Revenue Costs

Financial implications are not a consideration when determining this application as the 
Authority has a statutory duty to make an Order if it believes that there is sufficient 
evidence to support it. 

Should objections to the Order be received and not withdrawn, the Authority will have to 
refer the Order to the Secretary of State. The Secretary of State has a choice of how to 
preside over the matter, they are; by written representations, an informal hearing or by 
way of a public inquiry. The costs associated with facilitating any of these will be met 
from the existing Public Rights of Way Revenue Budget and staff revenue budgets

(B) Capital Costs

Nil.

Implications of the Proposals:

Resource Implications (Financial, IT, Staffing and Assets):

None
Legal Implications:

See body of the report
Equality Implications:

There are no equality implications.

Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose:

Protect the most vulnerable: Not applicable

Facilitate confident and resilient communities: Not applicable

Commission, broker and provide core services: Not applicable

Place – leadership and influencer: Not applicable

Drivers of change and reform: Not applicable

Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity: An improved Rights of Way network will help 

Page 29

Agenda Item 6



provide sustainable transportation and encourage sustainable travel options.  

Greater income for social investment: Not applicable.

Cleaner Greener: An improved Rights of Way network will provide better access for all 
to Sefton’s visitor attractions and promote healthier and more sustainable modes of 
transport.

What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when?

(A) Internal Consultations

The Executive Director of Corporate Resources and Customer Services (FD 6092/20) 
and Chief Legal and Democratic Officer (LD 4274/20) have been consulted and any 
comments have been incorporated into the report.

(B) External Consultations 

In line with the application process the applicant has made attempts to identify and 
contact the landowner. They were unable to establish landownership so it was agreed 
that site notices could be erected. No response was forth coming.

Notification letters to members of a trust believed to have an historic interest in the land 
were distributed by the Authority but again there has been no response.

Implementation Date for the Decision

Immediately following the Committee meeting.

Contact Officer: Brian Goodwin
Telephone Number:
Email Address: brian.goodwin@sefton.gov.uk

Appendices:

The following appendices are attached to this report: 

Appendix 1 - Evidence relating to beechwood drive to St Luke’s Church Road

Appendix 2 – Maps and Plans

Background Papers:

Counsel Advice Note - On the making of Definitive Map Modification Orders for rights of 
way in Formby, 26 March 2020.

Planning Inspectorate Direction Decision Ref FPS/M4320/14D/1 – 14th October 2019.

Licensing and Regulatory Committee - 18 June 2018 - St. Luke’s Church Road, Formby 
Public Path Creation Agreements.

Page 30

Agenda Item 6



Certificate of service of notice of application for a Modification Order under Section 53(2) 
of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 by Formby Parish Council on 13th February 
2018.

49 public rights of way witness evidence forms submitted with the claim.

Formby Area Committee – 23rd September 2004 Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, 
Section 53, Application for Modification Order to Definitive Map and Statement in respect 
of St. Luke’s Church Road and Associated Ways.

Transportation (General Purposes) Sub-Committee – 12 February 1996 - Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981 s53 Application for the Alleged Public Footpaths West of St Luke’s 
Church Road, Formby to be recorded on the Definitive Rights of Way Map and 
Statement. 

Highways Committee report - 6th March 1995 - Public rights of way claim made by The 
Formby Society On 5th December 1991 - Result of consultation.

Highways Committee report - 5th September 1994 - Public rights of way claims made by 
the Formby Society on 5th December 1991.

Page 31

Agenda Item 6



1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 An application was made to the Council dated 7 August 2017 by the Formby 
Parish Council to modify the Definitive Map and Statement by adding the alleged 
public rights of way at St Luke’s Church Road, Alexandra Road, Albert Road, 
Range Lane, Cambridge Road, 2 tracks connecting Albert Road to Alexandra 
Road and a route connecting Beechwood Park and St Luke’s Church Road. The 
routes are shown on drawing No. DC2088 below.

1.2 The applicant, in February 2018, certified that the requirements of Paragraph 2 of 
Schedule 14 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 have been complied with 
i.e. serving Notice of the Application on every known owner and occupier of the 
land and in April 2018 served Notice of the making of the application on any 
unknown landowners by affixing a Notice to a conspicuous object on the land for 
the requisite period of 42 days. 

1.3 The application was supported by 49 Public Rights of Way Evidence Forms for the 
various routes that allege use of the ways for varying periods of time between 
1932 and 2017. 

1.4 The application was prompted following a series of works to the surfacing of St 
Luke’s Church Road, the planting of shrubs along and the erection of signs in the 
area by one of the local landowners.

1.5 The purpose of this report is to consider whether the lanes and tracks claimed by 
the Parish Council are public rights of way and whether they should therefore be 
added to the Definitive Rights of Way Map and Statement for the area.  

2. LEGAL ISSUES

2.1 The Licensing and Regulatory Committee has authority to make decisions relating 
to the determination of Definitive Map Modification Order Application under 
Section 53 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 as set out in the Council 
Constitution under Chapter 7, Section A3.

2.2 The Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 places a statutory duty on the Council as the 
Surveying Authority to investigate the matters stated in an application made under 
Section 53(5) of the Act and to decide whether or not to make any Orders to which 
the application relates. Under Section 53(2)(b) of the Act, Surveying Authorities 
are required to keep the Definitive Map and Statement under continuous review 
and to make such modifications to the map and statement as appear to them to 
be requisite.

2.3 Section 53(3)(b) of the Act, requires the Definitive Map and Statement to be 
modified by an Order on the expiration of any period such that the enjoyment by 
the public of a way during that period raises a presumption that the way had been 
dedicated as a public path or restricted byway. Section 53(3)(c)(i) of the Act, 
requires the Definitive Map and Statement to be modified by an Order if evidence 
is discovered which, when considered with all other relevant available evidence, 
subsists or is reasonably alleged to subsist over land in the area to which the map 
relates. Section 53(3)(c)(ii) of the Act, requires the Definitive Map and Statement 

Page 32

Agenda Item 6



to be modified by an Order if a highway shown in the map and statement as a 
highway of a particular description ought to be shown as a highway of a different 
description. Section 53(3)(c)(iii) of the Act, requires the Definitive Map and 
Statement to be modified by an Order if there is no public right of way over land 
shown on the map and statement as a highway of any description, or any other 
particulars contained in the map and statement require modification.

2.4 Should any Orders be authorised, the Authority will make and advertise the 
Orders and either confirm them as unopposed or, in the event of objections being 
received and not withdrawn after statutory notice of the Orders is given, refer them 
to the Secretary of State for the Department of the Environment, Food and Rural 
Affairs for determination.

2.5 Section 31(1) of the Highways Act 1980 provides that a presumption of dedication 
is raised where a way has been enjoyed by the public as of right (without force, 
secrecy or permission), without interruption for a full period of twenty years. The 
twenty-year period ends with an act that brings into question the public’s right to 
use the way, and is calculated retrospectively from that time (Section 31(2) of the 
1980 Act).

2.6 The presumption is rebuttable by proof that the landowner has erected and 
maintained notices visible to path users inconsistent with dedication (Section 
31(3) of the Act) or that he has given notice to the highway authority, where a 
notice erected is subsequently torn down or defaced, denying any intention to 
dedicate (Section 31(5)) or made statutory declarations to the Highway Authority 
denying the dedication of a new rights of way over the land shown in map and 
statement deposited with the authority (Section 31(6)).

2.7 In order to have brought the public’s right to have used the alleged way in 
question, the landowner could have taken various measures during the claimed 
period of use. These measures include:

 Locking a gate across the path.
 Putting up a notice denying the existence of a public right of way.
 Physically preventing a walker from using the way.
 Indicating that the path was for use by permission only.
 Giving an instruction to an employee or tenant to prevent people walking 

the path.
 Giving notice to the Highway Authority denying any intention to dedicate a 

public right of way over the land.
 Seeking a court declaration that the way was not public or bringing an 

action for trespass.

2.8 The burden of proof therefore rests with the landowner to show that there is 
sufficient evidence to show that there is no intention to dedicate a public right of 
way over the claimed path during the claimed period of use.

2.9 The decision to make a Modification Order when a path is not shown on the 
Definitive Map and Statement should be based on whether it can be shown to 
subsist or reasonably alleged to subsist and the decision to confirm it on the 
balance of probability (not beyond all reasonable doubt, as is the case in criminal 

Page 33

Agenda Item 6



law) in the light of all relevant available evidence. Consequently, if it is considered 
that a right of way can be shown to subsist or can be reasonably alleged to 
subsist, then a Modification Order should be authorised. 

2.10 The question of suitability or desirability, safety or maintenance is not a relevant 
factor. 

2.11 Public Rights of Way cannot be extinguished by disuse. Once a right of way has 
come into existence, it continues indefinitely and can only be brought to an end by 
the use of statutory powers, thus the maxim “Once a highway, always a highway”. 
This is irrespective of any changes that have occurred on the ground in the 
meantime.

2.12 Section 32 of the Highways Act 1980 states that when determining whether a way 
has or has not been dedicated as a highway, any map, plan or history of the 
locality or other relevant document, tendered as evidence shall be taken into 
consideration.

2.13 Under the provisions contained within Section 130 of the Highways Act 1980 the 
Council has a statutory duty to protect and assert the right of the public to the use 
and enjoyment of any highway and as far as possible to prevent the unauthorised 
stopping up or obstruction of highways.

2.14 Under Common Law there is no specific period of use which must have passed 
before an inference of dedication may be shown. However, a landowner must be 
shown to have intended to dedicate a right of way over the land. Public use can 
be used as evidence to show an intention to dedicate but it must be sufficient to 
have come to the attention of the landowners. If other evidence exists that showed 
that public rights were not intended, public use will not raise an inference of 
dedication.

2.15 If the application is accepted and any Orders made, there is a statutory 
requirement for a 42 day consultation period. If no objections to the Orders are 
received, the Council will confirm the Orders as unopposed, adding the routes to 
the Definitive Map and Statement. If objections are received, and following further 
consultation are not withdrawn, the Orders and objections are submitted to the 
Secretary of State for determination. The Secretary of State has the discretion to 
require a Public Inquiry to resolve the matter.  

2.16 Should the application be refused the applicant has the right to appeal. Such an 
appeal must be made to the Secretary of State with a notice served upon the 
Council.

2.17 If on considering the appeal the Secretary of State considers that the application 
be accepted and any Orders made, they shall instruct the Authority accordingly 
and give such directions as appear to him necessary, such as time limits within 
which they should comply with the instruction.    

2.18 Duly made applications to have alleged Rights of Way included on the Definitive 
Map and Statement have to be considered by the Surveying Authority. The 
Authority is duty bound and is ordinarily required to consider the application within 
12 months of it being made. 

Page 34

Agenda Item 6



3. BACKGROUND

3.1 In 2013 signs along St Luke’s Church Road were erected by a landowner, as well 
as a timber field gate at the junction of St Luke’s Church Road and Bushbys Lane. 
The signs stated that it was a private road with no parking or access at any time 
and indicated that any cars found contravening this would be removed. Then later 
in 2016/7 further works to develop St Luke’s Church Road commenced. 

3.2 These works consisted of installing kerb lines, a surfaced carriageway and verges 
on both sides with significant tree planting. Also, a more substantial gateway 
feature at the junction of St Luke’s Church Road and Bushbys Lane was proposed 
and was under construction whilst this report was being written.

3.3 Formby Parish Council approached Sefton Council querying the legality of these 
works and the implications they would have on public access. The Parish Council 
were advised of the application process to have alleged routes recorded on the 
Definitive Map.

3.4 Formby Parish Council submitted an application in late 2017 which included eight 
routes, as shown on drawing No. DC2088 in Appendix 2.

3.5 In 1991 the Formby Civic Society submitted an almost identical application that 
was investigated by the Council’s Rights of Way officer at the time and considered 
in 1994/5 by the Highways Committee in September 1994 and March 1995.

3.6 The Committee resolved that the routes included in the application by the Civic 
Society were Public Rights of Way and that an Order should be made to that 
affect. Although the Committee made this resolution the Order/s were not made. 

3.7 Further details regarding the application by the Civic Society are provided later in 
this report in paragraphs 4.2 – 4.3, including the reasons why the Order/s were 
not made.

3.8 Formby Parish Council has indicated that they submitted their application, the 
2017 Application, for primarily the same routes as the Civic Society’s 1991 
application, as in their opinion they believed that the public rights existed, were 
concerned over the improvement works affecting those rights and that there was 
lack of progress and no satisfactory conclusion of the 1991 application. 

4. MAIN ISSUES

4.1 History of the application

4.1.1 The current Parish Council application was supported by a total of 49 Public 
Rights of Way Evidence Forms for the routes that allege use of the ways for 
varying periods of time between 1932 and 2017 and various documentary 
evidence. 

Page 35

Agenda Item 6



4.1.2 The documentary evidence included excerpts from Formby Urban District 
Council Year Books, historical Ordnance Survey maps, correspondence from 
previous landowners (acknowledging that some routes are public rights of 
way) and copies of previous Committee resolutions from Sefton Council. 

4.1.3 The application by the Parish Council was not formally accepted as duly made 
by the Authority as the Parish Council had not fully completed the statutory 
requirements for such applications.

4.1.4 Whilst the Parish made efforts to complete the statutory requirements, the 
Authority received correspondence from residents and landowners on St 
Luke’s Church Road, Albert Road, Alexandra Road and from the wider public 
both in support and opposition to the public use of these routes. There was 
general support for some level of public use but the opposition was largely in 
relation to vehicles.

4.1.5 As a consequence of this common consensus, it was considered prudent to 
consider the possibility of landowner dedication agreements (pursuant to 
section 25 of the Highways Act 1980), to dedicate the routes as public rights of 
way, as an option that would provide more certainty than the application 
process.

4.1.6 The Licensing and Regulatory Committee dated 18 June 2018 considered a 
report from the Head of Locality Services – Commissioned regarding these 
proposed dedication agreements. The Committee resolved to authorise the 
Head of Regulation and Compliance, in conjunction with the Head of Locality 
Services – Commissioned, to commence negotiations with the landowners. It 
also, authorised making the dedication agreements if the landowners accepted 
this.

4.1.7 The dedication option was put to both the Parish Council, as the applicant and 
the landowners and in April 2018 the Parish agreed to this in principle but on 
the basis that it did not prejudice their application.

4.1.8 In order to fully explore the dedication agreement option as an alternative to 
the Parish’s application, consideration of the application could not yet progress 
formally and as such it was not validated. If it were to be validated the option of 
agreements could not be in place of the application but only as well as. 
Although the application was not formally validated it remained live and that 
meant it would be duly considered should the agreement option prove 
unsuccessful. 

4.1.9 Negotiations commenced with the landowners and progressed at varying rates 
with the different landowners.

4.1.10 Due to staffing issues within both the Highways Development and Design 
Team and the Legal Department progress stalled in October 2018, which 
added to the frustrations of the Parish Council.

4.1.11 Although one of dedication agreements, for the first section of St Luke’s 
Church Road was signed and sealed in January 2019 and a second that 
related to Albert Road, Alexandra Road and the two interlinking paths was 

Page 36

Agenda Item 6



agreed in draft. The Parish Council was not wholly satisfied with the 
agreements and application progress and decided to refer the matter to the 
Secretary of State. The referral related solely to the progress of the application

4.1.12 A Surveying Authority has the responsibility to determine an application under 
Section 53 of The Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 within 12 months of it 
being duly made. If the Authority fails to do so, the applicant can refer it to the 
Secretary of State and request that they make a direction to the Authority. It 
was through this that the Parish Council referred the matter to the Secretary of 
State. 

4.1.13 The Secretary of State (Michael Gove) appointed the Planning Inspector (PI) 
to consider the referral on his behalf and in May 2019 the PI commenced their 
consideration of the referral. This process was managed through written 
correspondence between the PI, Sefton Council and Formby Parish Council. 
The process took several months, with the decision being published in October 
2019.

4.1.14 The PI’s decision and direction was an instruction to Sefton Council to 
determine the Parish Council’s application within 12 months of this decision 
and as a result of this, full consideration of the application took priority over the 
agreement process.

4.2 Highways Committee resolutions

4.2.1 The Committee resolutions referred to in paragraph 3.5 above are pertinent to 
the current application as they related to the applications made by the Formby 
Civic Society, which were for the majority of the same routes included in the 
Parish Council’s application.

4.2.2 The Highways Committee of the 5th September 1994 considered a report from 
the Director of Technical Services regarding a number of applications 
submitted by the Civic Society that included all but one of the routes that is 
now included in the Parish Council’s application. In doing so, they considered 
all the evidence that was discovered and available to them at that time and 
concluded that the routes were Public Rights of Way. 

4.2.3 The Committee resolved that they are Public Rights of Way and that prior to 
making the relevant Orders a public consultation, in line with the Government's 
Rights of Way Review Committee's guidelines, should be undertaken. It was 
also resolved that the outcome of the consultation should be reported back to 
the same Committee following its completion.

4.2.4 The applications submitted by the Civic Society are shown on plan no. 
TSU/DC/ROW/160/37 in Appendix 2. They were claiming:

 Range Lane as a Byway Open to Any Traffic
 Albert Road and Alexandra Road as Byways Open to Any Traffic
 St Luke’s Church Road, south of Lifeboat Road as a Public Footpath
 Cambridge Road (across Cambridge fields) as a Public Footpath
 Two paths linking Albert Road and Alexandra Road as Public Footpaths.

Page 37

Agenda Item 6



4.2.5 Although the conclusion of the Highways Committee was that the routes are 
Public Rights of Way and that the resolution was for the appropriate Orders to 
be made, it was considered that the evidence showed the status of the some 
of the routes should be different to that applied for by the Civic Society. The 
resolution stated that based on the evidence available the status of the routes 
should be: 

 Range Lane as a Byway Open to Any Traffic
 Alexandra Road as a Byway Open to Any Traffic
 Albert Road, from its junction with Alexandra Road to Seabank House as a 

Byway Open to Any Traffic
 Albert Road, west of Seabank House as a Public Footpath
 St Luke’s Church Road, from Busbys Lane to Range Lane as a Byway 

Open to Any Traffic 
 St Luke’s Church Road, south of Range Lane as a Public Footpath
 Cambridge Road (across Cambridge fields) as a Byway Open to Any 

Traffic
 Two paths linking Albert Road and Alexandra Road as Public Footpaths.

Plan no. TSU/DC/ROW/160/40 in Appendix 2, details the resolution of the 
Committee and the status of the routes.

4.2.6 In accordance with the 5th September 1994 resolution a consultation process, 
regarding the proposed orders with all interested parties, was carried out later 
that year. A subsequent report outlining the results of the consultation was put 
to the Highways Committee in March 1995.

4.2.7 Owners of the land over which the routes pass and the owners and occupiers 
of properties fronting the routes were consulted. This resulted in two objections 
to the proposed orders. One related to the detrimental impact the additional 
use of the routes would have on the surface condition and damage to the flora 
and fauna. The second objection being that one of the owners disagreed with 
the proposed Byway status of Range Lane and parts of St Luke’s Church 
Road.

4.2.8 The objections received were considered and assessed and the outcome was 
such that no additional evidence had been produced that would cast doubt on 
the routes and their status was recognised by the Highway’s Committee at its 
5th September meeting 1994.

4.2.9 Therefore, the Committee resolved that the Director of Legal and 
Administration Services be authorised to make an Order under section 53(2) 
and 53(3) (b) and (c)(i) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 to add the 
routes as listed in paragraph 4.2.5 above to the Definitive Map and Statement 
of Rights of Way for the area.

4.2.10 The Civic Society expressed concern over the Committee’s resolution in 
regards to its decision that many of the routes were Byways. There was a 
concern that vehicular use of the routes would have an adverse impact on the 

Page 38

Agenda Item 6



area in terms of anti-social behaviour and on the environment. As a result, the 
making of the Order stalled.

4.2.11 At this time Sefton Council had also taken ownership of large sections of the 
Ravenmeols coast, including Albert Road and Alexandra Road and had 
agreed not to restrict public access. 

4.2.12 A report was put to the Formby Area Committee in September 2004 to 
consider the option of dedication agreements by the landowners for the routes 
as Bridleway and Footpath status, rather than for Byways. The Committee 
considered this and resolved that subject to satisfactory consultations with the 
landowners that the dedication agreements be authorised.

4.2.13 It was thought that due to the ownership change, the concerns over vehicular 
use and the approval to enter in dedication agreements, the Civic Society 
agreed to withdraw their application.

4.2.14 Although the Order/s were not made, it is clear that in considering all the 
evidence submitted by the Civic Society and further identified by the Rights of 
Way Officer at the time, there was sufficient evidence to indicate that public 
rights were reasonably alleged to exist along the routes in the application. 

4.2.15 This evidence is still available to the Council and would still be applicable 
today. Therefore, it would be a factor when considering the current Parish 
Council application. 

4.3 Status of previous resolutions

4.3.1 Given that the majority of the routes included in the application from the Parish 
Council had previously been considered by the Authority, the first action in 
considering this application was to review the validity of the standing 
Committee resolutions. 

4.3.2 Also, although it was accepted by the Council that the evidence from the 
previous applications would still be applicable, primary legislation has changed 
since the 1990’s and there is new legislation that could impact on the evidence 
and the consideration of the Parish Council application.

4.3.3 In order to understand what current status the 1990’s Committee resolutions 
had and the impact of the legal changes since then, legal advice was sought 
initially from the Council’s Senior Lawyers and then from independent legal 
Counsel.

4.3.4 The basis of the Legal Counsel was to receive advice on the appropriate 
treatment of the historic applications from the Civic Society and to 
acknowledge any legislative changes and consider its impact, if any. 

4.3.5 It was Counsel’s view that Sefton Council has a duty, under section 53 of the 
Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, to amend the Definitive Map and Statement 
following the discovery of evidence that public rights subsist over a way not 
already recorded. 

Page 39

Agenda Item 6



4.3.6 He stated that, in regards to the Formby Civic Society’s applications, the 
evidence has already been discovered, the Authority has determined that 
evidence, through the Committee Resolutions in the 1990’s and has resolved 
to make the Orders. It was his view that where the Council’s obligations have 
stalled in this matter is in the making of the Orders.

4.3.7 In the absence of a statutory termination or time limit on the action the Council 
would still be obliged to take the proper steps to amend the Definitive Map and 
Statement pursuant to the Civic Society’s application and 1990’s Committee 
resolutions. As such, Counsel went on to consider whether there was such a 
termination or if the passage of time impacted upon the resolutions.

4.3.8 He was of the view that no such statutory limits have been introduced by the 
recent changes in legislation and that the passage of time would do nothing 
that precludes the Council from belatedly performing its duty under section 53 
of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, to make such modifications. 

4.3.9 Therefore, he concluded that Sefton Council should, through the appropriate 
Committee, re-affirm the 1990’s resolutions and make the requisite orders. He 
did however, provide that the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 
2006, that came into force in May 2006 could impact on this, as well as the 
Parish Council’s application and provided further advice in this regard.

4.3.10 Section 67 of the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006 
(NERC) extinguished public motor vehicular rights over every highway that is 
not already shown on the Definitive Map and Statement, or is shown as a 
Footpath, Bridleway, or Restricted Byway. This means that public rights of way 
for mechanically propelled vehicles have been extinguished over every 
highway not already shown on the definitive map and statement as a Byway 
open to all traffic, as of May 2006.

4.3.11 Having said that, as part of the NERC Act a number of exceptions were 
applied to the extinguishment that meant not all unrecorded Byways were 
automatically extinguished.

4.3.12 The first consideration by Counsel was whether NERC applied to either or both 
the applications from the Civic Society and Parish Council and if so whether 
the routes included in the applications may be covered by the Acts exceptions.

 
4.3.13 Subsection 67(3)(b) of the Act excepts highways that are the subject of a 

section 53(5) DMMO application to add a way as a Byway open to all traffic 
which was determined by the Authority before 2 May 2006. Whereby 
determined means that the Local Authority has decided either to make a 
Definitive Map Modification Order, or decided not to.

4.3.14 The Civic Society’s applications have been determined by the Council, as 
recorded in the 1995 resolution prior to the date stated within the NERC Act 
and for these reasons Counsel was of the opinion that the exception did apply 
and that the vehicular rights for these Byways were not extinguished. 

Page 40

Agenda Item 6



4.3.15 In regards to the application made by the Parish Council, NERC would apply 
as this post-dated May 2006 but only for the routes that were not included in 
the application made by the Civic Society.

4.3.16 In summary, Counsel was of the opinion that:

 the resolution of the 1995 Committee shows that the Civic Society’s 
applications have been considered/determined and that as such the 
evidence has been discovered. Therefore, the Local Authority’s duty to 
make the requisite Orders stands and should now be made,

 there has been no legal processes that terminates or imposes a time 
limit on the duty to make the Orders following the determination, 

 NERC does not apply to the routes included within the Civic Society’s 
application. 

4.3.17 The Authority has fully reviewed and considered the advice provided by 
Counsel and is satisfied that it is sound and provides appropriate 
recommendations. It is therefore for these reasons that it is not considered 
necessary to fully consider the application from the Parish Council, as the 
majority of the routes within it have been previously determined by the 1994/95 
Committees and that the resolutions from these Committees should be re-
affirmed and the Orders made.

4.4 Beechwood Drive to St Luke’s Church Road

4.4.1 There is one route within the application from the Parish Council that did not 
appear in the Civic Society’s applications, this is for a link from Beechwood 
Drive to St Luke’s Church Road. Consideration of whether it is reasonably 
alleged that public rights have been attained for this route is therefore still 
required. The detailed evidence relating to this route is provided in Appendix 1.

4.4.2 In view of the evidence provided in Appendix 1 and on balance it is the view of 
the Head of Highways and Public Protection that the claim should be 
supported and that a Modification Order is made to add a Footpath, as shown 
on the plan DC2054 below, to the Definitive Map and Statement. The evidence 
suggests that it is reasonable to allege that 20 years use has been fully 
established and there have been no clear acts to demonstrate a lack of 
intention to dedicate.

4.4.3 If the Committee is of the view that there is not sufficient evidence and that the 
claim does not meet the legal test, in that it is reasonably alleged to subsist 
over land in the area, they can refuse the application to add the route to the 
Definitive Map and Statement. 

4.4.4 As stated in paragraphs 2.16 - 2.17 above, should the application be refused 
the applicant has the right to appeal. Such an appeal must be made to the 
Secretary of State with a notice served upon the Council. If on considering the 
appeal the Secretary of State considers that the application be accepted and 
any Orders made, they shall instruct the Authority accordingly and give such 
directions as appear to him necessary, such as time limits within which they 
should comply with the instruction.    

Page 41

Agenda Item 6



4.4.5 It is a requirement to notify the applicant and the landowners formally of this 
Committee’s decision and of their subsequent options following this to be 
clarified.

5. ADDITIONAL APPLICATIONS

5.1 Whilst considering the current application made by the Parish Council and 
reviewing the records relating to the earlier Civic Society applications, two other 
historic applications made by the Civic Society were found.

5.2 In early 1993 the Formby Civic Society made two other applications for alleged 
Public Rights of Way to be added to the Definitive Map and Statement of Rights of 
Way for the area. These related to routes to the west of St Luke’s Church Road, 
as shown on plan no. TSU/DC/ROW/160/42 in Appendix 2.

5.3 The Transportation (General Purposes) Sub Committee of the 12th February 1996 
considered a report from the Director of Technical Services regarding these two 
applications from the Civic Society. In doing so, they considered all the evidence 
that was discovered and available to them at that time and concluded that only 
one of the routes claimed was a Public Right of Way. 

5.4 The Committee resolved that an Order be made under section 53(2) and 53(3) (b) 
and (c) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 to add the way shown as a 
pecked line A-B on plan no. TSU/DC/ROW/160/43, as shown in Appendix 2. The 
Committee also resolved that notice of the decision be given to the applicant and 
the land owners and occupiers affected by this decision.

5.5 The resolution of the Committee and the Order to be made, to record one route, 
differed to applications from the Civic Society, being that the majority of the routes 
were not considered to be Public Rights of way. 

5.6 In such circumstances the applicant has the right to appeal the decision when it is 
felt that the resolution is incorrect. In this case the Civic Society accepted the 
Committee’s decision and confirmed that they would not object.

5.7 Following this resolution the Authority had a duty to make the Order and either 
confirm it as unopposed and add it to the Definitive Map, if there were no 
objections, or if objections were received and not withdrawn refer it to the 
Secretary of State for their consideration.

5.8 Records indicate that no Order was made and no other report submitted to a 
subsequent Committee that alters the standing resolution. 

5.9 Again, and in view of the Counsel advice, it is considered that the outcome of the 
Civic Society’s application (being that an Order should be made) is still applicable 
and it is recommended that the Committee resolution from the Transportation 
(General Purposes) Sub Committee of the 12th February 1996 be re-affirmed and 
for the Head of Regulation and Compliance to make an Order to add the Track 
extending seaward from Range Lane, shown as A-B on plan no. 
TSU/DC/ROW/160/43 to the Definitive Map and Statement as a Public Footpath.

Page 42

Agenda Item 6



6. SUMMARY AND RECOMMENDATIONS

6.1 The majority of the 2018 application submitted by the Formby Parish Council does 
not need to be considered as it relates to routes that were previously subject to 
applications by the Formby Civic Society, that were duly considered and 
determined by the Authority.

6.2 The resolutions from the 1994 and 1995 Highways Committee legally still stand 
but for the avoidance of any doubt it is considered appropriate that they be re-
affirmed in full. The resolutions were:

- that the Director of Legal and Administrative Services be authorised:-

(i) to make an Order under Section 53(2) and 53(3) (b) and (c)(i) of the 
Wildlife and Countryside Act, 1981 to add the following ways to the 
definitive rights of way map and statement for the area:

1. Albert Road - byway open to all traffic.
2. Alexandra Road - byway open to all traffic.
3. St. Luke's Church Road, Bushby's Lane to Alexandra Road - byway 
open to all traffic.
4. St. Luke's Church Road, Alexandra Road to Range Lane - byway 
open to all traffic.
5. St. Luke's Church Road, Range Lane to Altcar Footpath 5 - public 
footpath.
6. Cambridge Road - byway open to all traffic.
7. Range Lane - byway open to all traffic.
8. Two tracks connecting Albert Road to Alexandra Road - public 
footpaths.
9. Extension of Albert Road to Shore - public footpath;

(ii) to give notice of the Authority's decision on the application to the 
Formby Civic Society, Formby Parish Council and owners and 
occupiers as required under Schedule 14 of the 1981 Act;

(iii) to request the Secretary of State to waive the requirement to serve 
notice on the owner/s (where they are not known) of land forming part 
of the claim, of the making of the Order, in favour of erecting notices on 
site as permitted under Schedule 15 of the 1981 Act.

6.3 The route included in the Parish Council application that doesn’t appear in the 
Civic Society’s applications, Beechwood Drive to St Luke’s Church Road has not 
been previously considered. It is accepted that the Parish Council application was 
duly made and the evidence provided in respect to this path has been reviewed. 

6.4 It is considered that on review of this evidence that it is reasonable to allege that 
public rights have been attained, in the form of pedestrian rights and as such the 
required Order should be made. It is recommended that Committee should 
resolve to authorise the Chief Legal and Democratic Officer to make a Definitive 
Map Modification Order under Section 53(2) and 53(3) (b) and (c)(i) of the Wildlife 

Page 43

Agenda Item 6



and Countryside Act, 1981, to modify the Definitive Map and Statement to add the 
route.

6.5 However, if the Committee is not satisfied that the legal test has been met for this 
alleged path, then it should refuse the application for a Modification Order on the 
grounds that the existence of a public right of way cannot be reasonably alleged. 

6.6 The resolution from the 1996 Transportation (General Purposes) Sub Committee 
regarding the Civic Society’s 1993 applications, is legally still valid but again for 
the avoidance of any doubt it is considered appropriate that it should be re-
affirmed in full. The resolution was:

- that the Director of Legal and Administrative Services:-

be authorised to make an Order under Section 53(2) and 53(3) (b) and (c) 
of the Wildlife and Countryside Act, 1981 to add the way shown as a 
pecked line A-B on drawing TSU/DC/ROW/160/43 to the definitive rights of 
way map and statement for the area and to give notice of the Authority's 
decision on the application to the Formby Society and owners and 
occupiers as required under Schedule 14 of the 1981 Act.

6.7 Following the making of any Orders the Chief Legal and Democratic Officer 
should confirm them as unopposed if no objections are made or, in the event of 
objections being received and not withdrawn, after statutory notice of the Order is 
given, to report back to this Committee for review prior to referring any to the 
Secretary of State for the Environment, Food and Rural Affairs for determination.

SEFTON M.B.C.

Page 44

Agenda Item 6



APPENDIX 1

EVIDENCE RELATING TO BEECHWOOD DRIVE TO ST LUKE’S CHURCH ROAD

Beechwood Drive to St Luke’s Church Road

(i) The 2017 application submitted by the Parish Council included one additional 
route to those previously included in the applications submitted by the Civic 
Society. This route is located along the east of St Luke’s Church adjacent to 
no.83 Beechwood Drive. The area is part of the public open space between 
Beechwood Park and Lime Tree Way. See images below:

 

(ii) None of the evidence forms submitted with the Civic Society application included 
use of this route and no other documentary evidence was discovered pertaining 
to it whilst their application was being considered and as a result, it has not been 
previously considered whether this is a public right of way.

(iii) The current Parish Council application was supported by a total of 49 Public 
Rights of Way Evidence Forms for the various routes that allege use of the ways 
for varying periods of time between 1932 and 2017. 15 of the evidence forms 
related to the use of the alleged right of way from Beechwood Drive to St Luke’s 
Church Road.

(iv) Applications supported by user evidence can be considered by applying the test 
set out in section 31 of the Highways Act to establish whether the application 
route has been deemed to have been dedicated as a highway. The test that 
needs to be met is set out below: 

(v) “Where a way over land, other than a way of such character that use of it by the 
public could not give rise at common law to any presumption of dedication, has 
actually been enjoyed by the public as of right and without interruption for a full 
period of twenty years, the way is deemed to have been dedicated as a highway 
unless there is sufficient evidence that there was no intention during that period 
to dedicate it at common law.” 

(vi) Section 31 Highways Act 1980: The Date That Public Rights Were Brought Into 
Question:

Page 45

Agenda Item 6



If Section 31 of the Highways Act 1980 is to be used as the basis for a claim that 
a right of way subsists, it is necessary to establish a date that public rights were 
brought into question to identify the 20 year period over which use by the public, 
as of right and without interruption, will have to be established for a way to be 
dedicated by virtue of presumed dedication.

Witness Evidence

(vii) In this case, it was stated by witnesses in their evidence that they were stopped 
from using the way by the path being blocked in 2016/17 at the western end of 
the way due to the works to St Luke’s Church Road, including the Larch tree 
hedge and that this was the event which prompted this route to be included in 
the application from the Parish Council. 

(viii) The 15 evidence forms relating to this route, allege that the route has been 
known and used by many people for many years. Most of the evidence forms 
received indicate that the witness has known of or used the route for more than 
20 years, prior to 2017. The table below shows the number of years the routes 
have been known and used by those that submitted an evidence form.

(ix) The 15 evidence forms relating to this route were from individual witnesses. 
However, many of the forms had information included, such as the line of the 
route drawn on the accompanying plan and the width of the route, that appeared 
to have been influenced or drawn by other individuals. Whilst, the integrity of this 
information is not being questioned, to some extent it called into question the 
accuracy of the information provided.

(x) Letters were sent to the 15 witnesses, with a new plan, in March 2020 requesting 
further information in the hope that it would help provide clarity to the original 
evidence. Of the 15 requests sent out 9 were returned. 

(xi) The 15 initial evidence forms detailed a route heading in a north westerly 
direction from the junction of the existing footpath link between Beechwood Drive 
and Lime Tree Way and Beechwood Drive to the south east corner of 17 Lime 
Tree Way. 

Page 46

Agenda Item 6



(xii) The width of the route detailed in the evidence forms ranged between 50 feet 
and 80 yards. This equates to between 15 and 73 metres wide. The majority of 
the evidence forms indicated that the width was approximately 30 metres wide.  

(xiii) Due to the time constraints for considering the application following the 
instruction of the Planning Inspectorate and the health crisis restricting 
movements, there have been no witness interviews.

(xiv) The additional information received in March/April 2020 by 9 of the original 
witnesses provided further details and appear to have been completed 
individually. Six of the nine witnesses again indicated that the route ran 
diagonally across the area in a north westerly direction but not quite from corner 
to corner as detailed in their previous forms. Four of the nine detailed a second 
route across the area that ran in a westerly direction linking Beechwood Drive 
and St Luke’s Church Road. 

(xv) The details regarding the widths of the routes from the additional information was 
limited. Some have provided details of the width of the current gap in the Laurel 
tree hedge but three witnesses provided information regarding the route widths. 
They stated that diagonal path was approximately 3 to 5 foot wide, 4 to 6 foot 
wide and 1.5m wide respectively.  

(xvi) Of the 15 evidence forms received 13 have shown that the witness used the area 
for in excess of 20 years. The remaining two were for 11 and 19 years 
respectively. The years of use ranged from 1963 to 2017 (when the forms were 
completed), with the majority indicating that the use of the route continued to the 
date of completing the evidence forms.

(xvii) All the witnesses claimed that they have walked the route and that they have 
seen other people using the same route. 3 of the witnesses claimed that they 
had used the route by bicycle, 2 in a vehicle and none on a horse. 2 of the 
witnesses have seen horseriders use the route, 5 witnessed vehicles and 3 saw 
other people use the route by bicycle.

(xviii) The routes used by these witnesses do not solely include the route between 
Beechwood Drive and St Luke’s Church Road. The majority stated that they 
continued along St Luke’s Church Road in a northerly direction, southerly 
direction or both and in most cases then using Alexandra Road and/or Lifeboat 
Road to head towards the shore. 

(xix) Due to the routes used by the witnesses extending beyond just the link between 
Beechwood Drive and St Luke’s Church Road and the witness statements 
pertaining to all the routes that the witness used collectively, it isn’t clear whether 
their use and that of those they saw by the particular transport modes relate to 
this link. For example, use of this link by a motor vehicle would seem unlikely as 
opposed to a vehicle using St Luke’s Church Road and Alexandra Road. 

(xx) What is clear however, is that all the witnesses used the route on foot and 
witnessed others on foot.

Page 47

Agenda Item 6



(xxi) Many of the witnesses indicated that the routes they used were subject to 
obstructions and signs/notices. All of these related to the works along St Luke’s 
Church Road that commenced in approximately 2016 and private road signs 
along St Luke’s Church Road.

General Evidence

Ordnance Survey Maps 

(xxii) Ordnance Survey maps do not provide evidence of the status of a right of way, 
but merely a record of the physical features at the time of survey. They are 
however very useful in confirming the existence of a way at a particular date and 
can indicate what the surveyor’s interpretation of the status of the way was at the 
time of the survey.

(xxiii) Ordnance Survey map (1893) at a scale of 25 inch to a mile depicts the area of 
the application route and shows the area to be farmland and that there was a 
route in existence at that time that ran in a west east direction from St Luke’s 
Church Road to Trap Hill Farm, which is now the location of residential 
properties at Trap Hill.

(xxiv) Ordnance Survey maps from 1908 again depicted the area of the application 
route as farmland but on these maps there were no routes shown at that time.

(xxv) During the 1960’s the area to the east of St Luke’s Church Road, within the 
proximity of the route in question, was developed for housing. The areas now 
include roads such as Beechwood Drive and Lime Tree Way. From 1964 the 
land was owned and developed by Norvill Developments Limited and the 
individual properties were then later sold on following construction.

(xxvi) The land in question over which the claimed right of way crosses was not 
developed for housing and was retained as an area of open space with a 
footpath link heading in a north/south direction passing through it that provides a 
link between Beechwood Drive and Lime Tree Way.

(xxvii) Ordnance Survey map (1980) at a scale 1:1250 depicts housing and the area of 
the route in the application. It shows this as an area of vegetation between the 
houses on Beechwood Drive and Lime Tree Way with coniferous and non-
coniferous trees and shows the north/south footpath link between on Beechwood 
Drive and Lime Tree Way but does not provide evidence of the existence of the 
claimed route.

Definitive Map and Statement 

(xxviii) In the early 1950s the Parish Councils were asked to carry out a survey of all the 
public rights of way within their area and prepare a map with an accompanying 
descriptive statement describing the relevant features and the termination points 
of each way.

(xxix) As part of the original Parish survey a Parish Map for Formby was produced that 
detailed all the recorded routes in the area. The path in question was not 
included on the survey map. 

Page 48

Agenda Item 6



(xxx) First Definitive Maps (1953 & 1966) - The map data shows the proximity of the 
area but does not infer the inclusion of a public right of way across the claimed 
way.

(xxxi) The Current Definitive Map (Published 2020) - The current map and statement 
data do not show a public right of way over the application route.

Landownership 

(xxxii) Formby Parish Council carried out extensive investigations in order to attempt to 
establish the current freehold title owner of the area in question and serve the 
appropriate application notice on them. This exercise failed to clearly ascertain 
the landowner and as consequence a site notice was erected to satisfy the 
statutory requirements for submitting an application, rather than a direct notice. 

(xxxiii) Current copies of landownership records have been attained for the land either 
side of the claimed path from the Land Registry, however, the ownership of the 
land over which the route crosses has not been registered.

(xxxiv) The current occupants of the properties either side of the area do not have any 
ownership interest in the land over which the path crosses. These properties 
both have freehold and leasehold titles. They were originally subject to three 999 
years lease agreements, dated 1937, 1946 and 1950 respectively, with the 
Lessor being the same party on each of the agreements.   

(xxxv) Efforts have been made to contact the original Lessor and/or their descendants 
but at the time of producing this report there has been no response from any of 
the individuals approached.  

(xxxvi) The last known title holder of the land was considered to be Norvill 
Developments Limited (Norvill), as part of the residential redevelopment of the 
area. Norvill ceased to trade in May 1991.

(xxxvii) In the absence of any transfer of ownership of the land by Norvill, prior to closure 
of the company the ownership of the land reverts back to the Crown. 

(xxxviii) Landownership and particularly land owned by the crown has a material impact 
on whether a right of way can be established through presumed dedication. The 
general principle of English law is that legislation passed by Parliament does not 
bind the Crown, and therefore does not apply to Crown Land, unless the 
particular Act specifies that it does apply. 

(xxxix) The National Parks and Access to the Countryside Act 1949 (“the 1949 Act”) and 
the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (“the 1981 Act”) specify that they apply to 
Crown Land. The Highways Act 1980 (“the 1980 Act”) does not apply to Crown 
Land. 

(xl) The immediate effect of this is that whilst rights of way over Crown Land can be, 
and are, recorded on definitive maps and statements, the provisions of Section 
31 of the 1981 Act do not apply, and so any claim for a right of way over what is 
(or was at the relevant time) Crown Land cannot rely on the ‘twenty-year rule’.

Page 49

Agenda Item 6



(xli) The consequence of this is that from May 1991, the land in question is highly 
likely to be owned by the Crown and therefore a public right of way cannot be 
established through presumed dedication from that date. This means that for any 
public right of way to be established the 20 year use must have occurred prior to 
1991.

Conclusion

(xlii) The application is made under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981(1981 Act) 
to add a public footpath to the Definitive Map and Statement. 

(xliii) It is considered that the route, which is the subject of part of this report was 
called into question in 2016, when the applicant submitted the application to 
have the route recorded as a public path. Ordinarily the evidence required of 
sufficient and continuous use of the route as a public path up to 2016 for a full 
period of 20 years would be required. However, in this case as the land appears 
to have reverted to the Crown in 1991, the full 20 year period must predate this. 

(xliv) The evidence of use indicates that use of the way on foot was enjoyed by users 
between 1963 and 2016. The Bar Chart showing the period of use of the claimed 
way on by each witness is shown above in paragraph viii above. This shows that 
10 of the witnesses used the area for at least 20 years prior to 1991 and all have 
indicated that they witnessed other people using the route.

(xlv) Where a person has used the way in exercise of a private right, their evidence 
cannot be used in support of the claimed public right. In this case none of the 
witnesses provided evidence to suggest that they have used the route whilst 
exercising a private right and as such all the submitted evidence relates to public 
use.   

(xlvi) In order to be satisfied on the question of whether there has been sufficient use 
of the way by the public, it is important to consider not only the number of users, 
but also how often witnesses claim to have used the path and how they used it. 
Also, if they have witnessed others using the path and how it was used. The 
frequency of use varies between using the path 20 times a year to every day. 

(xlvii) The witness’s evidence covering the relevant period is considered to be sufficient 
to show that their use was frequent during their periods described in their 
statements. 

(xlviii) In order to establish a right of way it needs to be along a prescribed/defined 
route between points. Therefore, should the witness use the area in question to 
meander through the trees or walk along the inside of its perimeter, this would 
not be considered a defined route. Also, if the witnesses all walked completely 
different routes there would be insufficient evidence to suggest a single right of 
way subsists.  

(xlix) It is noted that the initial user evidence maps submitted by all 15 Witnesses show 
the same photocopy of the Ordnance Survey plan with a red diagonal line 
depicting the location of the route. Each map also has other routes marked in a 

Page 50

Agenda Item 6



different coloured pen for some of the other routes included in the Parish 
Councils application. 

(l) All the plans are signed by the individual witness and therefore this denotes that 
although they may not have drawn all the lines shown on the map, they are 
happy with the evidence provided and with the addition of the supplementary 
evidence in 2020 from 4 of the witnesses, it is clear that there was a defined 
route running diagonally across the area.

(li) The question of the width of the route again needs to ensure that there is a 
defined route. The evidence in the original witness statements regarding the 
width suggests that there is no defined route. The narrowest width in the 
evidence is 15 metres and the largest being 73 metres. These widths indicate 
that the witness has described the width of the whole grassed area as opposed 
to any defined route. 

(lii) At a meeting on 9th March 2020 the Formby Parish Council indicated that this 
was what they considered the width of the public right of way to be because the 
public used the whole area and suggested that the witness statements were 
completed to reflect this.

(liii) It is clear that the whole area cannot be considered as a defined route but with 
the supplementary information provided by the nine witnesses in March 2020, 
there is sufficient evidence to suggest that the public has used a defined route 
diagonally across the area. The only point that cannot be clarified is the defined 
width, however, the information provided by the three witnesses, that detailed 
widths in their supplementary evidence, suggest a width of between 3 foot and 6 
foot.

(liv) All of the witnesses indicated that they have never been stopped or approached 
about their use of the path and that there have been no physical obstructions to 
their use prior to the Larch trees. As such it is considered that there is insufficient 
evidence that the landowner did not intend to dedicate a public right of way 
during the relevant period.

(lv) If the application is accepted and any Orders made they must be made with the 
correct status i.e Footpath, Bridleway, Restricted Byway or Byway. In this matter 
the application includes witness evidence showing cycle use, vehicle use and 
motor vehicle use. However, as the evidence also relates to other routes such as 
St Luke’s Church Road and Alexandra Road, in all probability the use of this 
route is likely to be primarily on foot, as a pedestrian.

(lvi) In view of the evidence provided and on balance it is the view of the Head of 
Highways and Public Protection that the claim should be supported and that a 
Modification Order is made to add a Footpath, as shown on the plan DC2054 in 
Appendix 2, to the Definitive Map and Statement. The evidence suggests that it 
is reasonable to allege that 20 years use has been fully established and there 
have been no clear acts to demonstrate a lack of intention to dedicate.

(lvii) If the Committee is of the view that there is not sufficient evidence and that the 
claim does not meet the legal test, in that it is reasonably alleged to subsist over 

Page 51

Agenda Item 6



land in the area, they can refuse the application to add the route to the Definitive 
Map and Statement. 

(lviii) As stated in paragraphs 2.16 - 2.17 above, should the application be refused the 
applicant has the right to appeal. Such an appeal must be made to the Secretary 
of State with a notice served upon the Council. If on considering the appeal the 
Secretary of State considers that the application be accepted and any Orders 
made, they shall instruct the Authority accordingly and give such directions as 
appear to him necessary, such as time limits within which they should comply 
with the instruction.    

(lix) It is a requirement to notify the applicant and the landowners formally of this 
Committee’s decision and of their subsequent options following this to be 
clarified. 

Page 52

Agenda Item 6



APPENDIX 2

Page 53

Agenda Item 6



Page 54

Agenda Item 6



Page 55

Agenda Item 6



Page 56

Agenda Item 6



Page 57

Agenda Item 6



Page 58

Agenda Item 6



Page 59

Agenda Item 6



Page 60

Agenda Item 6



Page 61

Agenda Item 6



Page 62

Agenda Item 6



Page 63

Agenda Item 6



Page 64

Agenda Item 6



Page 65

Agenda Item 6



Page 66

Agenda Item 6



Page 67

Agenda Item 6



Page 68

Agenda Item 6



Page 69

Agenda Item 6



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to: Licensing and 
Regulatory 
Committee

Date of Meeting: Monday 7 
September 2020

Subject: Park Lane West – Proposed Zebra Crossing

Report of: Head of Highways 
and Public 
Protection

Wards Affected: Netherton and 
Orrell;

Portfolio:

Is this a Key 
Decision:

No Included in 
Forward Plan:

No.

Exempt / 
Confidential 
Report:

No

Summary:

To inform Members of the results of the public consultation on the proposal to introduce 
a zebra crossing on Park Lane West.

Recommendation(s):

It is recommended that the zebra crossing as detailed in this report be approved.

Reasons for the Recommendation(s):

To upgrade the existing uncontrolled crossing to a controlled crossing.

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: (including any Risk Implications)

No alternative options considered

What will it cost and how will it be financed?

(A) Revenue Costs
None

Page 71

Agenda Item 7



(B) Capital Costs

All costs associated with the introduction of the zebra crossing, will be funded 
from the Netherton & Orrell S106 allocation. The costs for the works are estimated 
at £17,000.

Implications of the Proposals:

Resource Implications (Financial, IT, Staffing and Assets): All costs associated with 
the introduction of the zebra crossing, will be funded from the Netherton & Orrell S106 
allocation. The costs for the works are estimated at £17,000.

Legal Implications:

Equality Implications:

There are no equality implications

Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose:

Protect the most vulnerable: yes

Facilitate confident and resilient communities: yes 

Commission, broker and provide core services: no

Place – leadership and influencer: no

Drivers of change and reform: no

Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity: no

Greater income for social investment: no

Cleaner Greener yes

What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when?

(A) Internal Consultations

Sefton's Highway Safety Team have been consulted and have no comments on the 
report.

Page 72

Agenda Item 7



The Executive Director Corporate Resources and Customer Services has been 
consulted and notes the report indicates all costs associated with the introduction of the 
traffic calming features, amounting to £17,000, will be funded from the Netherton & Orrell 
S106 allocation (FD 6099/20)

The Chief Legal and Democratic Officer (LD4281/20.) has been consulted and has no 
comments on the report.
.

(B) External Consultations 

Residents directly affected

Contact Officer: Andrew Evans
Telephone Number: 0151 934 3159
Email Address: Andrew.evans@sefton.gov.uk

Appendices:

The following appendices are attached to this report: 

Annex A: Consultation Letter
Annex B: Extents of letter drop

Background Papers:

There are no background papers available for inspection.

1. Introduction/Background

Background

1.1 Ward Councillors requested an upgrade of the existing uncontrolled crossing into a 
zebra crossing.

1.2 The works will involve the removal of the existing island together with the bollards 
and beacon and replace this with a zebra crossing, belisha beacons with 
associated zig-zag markings. The location of the new zebra will be in the same 
location as the existing crossing. The two speed cushions will remain however the 
locations will be adjusted slightly to either side of the zebra crossing. The two 
mature trees located on either side of the road will also remain

1.3 The measures are being introduced to provide a safer crossing point for 
pedestrians

Page 73

Agenda Item 7



2.0 CONSULTATION RESULTS

2.1 A consultation letter containing an A4 plan was hand delivered to selected 
properties on Park Lane West, Leonard Cheshire Drive and Pinetree Close. The 
letter was delivered top those properties directly affected and those which might 
receive some displaced parking. The deadline for the questionnaire returns was 
Monday 13th July 2020.

2.2 A total of 22 consultation letters were delivered to residents with on the 22nd June 
2020 with only one response received. 

3.0 OBJECTIONS/COMMENTS/CONCERNS

3.1 The resident who responded had safety concerns regarding a zebra crossing being 
installed in this location. The response was as follows.

“Can I raise a significant concern for both my family at *** park lane west and the 
local community? The positioning of this proposed zebra crossing is questionable. 
We do understand the benefits locating It here due to financial savings' an existing 
pedestrian refuge is here (more aligned with a splitter island than a safe refuge due 
to minimal size) plus electric connections an some existing desire lines.

However, this proposed zebra is right in between two main side roads (Leonard 
Cheshire drive and ASHBOURN AVE) This positioning /visibility goes against 
guidance in TSRGD and it also goes against basic items such as the highway code 
and the manual of roads and bridges act. The benefits certainly do not outweigh the 
negatives such as limited visibility, close proximity to side roads, close proximity to 
a well used bus lay by and the fact that if the feature is moved towards Dunning 
bridge road then it would support supermarkets, local businesses, industrial estates 
and more active desire lines to local attractors such as schools and shops.

The residential area needs better lines of safe crossing and if I am honest even 
using just a' ZEBRA' rather than a 'TOUCAN' is a cheap solution and bit of a 'fob 
off' that is quite inadequate for a vibrant local community. 

The proposed location is completely unacceptable and while it may remain as its 
existing state as an existing additional option 'any official controlled crossing or 
zebra' crossing should be located towards Dunningbridge road or towards the main 
shopping square on Glover's lane.

I would be grateful for your comments and the reassurance on how the proposed 
location doesn't conflict with the guidance In TSRGD and others stated by me 
above. This is so close to active side roads it is not a safety benefit, more of a 
safety liability. the lights (beacons) themselves will encourage people to cross here 
yet the pedestrian refuge cannot facilitate either pram or a disability scooter or 
wheelchair”.

Page 74

Agenda Item 7



3.2 The residents’ safety concerns regarding the location of the zebra crossing was 
responded to via e-mail as follows: 

“Thank-you for your response regarding the proposed zebra crossing on 
Park Lane West. Your complaint will be presented to the Licensing & 
Regulatory Committee in September and a final decision will be made at this 
meeting as to whether the works will proceed.

I would like to take this opportunity to respond to some of the concerns you 
have raised regarding the location.

As you correctly point there is an already well used and established crossing 
point here and it was for this reason that the Ward Councillors requested to 
make this crossing in particular safer for the likes of pram and wheelchair 
use. According to the Regulations the absolute minimum distance that a 
zebra crossing can be located from a side road is 5m. The current location of 
the pedestrian refuge is approximately 13m from Leonard Cheshire Drive and 
approx. 9m from Ashbourne Avenue, therefore there is sufficient room for a 
zebra crossing to be accommodated. If we were looking to upgrade this 
crossing to a signalised crossing, such as a toucan, then we wouldn’t be able 
to fit this in as the minimum distance from a side road is greater for a signal 
crossing. Hence the upgrade to a zebra crossing was the only ‘controlled’ 
option we could take forward here.

The minimum distance for visibility of a crossing for approaching traffic 
along Park Lane West is 40m and this is easily achieved, especially as both 
bus stops are upstream of the existing crossing and located within lay-bys 
and therefore would not conflict with the proposed zebra crossing or the 
visibility of the crossing. In terms of the visibility from the side roads the 
Regulations cover this by requiring a ‘zone’ in which drivers and pedestrians 
should be able to see each other. This ‘zone’ is measured 2.5m from behind 
the stop line of the side road to the crossing point. For both side roads this is 
achievable. 

As we detailed in the letter I can confirm that the existing pedestrian refuge 
will be removed as part of these works. It was left on the drawing solely to 
highlight the location and I do apologise if this has caused any 
misunderstanding that it was to remain. 

I hope this answers your concerns. I will include your comments in the 
committee report including the request for improved crossings towards 
Dunningbridge Road or Glover's Lane, although I would also encourage you 
to raise this particular issue with your local Ward Councillors as well”.

4.0 CONCLUSION

4.1 The returned public consultation questionnaires resulted in one objection to the 
zebra crossing. The resident’s objection and the Councils response is detailed in 
paragraph 3.0 of this Report.

Page 75

Agenda Item 7



4.2 The resident’s safety concerns regarding the location of a zebra crossing in 
between Leonard Cheshire Drive and Ashbourne Avenue were addressed and the 
Council response confirmed that the location is in accordance with the design 
regulations.

4.3 Should Members approve the installation of the proposed zebra crossing, the 
scheme will be progressed this financial year following the decision.

Page 76

Agenda Item 7



Annex A

Page 77

Agenda Item 7



Page 78

Agenda Item 7



Annex B

Page 79

Agenda Item 7



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to: Licensing and 
Regulatory 
Committee

Date of Meeting: Monday 7 
September 2020

Subject: Statutory Taxi Licensing Standards for Licensing Authorities

Report of: Head of Highways 
and Public 
Protection

Wards Affected:

Portfolio:
Is this a Key 
Decision:

N Included in 
Forward Plan:

No

Exempt / 
Confidential 
Report:

N

Summary:

To inform members of the recently published 'Statutory Taxi & Private Hire Vehicle 
Standards’ issued by the Department for Transport (DfT).

Recommendation(s):

(1) Members note the content of the statutory standards 

(2) Members agree to further reports detailing changes to conditions to comply with the 
statutory standards

Reasons for the Recommendation(s):

The Statutory Standards set-out a range of robust measures to protect taxi and private 
hire vehicle passengers, particularly those most vulnerable. Government advice is that 
licensing authorities must work together to ensure that, above all else, the taxi and 
private hire vehicle services the public use are safe.

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: (including any Risk Implications)

Government fully expects licensing authorities to implement these measures as soon as 
possible

What will it cost and how will it be financed?

(A) Revenue Costs

None

(B) Capital Costs - none

Page 81

Agenda Item 8



Implications of the Proposals:

Resource Implications (Financial, IT, Staffing and Assets):

The cost of the service is wholly recovered from the ring-fenced Taxi Licensing Trade 
Account (Revenue Budget BD12).

Legal Implications:

Equality Implications:

There are no equality implications. 

Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose:

Protect the most vulnerable: The guidance is intended to strengthen policies in relation 
to safeguarding issues.

Facilitate confident and resilient communities:

Commission, broker and provide core services: Improvement to current conditions in 
line with Government guidance

Place – leadership and influencer:

Drivers of change and reform:

Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity:

Greater income for social investment: 

Cleaner Greener

What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when?

(A) Internal Consultations

The Executive Director Corporate Resources and Customer Services (FD6108/20) has 
been consulted and notes the report indicates no direct financial implications for the 
Council.   The Chief Legal & Democratic Officer (LD 4300/20) has been consulted and 
has no comments on the report

(B) External Consultations 

Page 82

Agenda Item 8



Consultation will take place with taxi trade representatives through the established 
working groups.

Implementation Date for the Decision

January 2021

Contact Officer: Mark Toohey
Telephone Number: Tel: Ext 2274
Email Address: mark.toohey@sefton.gov.uk

Appendices:

1 Statutory & Private Hire Vehicle Standards

Background Papers:

There are no background papers available for inspection.

Page 83

Agenda Item 8



1. Introduction/Background

1.1 Members will recall the previous report on ’Draft Statutory Guidance for Local 
Authorities’ in relation to taxi licensing at the 18 March 2019 meeting.

1.2 The committee considered the Government draft statutory guidance for licensing 
authorities in relation to taxi licensing.

1.3 Following a consultation process, on 21 July 2020, the Secretary of State for 
Transport issued a set of statutory standards in relation to taxi licensing.

2 New Standards

2.1 The main areas of the statutory standards cover the following;

a. Licensing policy. Authorities should produce a ‘cohesive policy document’ that 
brings all procedures together (including a convictions policy). When formulating 
policies, the overriding objective must be to protect the public. Policies should be 
reviewed every five years. 

b. Fit and proper test. Should be based on a balance of probabilities basis and be 
proportionate. Applicants should not be ‘given the benefit of the doubt’ and if the 
panel is only “50/50” as to whether the applicant is ‘fit and proper’ they should not 
be given a licence. This is a lower threshold than for criminal convictions and can 
therefore include information that goes beyond criminal convictions.

c. Administration. There should be sufficient training and adequate resources for all 
those involved with making licensing decisions. Any functions that are delegated 
should be set out in a clear scheme of delegation and it is suggested that less 
contentious matters can be resolved by authorised officers. It is recommended 
that more serious matters are dealt with by committee.

d. Whistleblowing. It is recommended that authorities have effective internal 
procedures for staff to raise concerns and procedures in place for any concerns to 
be dealt with openly and fairly.

e. DBS checks. Subscription to the DBS Update Service allowing checks at any time 
and at least every six months.

f. Oversees convictions. DBS cannot access criminal records held oversees – 
certificates of good character should be obtained where an applicant has 
previously lived outside the UK for a period of more than 3 continuous months.

g. Convictions policies. All authorities should have a clear policy that takes a 
particularly cautious view of any offences against individuals with special needs, 
children and other vulnerable groups, particularly those involving violence, those 
of a sexual nature and those linked to organised crime.

h. Common Law Police disclosures. These should also be considered as part of the 
‘fit and proper’ test. This replaced the previous Notifiable Occupations Scheme.

Page 84

Agenda Item 8



i. Multi-agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH). Authorities should establish a means to 
facilitate the objectives of the local MASH. It highlights obstacles in sharing 
information as a barrier to effective safeguarding.

j. Complaints against licensees. All authorities should have robust complaint 
recording systems and take action if necessary. Authorities should produce 
guidance for passengers on how to make complaints. Operators should be able to 
share concerns regarding drivers with the local authority.

k. Mandatory safeguarding awareness training for all drivers. Authorities should 
provide safeguarding advice and guidance and explain to drivers how to respond 
and report concerns and where to get advice. Training should include ‘County 
Lines’ drug trafficking awareness.

l. All licence holders to demonstrate proficiency in English language. All drivers 
should be able to converse with passengers to understand destination, estimates 
of time along with other common passenger requests. Drivers should be able to 
provide correct change and produce a legibly written receipt upon request.

m. Enforcement. Joint authority agreements between authorities are encouraged. 
Drivers should be made aware of relevant policies and repercussions.

n. Suspension and revocation of driver licences. The guidance clarifies situations in 
which revocations and suspensions may be used.

o. Private hire operators and criminal record checks. All operators should be subject 
to an annual basic DBS check. Ancillary staff that have access to booking records 
should also be DBS checked.

p. Record keeping. The guidance suggests minimum information that should be 
recorded when accepting a booking.

q. CCTV in vehicles. Local consultation to determine if mandatory CCTV would have 
a positive or negative on the safety of passengers.

r. Local consultation. It suggests it is good practice to consult when proposing 
significant changes in local licensing rules. Consultation should include 
passengers and trade groups.

s. Changes to polices – should apply to all licence holders (so any changes would 
be retrospective).

t. Criminality checks for vehicle proprietors. Basic disclosure undertaken annually.

u. Stretched Limousines. Consideration should be given to their licensing.

3 Assessment of Previous Convictions

3.1 The standards suggest a range of recommendations relating to all taxi licensing 
convictions policies. 

4 Conclusion
Page 85

Agenda Item 8



4.1 Members are requested to consider the new standards and recommended 
changes. Further reports will be presented in order to implement changes to 
current conditions and policies following trade consultation.

Page 86

Agenda Item 8



  

Statutory Taxi & Private Hire Vehicle 
Standards 

 
 

 

July 2020 

 
 

Page 87

Agenda Item 8



 

   2 
 

Contents 
 
 

Page 
 
1. Introduction .................................................................................................................. 4 

2. Consideration of the Statutory Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Standards ..................... 6 

3. Administering the Licensing Regime ............................................................................ 8 

Licensing polices ..................................................................................................... 8 

Duration of licences ................................................................................................. 9 

Whistleblowing ......................................................................................................... 9 

Consultation at the local level ................................................................................ 10 

Changing licensing policy and requirements ......................................................... 10 

4. Gathering and Sharing Information ............................................................................ 12 

The Disclosure and Barring Service ...................................................................... 12 

The Disclosure and Barring Service Update Service ....................................................... 13 

Common Law Police Disclosure ............................................................................ 13 

Licensee self-reporting .......................................................................................... 13 

Referrals to the Disclosure and Barring Service and the Police ............................ 14 

Working with the Police ......................................................................................... 15 

Sharing licensing information with other licensing authorities ................................ 15 

Multi-agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) ............................................................... 16 

Complaints against licensees ................................................................................ 17 

Overseas convictions ............................................................................................ 17 

5. Decision Making ........................................................................................................ 19 

Administration of the licensing framework ............................................................. 19 

Training decision makers ....................................................................................... 19 

The regulatory structure ........................................................................................ 20 

Fit and proper test ................................................................................................. 21 

Criminal convictions and rehabilitation .................................................................. 21 

6. Driver Licensing ......................................................................................................... 23 

Criminality checks for drivers ................................................................................. 23 

Safeguarding awareness ....................................................................................... 23 

‘County lines’ exploitation ...................................................................................... 24 

Language proficiency ............................................................................................ 25 

Page 88

Agenda Item 8



 

3 
 

7. Vehicle Licensing ....................................................................................................... 26 

Criminality checks for vehicle proprietors .............................................................. 26 

In-vehicle visual and audio recording – CCTV ....................................................... 27 

Stretched Limousines ............................................................................................ 28 

8. Private Hire Vehicle Operator Licensing .................................................................... 29 

Criminality checks for private hire vehicle operators .............................................. 29 

Booking and dispatch staff..................................................................................... 30 

Record keeping ..................................................................................................... 31 

Use of passenger carrying vehicles (PCV) licensed drivers .................................. 31 

9. Enforcing the Licensing Regime ................................................................................ 33 

Joint authorisation of enforcement officers ............................................................ 33 

Setting expectations and monitoring ...................................................................... 33 

Suspension and revocation of driver licences........................................................ 33 

Annex – Assessment of Previous Convictions ................................................................. 35 

Annex – Disclosure and Barring Service information ....................................................... 37 

Annex – CCTV Guidance ................................................................................................. 38 

Annex - Staying Safe: Guidance for Passengers ............................................................. 40 

 

Page 89

Agenda Item 8



 

4 
 

1. Introduction 
 

 There is evidence to support the view that taxis and private hire vehicles are a 
high-risk environment. In terms of risks to passengers, this can be seen in abuse 
and exploitation of children and vulnerable adults facilitated and in some cases 
perpetrated by the trade and the number of sexual crimes reported which involve 
taxi and private hire vehicle drivers. Links between the trade and child sexual 
abuse and exploitation have been established in many areas and other 
investigations continue. Data on reported sexual assaults by taxi and private hire 
vehicle drivers evidence the risk to passengers; data from Greater Manchester 
and Merseyside suggest that, if similar offence patterns are applied across 
England, 623 sexual assaults per year are reported. These figures do not however 
account for the under reporting of crime which is estimated to be as high as 83 
percent in the Crime Survey for England and Wales.  

 The Policing and Crime Act 2017 enables the Secretary of State for Transport to 
issue statutory guidance on exercising taxi and private hire vehicle licensing 
functions to protect children and vulnerable individuals who are over 18 from harm 
when using these services. For the purposes of this document, a child is defined 
as anyone who has not yet reached their 18th birthday; and the term “vulnerable 
individual” has the same meaning as the definition of a ‘vulnerable adult’ for the 
purpose of section 42 of the Care Act 2014, which applies where a local authority 
has reasonable cause to suspect that an adult in its area (whether or not ordinarily 
resident there): 

(a) has needs for care and support (whether or not the authority is meeting 
any of those needs), 

(b) is experiencing, or is at risk of, abuse or neglect, and 

(c) as a result of those needs is unable to protect himself or herself against 
the abuse or neglect or the risk of it. 

 Whilst the focus of the Statutory Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Standards is on 
protecting children and vulnerable adults, all passengers will benefit from the 
recommendations contained in it. There is consensus that common core minimum 
standards are required to regulate better the taxi and private hire vehicle sector, 
and the recommendations in this document are the result of detailed discussion 
with the trade, regulators and safety campaign groups. The Department 
therefore expects these recommendations to be implemented unless there 
is a compelling local reason not to.  

 It should be noted that as policing and criminal justice is not a devolved matter, 
the Statutory Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Standards issued under the Policing 
and Crime Act 2017 will continue to have effect in Wales although responsibility 
for taxi and private hire vehicle policy was devolved to the Welsh Assembly in 
April 2018. Should the Welsh Government introduce legislation to regulate on 
these issues, the standards in this document would, cease to apply.  

Page 90

Agenda Item 8

https://www.whatdotheyknow.com/request/sex_attacks_2
https://www.whatdotheyknow.com/request/taxi_private_hire_related_rapes#incoming-286178
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/articles/sexualoffencesinenglandandwales/yearendingmarch2017#main-points
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/23/section/42/enacted


 

5 
 

 All local authorities and district councils that provide children’s and other types of 
services, including licensing authorities, have a statutory duty to make 
arrangements to ensure that their functions and any services that they contract 
out to others are discharged having regard to the need to safeguard and promote 
the welfare of children. This means that licensing authorities should have in place 
arrangements that reflect the importance of safeguarding and promoting the 
welfare of children. This includes clear whistleblowing procedures, safe 
recruitment practices and clear policies for dealing with allegations against people 
who work with children, as set out in the Working Together to Safeguard Children 
statutory guidance. 

 The Statutory Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Standards reflect the significant 
changes in the industry and lessons learned from experiences in local areas since 
the 2010 version of the Department’s Best Practice Guidance. This includes 
extensive advice on checking the suitability of individuals and operators to be 
licensed; safeguarding children and vulnerable adults; the Immigration Act 2016 
and Common Law Police Disclosure (which replaced the Notifiable Occupations 
Scheme).  

 The standards in this document replace relevant sections of the Best Practice 
Guidance issued by the Department in 2010, where there is a conflict between 
the Statutory Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Standards and the Best Practice 
Guidance the Department issue on taxi and private hire vehicle licensing, the 
standards in this document take precedence.  

Page 91

Agenda Item 8

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children--2


 

6 
 

 

Terminology 
 
Taxis are referred to in legislation, regulation and common language as 
‘hackney carriages’, ‘black cabs’ and ‘cabs’. The term ‘taxi’ is used throughout 
this document and refers to all such vehicles. Taxis can be hired immediately 
by hailing on the street or at a rank. 
 
Private hire vehicles include a range of vehicles including minicabs, executive 
cars, chauffeur services, limousines and some school and day centre transport 
services. All private hire vehicle journeys must be pre-booked via a licensed 
private hire vehicle operator and are subject to a ‘triple licensing lock’ i.e. the 
operator fulfilling the booking must use vehicles and drivers licensed by the 
same authority as that which granted its licence. The term ‘private hire vehicle’ 
is used throughout this document to refer to all such vehicles. 

2. Consideration of the Statutory Taxi and Private Hire 
Vehicle Standards 

 

 The past failings of licensing regimes must never be repeated. The Department 
has carefully considered the measures contained in the Statutory Taxi and Private 
Hire Vehicle Standards and recommend that these should be put in to practice 
and administered appropriately to mitigate the risk posed to the public. The 
purpose of setting standards is to protect children and vulnerable adults, and by 
extension the wider public, when using taxis and private hire vehicles.  

 The Government set out in the Modern Crime Prevention Strategy the evidence 
that where Government, law enforcement, businesses and the public work 
together on prevention, this can deliver significant and sustained cuts in certain 
crimes. That is good news for victims and communities and it makes clear 
economic sense too. Educating the public on the risks of using unlicensed drivers 
and vehicles, how to identify the licensed trade and appropriate measure to take 
when using these services will protect help all passengers, more information is 
annexed to this document (Annex - Staying safe: guidance for passengers). 

 The Strategy committed to protect children and young people from the risk of child 
sexual abuse and exploitation (CSAE), by working with local authorities to 
introduce rigorous taxi and private hire vehicle licensing regimes. Both the Jay 
and Casey reports on CSAE highlighted examples of taxi/private hire vehicle 
drivers being directly linked to children that were abused, including instances 
when children were picked up from schools, children’s homes or from family 
homes and abused, or sexually exploited. 

 The Casey Report made clear that weak and ineffective arrangements for taxi and 
private hire vehicle licensing had left the children and public at risk. The 
Department for Transport has worked with the Home Office, Local Government 
Association (LGA), personal safety charities, trade unions and trade bodies, 

Page 92

Agenda Item 8

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/509831/6.1770_Modern_Crime_Prevention_Strategy_final_WEB_version.pdf
https://www.rotherham.gov.uk/downloads/file/1407/independent_inquiry_cse_in_rotherham
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/report-of-inspection-of-rotherham-metropolitan-borough-council


 

7 
 

holding workshops, forums, and sharing evidence and good practice with local 
authorities to assist in the setting of the standards.  

 This document is published by the Secretary of State for Transport under section 
177(1) of the Policing and Crime Act 2017 following consultation in accordance 
with section 177(5). 

 The document sets out a framework of policies that, under section 177(4), 
licensing authorities “must have regard” to when exercising their functions. 
These functions include developing, implementing and reviewing their taxi and 
private hire vehicle licensing regimes. “Having regard” is more than having a 
cursory glance at a document before arriving at a preconceived conclusion.  

 “Having regard” to these standards requires public authorities, in formulating a 
policy, to give considerations the weight which is proportionate in the 
circumstances. Given that the standards have been set directly to address 
the safeguarding of the public and the potential impact of failings in this 
area, the importance of thoroughly considering these standards cannot be 
overstated. It is not a question of box ticking; the standards must be considered 
rigorously and with an open mind. 

 Although it remains the case that licensing authorities must reach their own 
decisions, both on overall policies and on individual licensing matters in light of 
the relevant law, it may be that the Statutory Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle 
Standards might be drawn upon in any legal challenge to an authority’s practice, 
and that any failure to adhere to the standards without sufficient justification could 
be detrimental to the authority’s defence. In the interest of transparency, all 
licensing authorities should publish their consideration of the measures 
contained in Statutory Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Standards, and the 
policies and delivery plans that stem from these. The Department has 
undertaken to monitor the effectiveness of the standards in achieving the 
protection of children and vulnerable adults (and by extension all passengers). 

 The Statutory Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Standards does not purport to give a 
definitive statement of the law and any decisions made by a licensing authority 
remain a matter for that authority. 

  

Page 93

Agenda Item 8



8 

3. Administering the Licensing Regime

Licensing polices 

 The Department recommends all licensing authorities make publicly available a 
cohesive policy document that brings together all their procedures on taxi and 
private hire vehicle licensing. This should include but not be limited to policies on 
convictions, a ‘fit and proper’ person test, licence conditions and vehicle 
standards. 

 When formulating a taxi and private hire vehicle policy, the primary and overriding 
objective must be to protect the public. The importance of ensuring that the 
licensing regime protects the vulnerable cannot be overestimated. This was 
highlighted in the report by Dame Louise Casey CB of February 2015 on 
safeguarding failings. 

“It will be evident from this report that in many cases the activities of 
perpetrators take place in spheres which are regulated by the Council – taxis 
have been the focus of particular concern. Persistent and rigorous enforcement 
of the regulatory functions available to the council, including the placing of 
conditions on private hire taxi operator licences where appropriate, would send 
a strong signal that the trade is being monitored and would curtail the activities 
of opportunistic perpetrators whereby taxi drivers have solicited children to 
provide sex in return for cigarettes, alcohol or a fare free ride.” 

 The long-term devastation caused by CSAE was summarised in the same report: 

“Victims suffer from suicidal feelings and often self-harm. Many become 
pregnant. Some have to manage the emotional consequences of miscarriages 
and abortions while others have children that they are unable to parent 
appropriately. The abuse and violence continues to affect victims into 
adulthood. Many enter violent and abusive relationships. Many suffer poor 
mental health and addiction.” 

 Rotherham Metropolitan Borough Council (‘Rotherham Council’) provides an 
example of how the systematic review of policies and procedures and the 
implementation of a plan to drive improvements in practice can result in a well-
functioning taxi and private hire vehicle sector that is rebuilding local confidence 
in the industry. The history of past failings here and elsewhere is well known, but 
it is the transparency and resolution that Rotherham Council has demonstrated 
and the high standards they now require that are rebuilding public confidence. 

 One of the key lessons learned is that it is vital to review policies and reflect 
changes in the industry both locally and nationally. Licensing authorities should 
review their licensing policies every five years, but should also consider 
interim reviews should there be significant issues arising in their area, and 
their performance annually. 

Page 94

Agenda Item 8

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/401125/46966_Report_of_Inspection_of_Rotherham_WEB.pdf


 

9 
 

Duration of licences 

 A previous argument against issuing licences for more than a year was that a 
criminal offence might be committed, and not notified, during this period; this can 
of course also be the case during the duration of a shorter licence. This risk can 
be mitigated for drivers by authorities to undertaking regular interim checks. To 
help authorities monitor licensees’ suitability, licensing authorities should engage 
with their police force to ensure that when the police believe a licensee presents 
a risk to the travelling public they use their Common Law Police Disclosure powers 
(see paragraphs 4.9 - 4.11) to advise them. 

 The Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 (as amended) sets 
a standard length at three years for taxi and private hire vehicle drivers and five 
years for private hire vehicle operators. Any shorter duration licence should only 
be issued when the licensing authority thinks it is appropriate in the specific 
circumstances of the case, if a licensee has requested one or where required (e.g. 
when the licence holder’s leave to remain in the UK is time-limited) or when the 
licence is only required to meet a short-term demand; they should not be issued 
on a ‘probationary’ basis. 

Whistleblowing 

 It is in the application of licensing authority’s policies (and the training and raising 
of awareness among those applying them) that protection will be provided. Where 
there are concerns that policies are not being applied correctly, it is vital that these 
can be raised, investigated and remedial action taken if required. Licensing 
authorities should have effective internal procedures in place for staff to 
raise concerns and for any concerns to be dealt with openly and fairly. 

  
A report into the licensing of drivers by South Ribble Borough Council highlights 
the implications of not applying the agreed policies. In early August 2015, 
concerns were raised regarding decisions to renew the licences of drivers 
where there were potential incidents of child sexual exploitation. An internal 
review concluded that there had been failings in local investigatory procedures 
which might have affected the ability of the General Licensing Committee to 
make proper decisions, and information sharing with the police and data 
recording was not satisfactory. 

Page 95

Agenda Item 8



 

10 
 

 The external investigation in South Ribble concluded “that there had been a lack 
of awareness and priority given to safeguarding and the safety of taxi [and private 
hire vehicle] passengers in the manner in which licensing issues were addressed”. 
We are pleased to note that the report concludes, “The Council have been active 
at every stage in responding to issues and concerns identified. It has taken steps 
to address operational issues in the licensing function and has engaged fully with 
other agencies in so doing. In the light of the above, it is not necessary to make 
any further recommendations.” 

 It is hoped that all licensing authorities will have learnt from these mistakes 
but to prevent a repeat, local authorities should ensure they have an effective 
‘whistleblowing’ policy and that all staff are aware of it. If a worker is aware 
of, and has access to, effective internal procedures for raising concerns then 
‘whistleblowing’ is unlikely to be needed. 

 The Public Interest Disclosure Act 1998 (PIDA), commonly referred to as 
whistleblowing legislation, provides protection for those that have a reasonable 
belief of serious wrongdoing, including failure to comply with professional 
standards, council policies or codes of practice/conduct. The PIDA is part of 
employment law. In the normal course of events, if a worker reveals information 
that his employer does not want revealed it may be a disciplinary offence. If 
someone leaked their employer’s confidential information to the press, they might 
expect to be dismissed for that. The PIDA enables workers who ‘blow the whistle’ 
about wrongdoing to complain to an employment tribunal if they are dismissed or 
suffer any other form of detriment for doing so. It is a qualified protection and 
certain conditions would have to be met for the worker to be protected. More 
information is available online for employees and employers. 

Consultation at the local level 

 Licensing authorities should consult on proposed changes in licensing rules 
that may have significant impacts on passengers and/or the trade. Such 
consultation should include not only the taxi and private hire vehicle trades but 
also groups likely to be the trades’ customers. Examples are groups representing 
disabled people, Chambers of Commerce, organisations with a wider transport 
interest (e.g. the Campaign for Better Transport and other transport providers), 
women’s groups, local traders, and the local multi-agency safeguarding 
arrangements. It may also be helpful to consult with night-time economy groups 
(such as Pubwatch) if the trade is an important element of dispersal from the local 
night-time economy’s activities. 

 Any decision taken to alter the licensing regime is likely to have an impact on 
the operation of the taxi and private hire vehicle sector in neighbouring areas; and 
licensing authorities should engage with these areas to identify any 
concerns and issues that might arise from a proposed change. Many areas 
convene regional officer consultation groups or, more formally, councillor liaison 
meetings; this should be adopted by all authorities.  

Changing licensing policy and requirements 

Page 96

Agenda Item 8

http://www.southribble.gov.uk/sites/default/files/FINAL_REPORT_JUNE_2016.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/whistleblowing
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/415175/bis-15-200-whistleblowing-guidance-for-employers-and-code-of-practice.pdf


 

11 
 

 Any changes in licensing requirements should be followed by a review 
of the licences already issued. If the need to change licensing requirements 
has been identified, this same need is applicable to those already in possession 
of a licence. That is not however to suggest that licences should be automatically 
revoked overnight, for example if a vehicle specification is changed it is 
proportionate to allow those that would not meet the criteria to have the 
opportunity to adapt or change their vehicle. The same pragmatic approach 
should be taken to driver licence changes - if requirements are changed to include 
a training course or qualification, a reasonable time should be allowed for this to 
be undertaken or gained. The implementation schedule of any changes that affect 
current licence holders must be transparent and communicated promptly and 
clearly. 

 Where a more subjective change has been introduced, for example an 
amended policy on previous convictions, a licensing authority must consider each 
case on its own merits. Where there are exceptional, clear and compelling 
reasons to deviate from a policy, licensing authorities should consider doing so. 
Licensing authorities should record the reasons for any deviation from the policies 
in place. 

  

Page 97

Agenda Item 8



 

12 
 

4. Gathering and Sharing Information 
 

 Licensing authorities must consider as full a range of information available to them 
when making a decision whether to grant a licence and to meet their ongoing 
obligation to ensure a licensee remains suitable to hold a licence.   

The Disclosure and Barring Service 

 The Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) provides access to criminal record 
information through its disclosure service for England and Wales. The DBS also 
maintains the lists of individuals barred from working in regulated activity with 
children or adults. The DBS makes independent barring decisions about people 
who have harmed, or where they are considered to pose a risk of harm to a child 
or vulnerable person within the workplace. The DBS enables organisations in the 
public, private and voluntary sectors to make safer employment decisions by 
identifying candidates who may be unsuitable for certain work, especially that 
which involves vulnerable groups including children.  

 Enhanced certificates with a check of the barred lists include details of spent and 
unspent convictions recorded on the Police National Computer (PNC), any 
additional information which a chief officer of police believes to be relevant and 
ought to be disclosed, as well as indicating whether the individual is barred from 
working in regulated activity with children or adults. Spent convictions and 
cautions are disclosed on standard and enhanced certificates according to rules 
set out in legislation.  Convictions which resulted in a custodial sentence, and 
convictions or cautions for a specified serious offence such as those involving 
child sexual abuse will always be disclosed on a standard or enhanced certificate. 
Full details of the disclosure rules, and those offences which will always be 
disclosed, are available from the DBS. As well as convictions and cautions, an 
enhanced certificate may include additional information which a chief police officer 
reasonably believes is relevant and ought to be disclosed. Chief police officers 
must have regard to the statutory guidance issued by the Home Office when 
considering disclosure. A summary of the information provided at each level of 
DBS checks is annexed to this document (Annex – Disclosure and Barring 
Service information). 

 It should be noted that licensing authorities must not circumvent the DBS process 
and seek to obtain details of previous criminal convictions and other information 
that may not otherwise be disclosed on a DBS certificate. Whilst data protection 
legislation (not just the Data Protection Act 2018 or General Data Protection 
Regulation (GDPR)) gives individuals (or data subjects) a ‘right of access’ to the 
personal data that an organisation holds about them, it is a criminal offence to 
require an individual to exercise their subject access rights so as to gain 
information about any convictions and cautions. This could potentially lead to the 
authority receiving information to which it is not entitled. The appropriate way of 
accessing an individual’s criminal records is through an enhanced DBS and 
barred lists check. 

Page 98

Agenda Item 8

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/dbs-filtering-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/statutory-disclosure-guidance


 

13 
 

The Disclosure and Barring Service Update Service 
 Subscription to the DBS Update Service allows those with standard and enhanced 
certificates to keep these up to date online and, with the individual’s consent, 
allows nominees to check the status of a certificate online at any time. 
Subscription to the service removes the need for new certificates to be requested, 
reduces the administrative burden and mitigates potential delays in relicensing. 

 The DBS will search regularly to see if any relevant new information has been 
received since the certificate was issued. The frequency varies depending on the 
type of information; for criminal conviction and barring information, the DBS will 
search for updates on a weekly basis. For non-conviction information, the DBS 
will search for updates every nine months.  

 Licensing authorities are able to request large numbers of status checks on a daily 
basis. The DBS has developed a Multiple Status Check Facility (MSCF) that can 
be accessed via a web service. The MSCF enables organisations to make an 
almost unlimited number of Status Checks simultaneously. Further information on 
the MSCF is available from the DBS. 

 Should the MSCF advise that new information is available the DBS certificate 
should no longer be relied upon and a new DBS certificate requested. 

Common Law Police Disclosure 

 The DBS is not the only source of information that should be considered as part 
of a fit and proper assessment for the licensing of taxi and private hire vehicle 
drivers. Common Law Police Disclosure ensures that where there is a public 
protection risk, the police will pass information to the employer or regulatory body 
to allow them to act swiftly to mitigate any danger. 

 Common Law Police Disclosure replaced the Notifiable Occupations Scheme 
(NOS) in March 2015 and focuses on providing timely and relevant information 
which might indicate a public protection risk. Information is passed on at arrest or 
charge, rather than on conviction which may be some time after, allowing any 
measures to mitigate risk to be put in place immediately. 

 This procedure provides robust safeguarding arrangements while ensuring 
only relevant information is passed on to employers or regulatory bodies. 
Licensing authorities should maintain close links with the police to ensure 
effective and efficient information sharing procedures and protocols are in 
place and are being used. 

Licensee self-reporting 

 Licence holders should be required to notify the issuing authority within 48 
hours of an arrest and release, charge or conviction of any sexual offence, any 
offence involving dishonesty or violence and any motoring offence. An arrest for 
any of the offences within this scope should result in a review by the issuing 
authority as to whether the licence holder is fit to continue to do so. This must not 

Page 99

Agenda Item 8

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/dbs-update-service-multiple-status-checking-guide


 

14 
 

however be seen as a direction that a licence should be withdrawn; it is for the 
licensing authority to consider what, if any, action in terms of the licence should 
be taken based on the balance of probabilities. Should an authority place an 
obligation on licensees to notify under these circumstances, authorities should 
also ensure appropriate procedures are in place to enable them to act in a suitable 
timeframe if and when needed.  

 Importantly, a failure by a licence holder to disclose an arrest that the issuing 
authority is subsequently advised of might be seen as behaviour that questions 
honesty and therefore the suitability of the licence holder regardless of the 
outcome of the initial allegation. 

Referrals to the Disclosure and Barring Service and the Police 

 In some circumstances it may be appropriate under the Safeguarding 
Vulnerable Groups Act 2006 for licensing authorities to make referrals to the DBS. 
A decision to refuse or revoke a licence as the individual is thought to 
present a risk of harm to a child or vulnerable adult, should be referred to 
the DBS. The power for the licensing authority to make a referral in this context 
arises from the undertaking of a safeguarding role. Further guidance has been 
provided by the DBS. 

 The Department recommends that licensing authorities should make a 
referral to the DBS when it is thought that: 

• an individual has harmed or poses a risk of harm to a child or vulnerable adult; 

• an individual has satisfied the ‘harm test’; or 

• received a caution or conviction for a relevant offence and; 

• the person they are referring is, has or might in future be working in regulated 
activity; 

if the above conditions are satisfied, the DBS may consider it appropriate for the 
person to be added to a barred list. 

 These referrals may result in the person being added to a barred list and 
enable other licensing authorities to consider this should further applications to 
other authorities be made. Further information on referrals to DBS is available.  

Page 100

Agenda Item 8

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/dbs-barring-referrals-local-authority-referral-duty-and-power/referral-duty-and-power-for-local-authorities-and-regulatory-bodies#local-authorities-as-regulated-activity-providers
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/making-barring-referrals-to-the-dbs#what-is-the-harm-test
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/making-barring-referrals-to-the-dbs


 

15 
 

Working with the Police 

 The police are an invaluable source of intelligence when assessing whether 
a licensing applicant is a ‘fit and proper’ person. It is vital that licensing authorities 
have a partnership with the police service to ensure that appropriate information 
is shared as quickly as possible. As part of building an effective working 
relationship between the licensing authority and the police, action taken by the 
licensing authority as a result of information received should be fed-back 
to the police. Increasing the awareness among police forces of the value 
licensing authorities place on the information received, particularly on non-
conviction intelligence, will assist furthering these relationships and reinforce the 
benefits of greater sharing of information. 

 This relationship can be mutually beneficial, assisting the police to prevent 
crime. The police can gain valuable intelligence from drivers and operators, for 
example, the identification of establishments that are selling alcohol to minors or 
drunks, or the frequent transportation of substance abusers to premises. 

 To aid further the quality of the information available to all parties that have a 
safeguarding duty, a revocation or refusal on public safety grounds should also 
be advised to the police. 

Sharing licensing information with other licensing authorities 

 As has been stated elsewhere in this document, obtaining the fullest 
information minimises the doubt as to whether an applicant or licensee is ‘fit and 
proper’. An obvious source of relevant information is any previous licensing 
history. Applicants and licensees should be required to disclose if they hold 
or have previously held a licence with another authority. An applicant 
should also be required to disclose if they have had an application for a 
licence refused, or a licence revoked or suspended by any other licensing 
authority. Licensing authorities should explicitly advise on their application forms 
that making a false statement or omitting to provide the information requested 
may be a criminal offence. 

 The LGA’s Councillors’ Handbook on taxi and private hire vehicle licensing 
advises that those responsible for licensing should “communicate regularly with 
licensing committees and officers in neighbouring councils to ensure critical 
information is shared and that there is a consistency and robustness in decision-
making. By working together, local government can make sure that this vital 
service is safe, respected, and delivering for local communities.”. While this 
approach may aid consistency and robustness in decision-making within regions, 
it has obvious inherent limitations as it is unlikely such protocols could be 
established between all licensing authorities. The LGA commissioned the 
National Anti-Fraud Network to develop a national register of taxi and private hire 
vehicle driver licence refusals and revocations (the register is known as ‘NR3’). 
Tools such as NR3 should be used by licensing authorities to share 
information on a more consistent basis to mitigate the risk of non-
disclosure of relevant information by applicants. 

Page 101

Agenda Item 8

https://www.local.gov.uk/councillor-handbook-taxi-and-phv-licensing


 

16 
 

 For these processes to be beneficial, all licensing authorities must keep a 
complete and accurate record as to the reasons for refusal, suspension or 
revocation of a licence in order that this might be shared if requested and 
appropriate to do so. 

 Data protection legislation provides exemption from the rights of data subjects 
for the processing of personal data in connection with regulatory activities. This 
includes taxi and private hire vehicle licensing. The exemption applies only to 
information processed for the core regulatory activities of appropriate 
organisations; it may not be used in a blanket manner. The exemption applies 
only to the extent that the application of the rights of data subjects to the 
information in question would be likely to prejudice the proper discharge of the 
regulatory functions. The Information Commissioner’s Office has published 
guidance to assist organisations to fully understand their obligations and suggest 
good practice.  

 If notification under paragraph 4.20 or 4.21 of a refused or revoked licence is 
disclosed, the relevant licensing authority should be contacted to establish when 
the licence was refused, suspended or revoked and the reasons why. In those 
circumstances, the relevant licensing authority must consider whether it should 
disclose any information in relation to the previous decision, consistent with its 
obligations under data protection legislation. If information is disclosed, it can then 
be taken into account in determining the applicant’s fitness to be licensed. The 
relevance of the reason for refusing/revoking a licence must be considered. For 
example, if any individual was refused a licence for failing a local knowledge test, 
it does not have any safeguarding implications. Conversely, a revocation or 
refusal connected to indecency would. Licensing authorities should not simply 
replicate a previous decision, authorities must consider each application on its 
own merits and with regard to its own polices.  

 Should a licensing authority receive information that a licence holder did not 
disclose the information referred to in paragraph 4.20, for example by checking 
the NR3 register, the authority should consider whether the non-disclosure 
represents dishonesty and should review whether the licence holder remains ‘fit 
and proper’. 

Multi-agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) 

 Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hubs are a way to improve the safeguarding 
response for children and vulnerable adults through better information sharing 
and high quality and timely safeguarding responses. MASHs (or similar models) 
should operate on three common principles: information sharing, joint decision 
making and coordinated intervention. 

 The Home Office report on Multi Agency Working and Information Sharing 
recommended that effective multi-agency working still needs to become more 
widespread. The Children’s Commissioner’s 2013 Inquiry into Child Sexual 
Exploitation in Gangs and Groups found that both police and local authorities still 
identified the inability to share information as a key barrier to safeguarding 
children from sexual abuse and exploitation. 

Page 102

Agenda Item 8

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/338875/MASH.pdf
ttps://www.childrenscommissioner.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/07/If_only_someone_had_listened.pdf
ttps://www.childrenscommissioner.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/07/If_only_someone_had_listened.pdf


 

17 
 

 All licensing authorities should operate or establish a means to facilitate the 
objectives of a MASH (i.e. the sharing of necessary and relevant information 
between stakeholders). As has been emphasised throughout this document, one 
of the most effective ways to minimise the risk to children and vulnerable adults 
when using taxis and private hire vehicles is to ensure that decisions on licensing 
individuals are made with the fullest knowledge possible.  

Complaints against licensees 

 Complaints about drivers and operators provide a source of intelligence when 
considering the renewal of a licence or to identify problems during the period of 
the licence. Patterns of behaviour such as complaints against drivers, even when 
they do not result in further action in response to an individual compliant, may be 
indicative of characteristics that raise doubts over the suitability to hold a licence. 
All licensing authorities should have a robust system for recording 
complaints, including analysing trends across all licensees as well as 
complaints against individual licensees. Such a system will help authorities to 
build a fuller picture of the potential risks an individual may pose and may tip the 
‘balance of probabilities’ assessment that licensing authorities must take. 

 Licensees with a high number of complaints made against them should be 
contacted by the licensing authority and concerns raised with the driver and 
operator (if appropriate). Further action in terms of the licence holder must be 
determined by the licensing authority, which could include no further action, the 
offer of training, a formal review of the licence, or formal enforcement action. 

 To ensure that passengers know who to complain to, licensing authorities 
should produce guidance for passengers on making complaints directly to the 
licensing authority that should be available on their website. Ways to make 
complaint to the authority should be displayed in all licensed vehicles. This is likely 
to result in additional work for the licensing authority but has the advantage of 
ensuring consistency in the handling of complaints. Currently, it is more likely that 
a complaint against a taxi driver would be made directly to the licensing authority 
whereas a complaint against a private hire vehicle driver is more likely to be made 
to the operator. An effective partnership in which operators can share concerns 
regarding drivers is also encouraged.  

 Importantly, this approach will assist in the directing of complaints and 
information regarding the behaviour of drivers who may be carrying a passenger 
outside of the area in which the driver is licensed to the authority that issued the 
licence. In order for this to be effective licensing authorities must ensure that 
drivers are aware of a requirement to display information on how to complain and 
take appropriate sanctions against those that do not comply with this requirement. 

 In terms of investigating complaints CCTV footage of an incident can provide 
an invaluable insight, providing an ‘independent witness’ to an event. This can 
assist in the decision whether to suspend or revoke a licence. The potential 
benefits of mandating CCTV in vehicles is discussed in paragraphs 7.7 - 7.12. 

Overseas convictions 

Page 103

Agenda Item 8



 

18 
 

 The DBS cannot access criminal records held overseas, only foreign 
convictions that are held on the Police National Computer may, subject to the 
disclosure rules, be disclosed. Therefore, a DBS check may not provide a 
complete picture of an individual’s criminal record where there have been periods 
living or working overseas; the same applies when an applicant has previously 
spent an extended period (three or more continuous months) outside the UK. It 
should however be noted that some countries will not provide an ‘Certificate of 
Good Character’ unless the individual has been resident for six months or more 

 Licensing authorities should seek or require applicants to provide where 
possible criminal records information or a ‘Certificate of Good Character’ from 
overseas in this circumstance to properly assess risk and support the decision-
making process (. It is the character of the applicant as an adult that is of particular 
interest, therefore an extended period outside the UK before the age of 18 may 
be less relevant. As with all licensing decisions, each case must be considered 
on its own merits. For information on applying for overseas criminal record 
information or ‘Certificates of Good Character’ please see the Home Office 
guidance. 

 Where an individual is aware that they have committed an offence overseas 
which may be equivalent to those listed in the annex to this document (Annex – 
Assessment of previous convictions), licensing authorities should advise the 
applicant to seek independent expert or legal advice to ensure that they provide 
information that is truthful and accurate. 

  

Page 104

Agenda Item 8

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/criminal-records-checks-for-overseas-applicants


 

19 
 

5. Decision Making 
Administration of the licensing framework 

 A policy is only effective if it is administered properly. The taxi and private hire 
vehicle licensing functions of local councils are non-executive functions i.e. they 
are functions of the council rather than the executive (such as the Cabinet). The 
functions include the determination of licence applications, reviews and renewals, 
along with the attachment of conditions when considered appropriate. The 
function may be delegated to a committee, a sub-committee or an officer – which 
should be set out within a clear scheme of delegation. In London the taxi and 
private hire vehicle licensing function is undertaken by Transport for London. 

 Licensing authorities should ensure that all individuals that determine whether a 
licence is issued or refused are adequately resourced to allow them to discharge 
the function effectively and correctly. 

Training decision makers 

 All individuals that determine whether a licence is issued should be 
required to undertake sufficient training. As a minimum, training for a member 
of a licensing committee should include: licensing procedures, natural justice, 
understanding the risks of CSAE, disability and equality awareness and the 
making of difficult and potentially controversial decisions. Training should not 
simply relate to procedures, but should include the use of case study material to 
provide context and real scenarios. All training should be formally recorded by the 
licensing authority and require a signature from the person that has received the 
training. Training is available from a number of organisations including the 
Institute of Licensing and Lawyers in Local Government; the LGA may also be 
able to assist in the development of training packages. 

 Public safety is the paramount consideration but the discharge of licensing 
functions must be undertaken in accordance with the following general principles: 

• policies should be used as internal guidance, and should be supported 
by a member/officer code of conduct. 

• any implications of the Human Rights Act should be considered. 

• the rules of natural justice should be observed. 

• decisions must be reasonable and proportionate. 

• where a hearing is required it should be fairly conducted and allow for 
appropriate consideration of all relevant factors. 

• decision makers must avoid bias (or even the appearance of bias) and 
predetermination. 

• data protection legislation. 

Page 105

Agenda Item 8



 

20 
 

 When a decision maker has a prejudicial interest in a case, whether it be financial 
or a personal relationship with those involved they should declare their interest at 
the earliest opportunity; this must be prior to any discussions or votes and, once 
declared, they must leave the room for the duration of the discussion or vote. 

The regulatory structure 

 It is recommended that councils operate with a Regulatory Committee or Board 
that is convened at periodic intervals to determine licensing matters, with 
individual cases being considered by a panel of elected and suitably trained 
councillors drawn from a larger Regulatory Committee or Board. This model is 
similar to that frequently adopted in relation to other licensing matters. To facilitate 
the effective discharge of the functions, less contentious matters can be delegated 
to appropriately authorised council officers via a transparent scheme of 
delegation. 

 It is considered that this approach also ensures the appropriate level of separation 
between decision makers and those that investigate complaints against licensees, 
and is the most effective method in allowing the discharge of the functions in 
accordance with the general principles referred to in 5.4. In particular, the 
Committee/Board model allows for: 

• Each case to be considered on its own merits. It is rare for the same 
councillors to be involved in frequent hearings – therefore the councillors 
involved in the decision making process will have less knowledge of previous 
decisions and therefore are less likely to be influenced by them. Oversight 
and scrutiny can be provided in relation to the licensing service generally, 
which can provide independent and impartial oversight of the way that the 
functions are being discharged within the authority. 

• Clear separation between investigator and the decision maker – this 
demonstrates independence, and ensures that senior officers can attempt to 
resolve disputes in relation to service actions without the perception that this 
involvement will affect their judgement in relation to decisions made at a later 
date. 

 Avoidance of bias or even the appearance of bias is vital to ensuring good 
decisions are made and instilling and/or maintaining confidence in the licensing 
regime by passengers and licensees. 

 Unlike officers, elected members are not usually involved in the day to day 
operation of the service and as such do not have relationships with licence holders 
that may give the impression that the discharge of a function is affected by the 
relationship between the decision maker and the licence holder.  

 Some licensing authorities may decide to operate a system whereby all 
matters are delegated to a panel of officers; however, this approach is not 
recommended and caution should be exercised. Decisions must be, and be seen 
to be, made objectively, avoiding any bias. In addition, it may be more difficult to 
demonstrate compliance with the principles referred to above due to the close 

Page 106

Agenda Item 8



 

21 
 

connection between the officers on the panel, and those involved in the 
operational discharge of the licensing functions. 

 Whether the structure proposed is introduced or an alternative model is more 
appropriate in local circumstances, the objective should remain the same - to 
separate the investigation of licensing concerns and the management of the 
licence process. Regardless of which approach is adopted, all licensing 
authorities should consider arrangements for dealing with serious matters 
that may require the immediate revocation of a licence. It is recommended 
that this role is delegated to a senior officer/manager with responsibility for the 
licensing service. 

Fit and proper test 

 Licensing authorities have a duty to ensure that any person to whom they 
grant a taxi or private hire vehicle driver’s licence is a ‘fit and proper’ person to be 
a licensee. It may be helpful when considering whether an applicant or licensee 
is fit and proper to pose oneself the following question: 

Without any prejudice, and based on the information before you, would 
you allow a person for whom you care, regardless of their condition, to 
travel alone in a vehicle driven by this person at any time of day or night? 

 If, on the balance of probabilities, the answer to the question is ‘no’, the 
individual should not hold a licence. 

 Licensing authorities have to make difficult decisions but (subject to the points 
made in paragraph 5.4) the safeguarding of the public is paramount. All decisions 
on the suitability of an applicant or licensee should be made on the balance of 
probability. This means that an applicant or licensee should not be ‘given the 
benefit of doubt’. If the committee or delegated officer is only “50/50” as to whether 
the applicant or licensee is ‘fit and proper’, they should not hold a licence. The 
threshold used here is lower than for a criminal conviction (that being beyond 
reasonable doubt) and can take into consideration conduct that has not resulted 
in a criminal conviction. 

Criminal convictions and rehabilitation 

 In considering an individual’s criminal record, licensing authorities must 
consider each case on its merits, but they should take a particularly cautious view 
of any offences against individuals with special needs, children and other 
vulnerable groups, particularly those involving violence, those of a sexual nature 
and those linked to organised crime. In order to achieve consistency, and to 
mitigate the risk of successful legal challenge, licensing authorities should have a 
clear policy for the consideration of criminal records. This should include, for 
example, which offences would prevent an applicant from being licenced 
regardless of the period elapsed in all but truly exceptional circumstances. In the 
case of lesser offences, a policy should consider the number of years the authority 
will require to have elapsed since the commission of particular kinds of offences 
before they will grant a licence. 

Page 107

Agenda Item 8



 

22 
 

 Annexed to this document are the Department’s recommendations on the 
assessment of previous convictions (Annex – Assessment of previous 
convictions). This draws on the work of the Institute of Licensing, in partnership 
with the LGA, the National Association of Licensing Enforcement Officers 
(NALEO) and Lawyers in Local Government, in publishing its guidance on 
determining the suitability of taxi and private hire vehicle licensees. 

 These periods should be taken as a starting point in considering whether a 
licence should be granted or renewed in all cases. The Department’s view is that 
this places passenger safety as the priority while enabling past offenders to 
sufficiently evidence that they have been successfully rehabilitated so that they 
might obtain a licence. Authorities are however reminded that applicants are 
entitled to a fair and impartial consideration of their application. 

 

  

Page 108

Agenda Item 8



 

23 
 

6. Driver Licensing 
 
Criminality checks for drivers 

 Licensing authorities are entitled to request an enhanced criminal record 
certificate with check of the barred lists from the DBS for all driver licence holders 
or applicants. The DfT’s 2019 survey of taxi and private hire vehicle licensing 
authorities shows that all licensing authorities in England and Wales have a 
requirement that an enhanced DBS check is undertaken at first application or 
renewal.  

 All individuals applying for or renewing a taxi or private hire vehicle drivers licence 
licensing authorities should carry out a check of the children and adult Barred 
Lists in addition to being subject to an enhanced DBS check (in section x61 of the 
DBS application ‘Other Workforce’ should be entered in line 1 and ‘Taxi Licensing’ 
should be entered at line 2). All licensed drivers should also be required to 
evidence continuous registration with the DBS update service to enable the 
licensing authority to routinely check for new information every six months. Drivers 
that do not subscribe up to the Update Service should still be subject to a check 
every six months. 

 Driving a taxi or private hire vehicle is not, in itself, a regulated activity for the 
purposes of the barred list. This means that an individual subject to barring would 
not be legally prevented from being a taxi or private hire vehicle driver but the 
licensing authority should take an individual’s barred status into account alongside 
other information available. In the interests of public safety, licensing 
authorities should not, as part of their policies, issue a licence to any 
individual that appears on either barred list. Should a licensing authority 
consider there to be exceptional circumstances which means that, based on the 
balance of probabilities they consider an individual named on a barred list to be 
‘fit and proper’, the reasons for reaching this conclusion should be recorded. 

 Drivers working under an arrangement to transport children may be working in 
‘regulated activity’ as defined by the Safeguarding Vulnerable Groups Act 2006. 
It is an offence to knowingly allow a barred individual to work in regulated activity. 
The guidance on home-to-school travel and transport issued by the Department 
for Education should be considered alongside this document. Please see 
guidance on driver DBS eligibility and how to apply. 

Safeguarding awareness 

 Licensing authorities should consider the role that those in the taxi and private 
hire vehicle industry can play in spotting and reporting the abuse, exploitation or 
neglect of children and vulnerable adults. As with any group of people, it is 
overwhelmingly the case that those within the industry can be an asset in the 
detection and prevention of abuse or neglect of children and vulnerable adults. 
However, this is only the case if they are aware of and alert to the signs of potential 
abuse and know where to turn to if they suspect that a child or vulnerable adult is 
at risk of harm or is in immediate danger. 

Page 109

Agenda Item 8

https://departmentfortransportuk.sharepoint.com/sites/BusTaxi/Taxis/Control%20of%20Taxis%20and%20PHV/STATUTORY%20GUIDANCE%20(2019)/FINAL%20VERSION%20DOCUMENTS%20(2019)/v.uk/government/statistics/taxi-and-private-hire-vehicle-statistics-england-2019
https://departmentfortransportuk.sharepoint.com/sites/BusTaxi/Taxis/Control%20of%20Taxis%20and%20PHV/STATUTORY%20GUIDANCE%20(2019)/FINAL%20VERSION%20DOCUMENTS%20(2019)/v.uk/government/statistics/taxi-and-private-hire-vehicle-statistics-england-2019
https://departmentfortransportuk.sharepoint.com/sites/BusTaxi/Taxis/Control%20of%20Taxis%20and%20PHV/STATUTORY%20GUIDANCE%20(2019)/FINAL%20VERSION%20DOCUMENTS%20(2019)/w.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2006/47/contents
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/home-to-school-travel-and-transport-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/dbs-check-applicant-criminal-record/get-a-standard-or-enhanced-dbs-check-for-an-employee


 

24 
 

 All licensing authorities should provide safeguarding advice and guidance to the 
trade and should require taxi and private hire vehicle drivers to undertake 
safeguarding training. This is often produced in conjunction with the police and 
other agencies. These programmes have been developed to help drivers and 
operators: 

• provide a safe and suitable service to vulnerable passengers of all ages; 

• recognise what makes a person vulnerable; and 

• understand how to respond, including how to report safeguarding concerns 
and where to get advice. 

 Since 2015, the Department for Education (DfE) has run a nationwide campaign 
– ‘Together, we can tackle child abuse’ which aims to increase public 
understanding of how to recognise the signs to spot and encourage them to report 
child abuse and neglect. The DfE continues to promote and raise awareness of 
the campaign materials through its online toolkit, for local authorities, charities and 
organisations for use on their social media channels. 

‘County lines’ exploitation 

 County lines is a term used to describe gangs and organised criminal networks 
involved in exporting illegal drugs (primarily crack cocaine and heroin) into one or 
more importing areas [within the UK], using dedicated mobile phone lines or other 
form of “deal line”.   

 Exploitation is an integral part of the county lines offending model with children 
and vulnerable adults exploited to transport (and store) drugs and money between 
locations.  Children aged between 15-17 make up the majority of the vulnerable 
people involved in county lines, but they may also be much younger. We know 
that both girls and boys are groomed and exploited and offenders will often use 
coercion, intimidation, violence (including sexual violence) and weapons to 
ensure compliance of victims.  Children exploited by county lines gangs may have 
vulnerabilities besides their age, such as broader mental health issues, disrupted 
or chaotic homes, substance misuse issues, being excluded from school or 
frequently going missing. 

 The National Crime Agency’s 2018 county lines threat assessment set out 
that the national road network is key to the transportation of county lines victims, 
drugs and cash; with hire vehicles being one of the methods used for 
transportation between locations. 

 Safeguarding awareness training should include the ways in which drivers 
can help to identify county lines exploitation. Firstly, they should be aware of the 
following warning signs: 

• Children and young people travelling in taxis or private hire vehicles alone; 

Page 110

Agenda Item 8

https://urldefense.proofpoint.com/v2/url?u=https-3A__tacklechildabuse.campaign.gov.uk_&d=DwMFAg&c=troKkvwivNn_CddsvWCHHPiPoFoTgTGIbXJULvYU158&r=pWkfbO8wDT90SEXeF9GowY2JHpbVlJjhfIuWcSqpmQM&m=fFeqs4P7cc5j0MiDgA_vqM_PIud0cGnyoU8czGJMaZE&s=nMZ5f_AqK1I4Q_O6JJAKws40OkSXl3a3I8i2l5r8hUU&e=


 

25 
 

• travelling at unusual hours (during school time, early in the morning or late 
at night); 

• travelling long distances; 

• unfamiliar with the local area or do not have a local accent; 

• paying for journeys in cash or prepaid. 

 The Home Office is working with partners to raise awareness of county lines 
and has provided material to help taxi and private vehicle hire staff to identify 
victims and report concerns to protect those exploited through this criminal 
activity. 

 Drivers (or any person) should be aware of what to do if they believe a child 
or vulnerable person is at risk of harm. If the risk is immediate they should contact 
the police otherwise they should:  

• use the local safeguarding process, the first step of which is usually to contact 
the safeguarding lead within the local authority;  

• call Crime Stoppers on 0800 555 111. 

Language proficiency 

 A lack of language proficiency could impact on a driver’s ability to understand 
written documents, such as policies and guidance, relating to the protection of 
children and vulnerable adults and applying this to identify and act on signs of 
exploitation. Oral proficiency will be of relevance in the identification of potential 
exploitation through communicating with passengers and their interaction with 
others.  

 A licensing authority’s test of a driver’s proficiency should cover both oral and 
written English language skills to achieve the objectives stated above. 

  

Page 111

Agenda Item 8

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/county-lines-posters-for-taxi-and-private-vehicle-hire-staff?utm_source=HO&utm_campaign=LA


 

26 
 

7. Vehicle Licensing 
 

 As with driver licensing, the objective of vehicle licensing is to protect the public, 
who trust that the vehicles dispatched are above all else safe. It is important 
therefore that licensing authorities are assured that those granted a vehicle 
licence also pose no threat to the public and have no links to serious criminal 
activity. Although vehicle proprietors may not have direct contact with passengers, 
they are still entrusted to ensure that the vehicles and drivers used to carry 
passengers are appropriately licensed and so maintain the safety benefits of the 
licensing regime. 

Criminality checks for vehicle proprietors 

 Enhanced DBS and barred list checks are not available for vehicle licensing. 
Licensing authorities should require a basic disclosure from the DBS and 
that a check is undertaken annually. Any individual may apply for a basic check 
and the certificate will disclose any unspent convictions recorded on the Police 
National Computer (PNC). Licensing authorities should consider whether an 
applicant or licence holder with a conviction for offences provided in the annex to 
this document (Annex – Assessment of previous convictions), other than those 
relating to driving, meet the ‘fit and proper’ threshold. 

 However, it is important that authorities acknowledge that in many cases 
individuals that license a vehicle may already be licensed as a driver. An authority 
which undertakes the biannual DBS checks recommended for its drivers should 
not require those seeking to licence a vehicle to provide a basic DBS check as 
part of the application process; a basic DBS would not provide any information in 
addition to that disclosed under the enhanced DBS and barred lists check used 
for the driver assessment. In these circumstances, the authority should instead 
rely on the fact that the applicant is considered as fit and proper to hold a driver 
licence when considering their suitability to hold a vehicle licence. Should the 
individual cease to hold a driver licence a basic certificate should be required 
immediately. 

 A refusal to license an individual as a driver or to suspend or revoke a driver 
licence does not automatically mean that that individual cannot be issued or 
continue to hold a vehicle or private hire vehicle operator licence; these decisions 
must be independent of a driver licence refusal and based on the appropriate 
information i.e. it should not consider information that would only be available via 
an enhanced DBS check but instead that which would be disclosed on a basic 
check. DBS certificate information can only be used for the specific purpose for 
which it was requested and for which the applicant’s full consent has been given. 

 Private hire vehicle operator and vehicle licences may be applied for by a 
company or partnership; licensing authorities should apply the ‘fit and proper’ test 
to each of the directors or partners in that company or partnership. For this to be 
effective private hire vehicle operators and those to whom a vehicle licence should 
be required to advise the licensing authority of any change in directors or partners. 

Page 112

Agenda Item 8



 

27 
 

 As explained earlier in the context of driver licensing, the DBS cannot access 
criminal records held overseas so other checks must be consider where and 
applicant has lived or worked overseas (see paragraph 4.34 - 4.36). 

In-vehicle visual and audio recording – CCTV 

 Government has acknowledged the potential risk to public safety when 
passengers travel in taxis and private hire vehicles. It is unfortunately the case 
that no matter how complete the information available to licensing authorities is 
when assessing whether to issue any taxi or private hire vehicle licence, nor how 
robust the policies in place are and the rigor with which they are applied, it will 
never completely remove the possibility of harm to passengers by drivers. 

 The Department’s view is that CCTV can provide additional deterrence to prevent 
this and investigative value when it does. The use of CCTV can provide a safer 
environment for the benefit of taxi/private hire vehicle passengers and drivers by: 

• deterring and preventing the occurrence of crime; 

• reducing the fear of crime; 

• assisting the police in investigating incidents of crime; 

• assisting insurance companies in investigating motor vehicle accidents. 

 All licensing authorities should consult to identify if there are local circumstances 
which indicate that the installation of CCTV in vehicles would have either a 
positive or an adverse net effect on the safety of taxi and private hire vehicle 
users, including children or vulnerable adults, and taking into account potential 
privacy issues. 

 While only a small minority of licensing authorities have so far mandated all 
vehicles to be fitted with CCTV systems, the experience of those authorities that 
have has been positive for both passengers and drivers. In addition, the evidential 
benefits of CCTV may increase the level of reporting of sexual offences.  
According to the Crime Survey for England and Wales only 17 percent of victims 
report their experiences to the police, 28 percent of rape or sexual assault victims 
indicated that a fear they would not be believed as a factor in them not reporting 
the crime. The evidential benefits CCTV could provide are therefore an important 
factor when considering CCTV in vehicles.  

 The mandating of CCTV in vehicles may deter people from seeking a taxi or 
private hire vehicle licence with the intent of causing harm. Those that gain a 
licence and consider perpetrating an opportunistic attack against a vulnerable 
unaccompanied passenger may be deterred from doing so. It is however 
unfortunately the case that offences may still occur even with CCTV operating. 

 CCTV systems that are able to record audio as well as visual data may also 
help the early identification of drivers that exhibit inappropriate behaviour toward 
passengers. Audio recording should be both overt (i.e. all parties should be aware 
when recordings are being made) and targeted (i.e. only when passengers (or 

Page 113

Agenda Item 8

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/articles/sexualoffencesinenglandandwales/yearendingmarch2017#main-points


 

28 
 

drivers) consider it necessary). The recording of audio should be used to provide 
an objective record of events such as disputes or inappropriate behaviour and 
must not be continuously active by default and should recognise the need for 
privacy of passengers’ private conversations between themselves. Activation of 
the audio recording capability of a system might be instigated when either the 
passenger or driver operates a switch or button. 

 Imposition of a blanket requirement to attach CCTV as a condition to a licence 
is likely to give rise to concerns about the proportionality of such an approach and 
will therefore require an appropriately strong justification and must be kept under 
regular review. More information and guidance on assessing the impacts of CCTV 
and on an authority mandating CCTV is annexed to this document (Annex – CCTV 
guidance). 

Stretched Limousines 

 Licensing authorities are sometimes asked to license small (those 
constructed or adapted to carry fewer than nine passengers) limousines as private 
hire vehicles, these vehicles may be used for transport to ‘school proms’ as well 
as for adult bookings. It is suggested that licensing authorities should approach 
such requests on the basis that these vehicles – where they have fewer than nine 
passenger seats - have a legitimate role to play in the private hire trade, meeting 
a public demand. It is the Department’s view that it is not a legitimate course of 
action for licensing authorities to adopt policies that exclude limousines as a 
matter of principle thereby excluding these services from the scope of the private 
hire vehicle regime and the safety benefits this provides. A blanket policy of 
excluding limousines may create an unacceptable risk to the travelling public, as 
it may lead to higher levels of unsupervised operation. Public safety 
considerations are best supported by policies that allow respectable, safe 
operators to obtain licences on the same basis as other private hire vehicle 
operators.  

 Stretched large limousines which clearly seat more than eight passengers 
should not be licensed as private hire vehicles because they are outside the 
licensing regime for private hire vehicles. However, in some circumstances a 
vehicle with space for more than eight passengers can be licensed as a private 
hire vehicle where the precise number of passenger seats is hard to determine. 
In these circumstances, the authority should consider the case on its merits in 
deciding whether to license the vehicle under the strict condition that the vehicle 
will not be used to carry more than eight passengers, bearing in mind that refusal 
may encourage illegal private hire operation.  

  

Page 114

Agenda Item 8



 

29 
 

8. Private Hire Vehicle Operator Licensing 
 

 As with driver licensing, the objective in licensing private hire vehicle operators is 
to protect the public, who may be using operators’ premises and trusting that the 
drivers and vehicles dispatched are above all else safe. It is important therefore 
that licensing authorities are assured that those that are granted a private hire 
vehicle operator also pose no threat to the public and have no links to serious 
criminal activity. Although private hire vehicle operators may not have direct 
contact with passengers, they are still entrusted to ensure that the vehicles and 
drivers used to carry passengers are appropriately licensed and so maintain the 
safety benefits of the driver licensing regime. 

Criminality checks for private hire vehicle operators 

 Enhanced DBS and barred list checks are not available for private hire vehicle 
operator licensing. Licensing authorities should request a basic disclosure 
from the DBS and that a check is undertaken annually. Any individual may 
apply for a basic check and the certificate will disclose any unspent convictions 
recorded on the Police National Computer (PNC). Licensing authorities should 
consider whether an applicant or licence holder with a conviction for offences 
provided in the annex to this document (Annex – Assessment of previous 
convictions), other than those relating to driving, meet the ‘fit and proper’ 
threshold. 

 However, it is important that authorities acknowledge that in many cases 
individuals that license as a private hire vehicle operator may already be licensed 
as a driver. An authority which undertakes the biannual DBS checks 
recommended for its drivers should not require those seeking a private hire 
vehicle operator licence to provide a basic DBS check as part of the application 
process; a basic DBS would not provide any information in addition to that 
disclosed under the enhanced DBS and barred lists check used for the driver 
assessment. In these circumstances, the authority should instead rely on the fact 
that the applicant is considered as fit and proper to hold a driver licence when 
considering their suitability to hold a vehicle licence. Should the individual cease 
to hold a driver licence a basic certificate should be required immediately 

 Refusal to license in individual as a driver or to suspend or revoke a driver licence 
does not automatically mean that that individual cannot be issued or continue to 
hold a private hire vehicle operator licence; this decision must be independent of 
a driver licence refusal and based on the appropriate information i.e. it should not 
consider information that would only be available via an enhanced DBS check but 
instead that which would be disclosed on a basic check. DBS certificate 
information can only be used for the specific purpose for which it was requested 
and for which the applicant’s full consent has been given. 

 A private hire vehicle operator licence may be applied for by a company or 
partnership; licensing authorities should apply the ‘fit and proper’ test to each of 
the directors or partners in that company or partnership. For this to be effective 

Page 115

Agenda Item 8



 

30 
 

private hire vehicle operators should be required to advise the licensing authority 
of any change in directors or partners. 

 As explained earlier in the context of driver licensing, the DBS cannot access 
criminal records held overseas. Further information on assessing the suitability of 
those that have spent extended periods in overseas is provided in paragraphs 
4.34 - 4.36. 

Booking and dispatch staff 

 Private hire vehicle drivers are not the only direct contact that private hire vehicle 
users have with private hire vehicle operators’ staff, for example a person taking 
bookings (be it by phone or in person). A vehicle dispatcher decides which driver 
to send to a user, a position that could be exploited by those seeking to exploit 
children and vulnerable adults. It is therefore appropriate that all staff that have 
contact with private hire vehicle users and the dispatching of vehicles should not 
present an undue risk to the public or the safeguarding of children and vulnerable 
adults. 

 Licensing authorities should be satisfied that private hire vehicle operators can 
demonstrate that all staff that have contact with the public and/or oversee the 
dispatching of vehicles do not pose a risk to the public. Licensing authorities 
should, as a condition of granting an operator licence, require a register of 
all staff that will take bookings or dispatch vehicles is kept. 

 Operators should be required to evidence that they have had sight of a Basic DBS 
check on all individuals listed on their register of booking and dispatch staff and 
to ensure that Basic DBS checks are conducted on any individuals added to the 
register and that this is compatible with their policy on employing ex-offenders. 
DBS certificates provided by the individual should be recently issued when 
viewed, alternatively the operator could use a ‘responsible organisation’ to 
request the check on their behalf. When individuals start taking bookings and 
dispatching vehicles for an operator they should be required, as part of their 
employment contract, to advise the operator of any convictions while they are 
employed in this role. 

 The register should be a ‘living document’ that maintains records of all those 
in these roles for the same duration as booking records are required to be kept, 
this will enable cross-referencing between the two records. A record that the 
operator has had sight of a basic DBS check certificate (although the certificate 
itself should not be retained) should be retained for the duration that the individual 
remains on the register. Should an employee cease to be on the register and later 
re-entered, a new basic DBS certificate should be requested and sight of this 
recorded. 

 Operators may outsource booking and dispatch functions but they cannot 
pass on the obligation to protect children and vulnerable adults. Operators should 
be required to evidence that comparable protections are applied by the company 
to which they outsource these functions.  

Page 116

Agenda Item 8

https://www.gov.uk/dbs-check-applicant-criminal-record/get-a-basic-dbs-check-for-an-employee


 

31 
 

  Licensing authorities should also require operators or applicants for a licence 
to provide their policy on employing ex-offenders in roles that would be on the 
register as above. As with the threshold to obtaining a private hire vehicle 
operators’ licence, those with a conviction for offences provided in the annex to 
this document (Annex – Assessment of previous convictions), other than those 
relating to driving, may not be suitable to decide who is sent to carry a child or 
vulnerable adult unaccompanied in a car. 

Record keeping 

 Section 56 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 

requires private hire vehicle operators to keep records of the particulars of every 
booking invited or accepted, whether it is from the passenger or at the request of 
another operator. Licensing authorities should as a minimum require private 
hire vehicle operators to record the following information for each booking: 

• the name of the passenger; 

• the time of the request; 

• the pick-up point; 

• the destination; 

• the name of the driver; 

• the driver’s licence number; 

• the vehicle registration number of the vehicle; 

• the name of any individual that responded to the booking request; 

• the name of any individual that dispatched the vehicle. 

 This information will enable the passenger to be traced if this becomes 
necessary and should improve driver security and facilitate enforcement. It is 
suggested that booking records should be retained for a minimum of six months. 

 Private hire vehicle operators have a duty under data protection legislation to 
protect the information they record. The Information Commissioner’s Office 
provides comprehensive on-line guidance on registering as a data controller and 
how to meet their obligations. 

Use of passenger carrying vehicles (PCV) licensed drivers 

 PCV licensed drivers are subject to different checks from taxi and private hire 
vehicle licensed drivers as the work normally undertaken, i.e. driving a bus, does 
not present the same risk to passengers. Members of the public are entitled to 
expect when making a booking with a private hire vehicle operator that they will 
receive a private hire vehicle licensed vehicle and driver. The use of a driver 
who holds a PCV licence and the use of a public service vehicle (PSV) such 

Page 117

Agenda Item 8

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1976/57


 

32 
 

as a minibus to undertake a private hire vehicle booking should not be 
permitted as a condition of the private hire vehicle operator’s licence 
without the informed consent of the booker. 

 Where a private hire vehicle is unsuitable, for example where a larger vehicle 
is needed because more than eight passenger seats required or to accommodate 
luggage, the booker should be informed that a PSV is necessary, and that a PCV 
licenced driver will be used who is subject to different checks and not required to 
have an enhanced DBS check. 

Page 118

Agenda Item 8



 

33 
 

9. Enforcing the Licensing Regime 
 

 Implementing an effective framework for licensing authorities to ensure that as full 
a range of information made available to suitably trained decision makers that are 
supported by well-resourced officials is essential to a well-functioning taxi and 
private hire vehicle sector. These steps will help prevent the licensing of those 
that are not deemed ‘fit and proper’ but does not ensure that those already 
licensed continue to display the behaviours and standards expected. 

Joint authorisation of enforcement officers 

 Licensing authorities should, where the need arises, jointly authorises officers 
from other authorities so that compliance and enforcement action can be taken 
against licensees from outside their area. An agreement between licensing 
authorities to jointly authorise officers enables the use of enforcement powers 
regardless of which authority within the agreement the officer is employed by and 
which issued the licence. This will mitigate the opportunities for drivers to evade 
regulation. Such an agreement will enable those authorities to take action against 
vehicles and drivers that are licensed by the other authority when they cross over 
boundaries. A model for agreeing joint authorisation is contained in the LGA 
Councillors’ handbook. 

Setting expectations and monitoring 

 Licensing authorities should ensure that drivers are aware of the policies that they 
must adhere and are properly informed of what is expected of them and the 
repercussions for failing to do so. Some licensing authorities operate a points-
based system, which allows minor breaches to be recorded and considered in 
context while referring those with persistent or serious breaches to the licensing 
committee. This has the benefit of consistency in enforcement and makes better 
use of the licensing committee’s time.    

 The provision of a clear, simple and well-publicised process for the public to make 
complaints about drivers and operators will enable authorities to target 
compliance and enforcement activity (see paragraphs 4.29 - 4.33). This will 
provide a further source of intelligence when considering the renewal of licences 
and of any additional training that may be required. It is then for the licensing 
authority to consider if any intelligence indicates a need to suspend or revoke a 
licence in the interests of public safety. 

Suspension and revocation of driver licences 

 Section 61 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 
provides a licensing authority with the ability to suspend or revoke a driver’s 
licence on the following grounds: -  

(a) that he has since the grant of the licence—  

Page 119

Agenda Item 8

https://www.local.gov.uk/councillor-handbook-taxi-and-phv-licensing
https://www.local.gov.uk/councillor-handbook-taxi-and-phv-licensing


 

34 
 

(i) been convicted of an offence involving dishonesty, indecency or 
violence; or  

(ii) been convicted of an offence under or has failed to comply with 
the provisions of the Act of 1847 or of this Part of this Act; 

(aa) that he has since the grant of the licence been convicted of an 
immigration offence or required to pay an immigration penalty; or 

(b) any other reasonable cause 

 Licensing authorities have the option to suspend or revoke a licence should 
information be received that causes concern over whether a driver is a fit and 
proper person. Where the licence holder has been served an immigration penalty 
or convicted of an immigration offence the licence should be revoked immediately. 
Guidance for licensing authorities to prevent illegal working in the taxi and private 
hire vehicle sector has been issued by the Home Office. As with the initial decision 
to license a driver, this determination must be reached based on the balance of 
probabilities, not on the burden of beyond reasonable doubt.  

 Before any decision is made, the licensing authority must give full consideration 
to the available evidence and the driver should be given the opportunity to state 
his or her case. If a period of suspension is imposed, it cannot be extended or 
changed to revocation at a later date. 

 A decision to revoke a licence does not however prevent the reissuing of a licence 
should further information be received that alters the balance of probability of a 
decision previously made. The decision to suspend or revoke was based on the 
evidence available at the time the determination was made. New evidence may, 
of course, become available later. 

 New evidence may be produced at an appeal hearing that may result in the court 
reaching a different decision to that reached by the council or an appeal may be 
settled by agreement between the licensing authority and the driver on terms 
which, in the light of new evidence, becomes the appropriate course. If, for 
example, the allegations against a driver were now, on the balance of probability, 
considered to be unfounded, a suspension could be lifted or, if the licence was 
revoked, an expedited re-licensing process used. 

 A suspension may still be appropriate if it is believed that a minor issue can 
be addressed though additional training. In this instance the licence would be 
returned to the driver once the training has been completed without further 
consideration. This approach is clearly not appropriate where the licensing 
authority believes that, based on the information available at that time, on the 
balance of probability it is considered that the driver presents a risk to public 
safety. 

  

Page 120

Agenda Item 8

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/613415/A_Licensing_Authority_guide_to_right_to_work_checks_-_England_and_Wales.pdf


 

35 
 

Annex – Assessment of Previous Convictions 
 

Legislation specifically identifies offences involving dishonesty, indecency or violence as a 
concern when assessing whether an individual is ‘fit and proper’ to hold a taxi or private 
hire vehicle licence. The following recommendations to licensing authorities on previous 
convictions reflect this. 
 
Authorities must consider each case on its own merits, and applicants/licensees are 
entitled to a fair and impartial consideration of their application. Where a period is 
given below, it should be taken to be a minimum in considering whether a licence should 
be granted or renewed in most cases. The Department’s view is that this places passenger 
safety as the priority while enabling past offenders to sufficiently evidence that they have 
been successfully rehabilitated so that they might obtain or retain a licence.  

Crimes resulting in death 
Where an applicant or licensee has been convicted of a crime which resulted in the death 
of another person or was intended to cause the death or serious injury of another person 
they will not be licensed. 

Exploitation 
Where an applicant or licensee has been convicted of a crime involving, related to, or 
has any connection with abuse, exploitation, use or treatment of another individual 
irrespective of whether the victim or victims were adults or children, they will not be 
licensed. This includes slavery, child sexual abuse, exploitation, grooming, 
psychological, emotional or financial abuse, but this is not an exhaustive list. 

Offences involving violence against the person 
Where an applicant has a conviction for an offence of violence against the person, or 
connected with any offence of violence, a licence will not be granted until at least 10 
years have elapsed since the completion of any sentence imposed. 

Possession of a weapon 
Where an applicant has a conviction for possession of a weapon or any other weapon 
related offence, a licence will not be granted until at least seven years have elapsed 
since the completion of any sentence imposed. 

Sexual offences 
Where an applicant has a conviction for any offence involving or connected with illegal 
sexual activity, a licence will not be granted. 
In addition to the above, the licensing authority will not grant a licence to any applicant 
who is currently on the Sex Offenders Register or on any barred list. 

Dishonesty 
Where an applicant has a conviction for any offence where dishonesty is an element of 
the offence, a licence will not be granted until at least seven years have elapsed since 
the completion of any sentence imposed. 

  

Page 121

Agenda Item 8



 

36 
 

Drugs 
Where an applicant has any conviction for, or related to, the supply of drugs, or 
possession with intent to supply or connected with possession with intent to supply, a 
licence will not be granted until at least 10 years have elapsed since the completion of 
any sentence imposed. 
Where an applicant has a conviction for possession of drugs, or related to the possession 
of drugs, a licence will not be granted until at least five years have elapsed since the 
completion of any sentence imposed. In these circumstances, any applicant may also 
have to undergo drugs testing for a period at their own expense to demonstrate that they 
are not using controlled drugs. 

Discrimination 
Where an applicant has a conviction involving or connected with discrimination in any 
form, a licence will not be granted until at least seven years have elapsed since the 
completion of any sentence imposed. 

Motoring convictions 
Hackney carriage and private hire drivers are professional drivers charged with the 
responsibility of carrying the public. It is accepted that offences can be committed 
unintentionally, and a single occurrence of a minor traffic offence would not prohibit the 
granting of a licence. However, applicants with multiple motoring convictions may 
indicate that an applicant does not exhibit the behaviours of a safe road user and one 
that is suitable to drive professionally.   
 
Any motoring conviction while a licensed driver demonstrates that the licensee may not 
take their professional responsibilities seriously. However, it is accepted that offences 
can be committed unintentionally, and a single occurrence of a minor traffic offence may 
not necessitate the revocation of a taxi or private hire vehicle driver licence providing the 
authority considers that the licensee remains a fit and proper person to retain a licence. 

Drink driving/driving under the influence of drugs 
Where an applicant has a conviction for drink driving or driving under the influence of 
drugs, a licence will not be granted until at least seven years have elapsed since the 
completion of any sentence or driving ban imposed. In the case of driving under the 
influence of drugs, any applicant may also have to undergo drugs testing at their own 
expense to demonstrate that they are not using controlled drugs. 
 

Using a hand-held device whilst driving 
Where an applicant has a conviction for using a held‐hand mobile telephone or a hand‐
held device whilst driving, a licence will not be granted until at least five years have 
elapsed since the conviction or completion of any sentence or driving ban imposed, 
whichever is the later. 
 

  

Page 122

Agenda Item 8



37 

Annex – Disclosure and Barring Service information 

Table 1: Information included in criminal record checks 

Information included Type of check 

Basic 
check 

Standard 
DBS check 

Enhanced 
DBS check 

Enhanced DBS 
(including 
barred list) 

check 

Unspent convictions         Yes Yes Yes Yes 

Unspent cautions 1 Yes Yes Yes Yes 

Spent convictions2 No Yes Yes Yes 

Spent cautions 1 & 2   No Yes Yes Yes 

Additional police 
Information 3 

No No Yes Yes 

Barred list(s)       
Information 4 

No No No Yes 

1. Does not include fixed penalty notices, penalty notices for disorder or any other
police or other out-of-court disposals.

2. Spent convictions and cautions that have become protected under the
Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 1974 (Exceptions Order) 1975, as amended, are
not automatically disclosed on any level of certificate.  Further guidance is
available the DBS filtering guide.

3. This is any additional information held by the police which a chief police officer
reasonably believes to be relevant and considers ought to be disclosed.

4. This is information as to whether the individual concerned is included in the
children’s or adults’ barred lists maintained by the Disclosure and Barring Service
(DBS).

Page 123

Agenda Item 8

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/dbs-filtering-guidance/dbs-filtering-guide


 

   38 
 

Annex – CCTV Guidance 
 

It is important to note that, in most circumstances, a licensing authority which mandates the 
installation of CCTV systems in taxis and private hire vehicles will be responsible for the 
data – the data controller. It is important that data controllers fully consider concerns 
regarding privacy and licensing authorities should consider how systems are configured, 
should they mandate CCTV (with or without audio recording). For example, vehicles may 
not be exclusively used for business, also serving as a car for personal use - it should 
therefore be possible to manually switch the system off (both audio and visual recording) 
when not being used for hire. Authorities should consider the Information Commissioner’s 
view on this matter that, in most cases, a requirement for continuous operation is unlikely 
to be fair and lawful processing of personal data. 
 
The Home Office ‘Surveillance Camera Code of Practice’ advises that government is fully 
supportive of the use of overt surveillance cameras in a public place whenever that use is: 

• in pursuit of a legitimate aim; 
• necessary to meet a pressing need; 
• proportionate; 
• effective, and; 
• compliant with any relevant legal obligations 

 
The Code also sets out 12 guiding principles which, as a ‘relevant authority’ under section 
33(5) of the Protection of Freedoms Act 2012, licensing authorities must have regard to. It 
must be noted that, where a licence is granted subject to CCTV system conditions, the 
licensing authority assumes the role and responsibility of ‘System Operator’. The role 
requires consideration of all guiding principles in this code. The failure to comply with these 
principles may be detrimental to the use of CCTV evidence in court as this may be raised 
within disclosure to the Crown Prosecution Service and may be taken into account. 
 
The Surveillance Camera Commissioner (SCC) has provided guidance on the Surveillance 
Camera Code of Practice in its ‘Passport to Compliance’ which provides guidance on the 
necessary stages when planning, implementing and operating a surveillance camera 
system to ensure it complies with the code. The Information Commissioner’s Office (ICO) 
has also published a code of practice which, in this context, focuses on the data governance 
requirement associated with the use of CCTV such as data retention and disposal, which it 
is important to follow in order to comply with the data protection principles. The SCC 
provides a self-assessment tool to assist operators to ensure compliance with the principles 
set of in the Surveillance Camera Code of Practice. The SCC also operate a certification 
scheme; authorities that obtain this accreditation are able to clearly demonstrate that their 
systems conform to the SCC’s best practice and are fully compliant with the Code and 
increase public confidence that any risks to their privacy have been fully considered and 
mitigated.  
 
The Data Protection Act 2018 regulates the use of personal data. Part 2 of the Data 
Protection Act applies to the general processing of personal data, and references and 
supplements the General Data Protection Regulation. Licensing authorities, as data 
controllers, must comply with all relevant aspects of data protection law. Particular attention 
should be paid to the rights of individuals which include the right to be informed, of access 

Page 124

Agenda Item 8

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/surveillance-camera-code-of-practice
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2012/9/section/33/enacted
https://departmentfortransportuk.sharepoint.com/sites/BusTaxi/Taxis/Control%20of%20Taxis%20and%20PHV/STATUTORY%20GUIDANCE%20(2019)/FINAL%20VERSION%20DOCUMENTS%20(2019)/government/public
https://ico.org.uk/media/for-organisations/documents/1542/cctv-code-of-practice.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/surveillance-camera-code-of-practice-self-assessment-tool
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/surveillance-camera-code-of-practice-third-party-certification-scheme
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/surveillance-camera-code-of-practice-third-party-certification-scheme
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2018/12/contents/enacted


 

39 
 

and to erasure. The ICO has provided detailed guidance on how data controllers can ensure 
compliance with these. 
 
It is a further requirement of data protection law that before implementing a proposal that is 
likely to result in a high risk to the rights and freedoms of people, an impact assessment on 
the protection of personal data shall be carried out. The ICO recommends in guidance that 
if there is any doubt as to whether a Data Protection Impact Assessment (DPIA) is required 
one should be conducted to ensure compliance and encourage best practice. A DPIA will 
also help to assess properly the anticipated benefits of installing CCTV (to passengers and 
drivers) and the associated privacy risks; these risks might be mitigated by having 
appropriate privacy information and signage, secure storage and access controls, retention 
policies, training for staff how to use the system, etc.  
 
It is essential to ensure that all recordings made are secure and can only be accessed by 
those with legitimate grounds to do so. This would normally be the police if investigating an 
alleged crime or the licensing authority if investigating a complaint or data access request. 
Encryption of the recording to which the licensing authority, acting as the data controller, 
holds the key, mitigates this issue and protects against theft of the vehicle or device. It is 
one of the guiding principles of data protection legislation, that personal data (including in 
this context, CCTV recordings and other potentially sensitive passenger information) is 
handled securely in a way that ‘ensures appropriate security’, including protection against 
unauthorised or unlawful processing and against accidental loss, destruction or damage, 
using appropriate technical or organisational measures. 
 
All passengers must be made fully aware if CCTV is operating in a vehicle. Given that audio 
recording is considered to be more privacy intrusive, it is even more important that 
individuals are fully aware and limited only to occasions when passengers (or drivers) 
consider it necessary. The recording of audio should be used to provide an objective record 
of events such as disputes or inappropriate behaviour and must not be continuously active 
by default and should recognise the need for privacy of passengers’ private conversations 
between themselves. Activation of the audio recording capability of a system might be 
instigated when either the passenger or driver operates a switch or button. As well as clear 
signage in vehicles, information on booking systems should be introduced. This might be 
text on a website, scripts or automated messages on telephone systems; the Information 
Commissioner’s Office (ICO) has issued guidance on privacy information and the right to 
be informed on its website. 
  

Page 125

Agenda Item 8

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/individual-rights/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-data-protection/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/security/


 

40 
 

Annex - Staying Safe: Guidance for Passengers 
 
Licensing authorities should provide guidance to assist passengers in identifying licensed 
vehicles and the increased risks of using unlicensed vehicles. The guidance might include 
advice on: 
 

• how to tell if a taxi or private hire vehicle is licensed. 
 
Educate the public in the differences between taxis and private hire vehicles e.g.: 
 

• a taxi can be flagged down or pre-booked. 
• a private hire vehicle that has not been pre-booked should not be used as it will not 

be insured and may not be licensed. 
• what a private hire vehicle should look like e.g. colour, signage, licence plates etc. 
• the benefit of pre-booking a return vehicle before going out. 
• arrange to be picked up from a safe meeting point. 
• requesting at the time of booking what the fare is likely to be. 

 
When using a private hire vehicle, passengers should always: 
 

• book with a licensed operator. 
• confirm their booking with the driver when s/he arrives. 
• note the licence number. 
• sit in the back, behind the driver. 
• let a third party know details of their journey. 

 
When using a taxi, passengers should where possible: 
 

• use a taxi rank and choose one staffed by taxi marshals if available. 
 

Page 126

Agenda Item 8



Report to: Licensing and 
Regulatory 
Committee

Date of Meeting: Monday 7 
September

Subject: Taxi Licensing Performance Report 2019/20

Report of: Head of Highways 
& Public Protection

Wards Affected:

Portfolio: Regulatory, Compliance and Corporate Services

Is this a Key 
Decision:

N Included in 
Forward Plan:

No

Exempt / 
Confidential 
Report:

N

Summary:

To report the progress of the Taxi Licensing service during 2019/20.

Recommendation(s):

(1) Note the contents of this report; and

(2) Request that similar reports be brought on an annual basis.

Reasons for the Recommendation(s):

In order that the Licensing & Regulatory Committee can have an overview of the work 
carried out by the Taxi Licensing Service.

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: (including any Risk Implications)

None

What will it cost and how will it be financed?

(A) Revenue Costs

None

(B) Capital Costs 

None

Implications of the Proposals:

Resource Implications (Financial, IT, Staffing and Assets):

Page 127

Agenda Item 9



The cost of the service is wholly recovered from the ring-fenced Taxi Licensing Trade 
Account (Revenue Budget BD12).

Legal Implications:

Equality Implications:

There are no equality implications. 

Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose:

Protect the most vulnerable:

Facilitate confident and resilient communities:

Commission, broker and provide core services: Provide update on taxi licensing service 
provision.

Place – leadership and influencer:

Drivers of change and reform:

Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity:

Greater income for social investment: 

Cleaner Greener

What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when?

(A) Internal Consultations

The Executive Director Corporate Resources and Customer Services (FD.6107/20) and 
Chief Legal and Democratic Services Officer (LD4299/20) have been consulted and any 
comments have been incorporated into the report.

(B) External Consultations 

None

Implementation Date for the Decision

Immediately following the Committee meeting

Page 128

Agenda Item 9



Contact Officer: Mark Toohey
Telephone Number: Tel: Ext 2274
Email Address: mark.toohey@sefton.gov.uk

Appendices:

There are no appendices to this report

Background Papers:

There are no background papers available for inspection.

Page 129

Agenda Item 9



Background

1.1 The Taxi Licensing Service comprises two distinct service elements:

a) The licensing function, administered through the Council’s two One Stop 
Shops (OSS); and

b) The ‘Enforcement’ function provided by the Environmental Health and 
Licensing Section.

1.2 Policy is determined and reviewed by the Council’s Licensing & Regulatory 
Committee and client feedback provided by an established trade consultation 
regime.

1.3 The primary role of taxi licensing is to ensure the safety of the travelling public by 
ensuring the drivers, operators and vehicles meet standards of safety and good 
conduct.

1.4 To become a licensed driver in Sefton, all new applicants must satisfy the 
following;

 A full driving licence (DVLA, EU or Northern Ireland only). A “fee-paid” driver 
record check is compulsory to check current entitlement to drive

 A full vocational (DVLA Group II) medical examination obtained via the applicant’s 
General Practitioner or a registered Doctor provided they have access to the 
applicant’s medical records at the time of the examination. Medicals are currently 
required on first licensing, on reaching 45 years of age, then 55 years of age and 
on reaching 65 years of age and every 3 years thereafter.

 A “fee-paid” satisfactory Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) “Enhanced” 
disclosure. EU applicants may be permitted a short-term licence provided they 
can produce a “Certificate of Good Conduct” from their last country of residence 
until an “Enhanced” DBS certificate can be provided.

 A VRQ level 2 qualification in ‘Transporting Passengers by Taxi and Private Hire’.
 It is a requirement of all new driver applications to take a ‘Knowledge of 

Conditions Test’ in addition to the VRQ qualification. Both must be obtained 
without the aid of an interpreter and the pass mark is 70%

 Evidence that the applicant is legally entitled to work in the UK

1.5 All vehicles must obtain a ‘certificate of compliance’ from an approved testing 
station which is the equivalent of the current Department for Transport MOT plus 
extra checks on the condition and appearance of the vehicle.

2. Licence Numbers & Applications

2.1 The below tables show a summary of the numbers of licences in force during 
2019/20;

Page 130

Agenda Item 9



Licence Totals 2019/20

2.2 The total number of licences increased by 1,979 over the year. During 2018/19, 
the total number of licences increased by 2,245 and 2017/18 saw an increase of 
1,045 licences. This is an increase of 5,269 licences during the last three years.

2.3 The following is a summary of the total number of licensing applications and 
knowledge tests handled in the One Stop Shop;

Vehicle Applications 2019/20

New applications 2,494
Renewals 3,830
Transfers 278
Variations 713
Total 7,315

Driver Applications

New applications 3,176
Renewals 2,051
Total 5,227

Knowledge Tests

Tests completed 3664
Tests passed 1816
Pass rate 50%

2.4 The number of non-attendees for the knowledge test was 1,250

Type Apr-19 May-19 Jun-19 Jul-19 Aug-19 Sep-19
Hackney Carriage Driver 323 325 326 329 331 332
Hackney Carriage Vehicle 270 270 271 271 272 271
Private Hire Driver 5,374 5,490 5,611 5,753 5,828 5,915
Private Hire Operator 101 99 105 103 102 108
Private Hire Vehicle 4,689 4,748 4,802 4,887 4,955 5,015
Total 10757 10932 11115 11343 11488 11641

Type Oct-19 Nov-19 Dec-19 Jan-20 Feb-20 Mar-20
Hackney Carriage Driver 335 334 333 331 331 328
Hackney Carriage Vehicle 271 271 270 269 268 268
Private Hire Driver 6,029 6,159 6,243 6,307 6,398 6,517
Private Hire Operator 112 110 110 111 110 114
Private Hire Vehicle 5,108 5,226 5,334 5,418 5,461 5,509
Total 11855 12100 12290 12436 12568 12736

Page 131

Agenda Item 9



3. Driver Licence Appeals, Breaches and Panel Decisions

3.1 Before the Council grants any driver licence, applicants have to demonstrate they 
are a ‘fit and proper person’ to hold that licence. The Council requires all drivers 
(new and renewals) to obtain an enhanced Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) 
report which will contain information about any criminal records including motoring 
convictions. 

3.2 If the applicants report potentially breaches Council Policy, then the application 
will normally be refused. If an applicant appeals this decision, the first step in the 
decision-making process is for the Council to review the original decision made 
during the application process at the One Stop Shop. 

3.3 A review of the original decision is considered by a panel of officers who review 
the application data and hear representations from the applicants. The appeals 
panel have received details of 166 cases relating to new applicants. Out of these 
new applications, 20 drivers have had licences issued whilst 99 have been 
refused. 

3.4 Out of the applicants refused, 7 appealed to the Magistrates Court and 3 cases 
have successfully been issued with a licence by the court whilst 4 were refused. 
Due to the coronavirus lockdown, a number of licence applications remain 
undetermined as the council is currently unable to process new applicants.

3.5 The panel is also convened to consider reports and allegations of misconduct by 
existing licence holders. In 2019/20 the panel considered 79 cases which led to 9 
suspensions and 46 revocations. 

3.6 Typical reasons for refusing or revoking a licence include the possession or 
supply of drugs, theft, violence, offensive weapons, sexual offences and driving 
offences including drink & drug driving. 

4. Hackney Carriage & Private Hire Vehicle Checks

4.1 Vehicle checks are an integral part of the Council’s enforcement regime. The 
checks are carried out to ensure vehicles are safe. At the time of every vehicle 
licence application or renewal, a satisfactory test certificate from a Council 
approved testing station has to accompany the application. Once a licence is 
granted, vehicles are subject to ongoing checks throughout the duration of the 
licence period.

4.2 During the period 1 April 2019 to 31 March 2020, a total of 491 vehicle inspections 
were carried out.

4.3 The outcomes of the checks can be summarised as follows:

a) Hackney Carriage on Street Inspections / Pre-Planned Inspections
 32 vehicles inspected
 65% Fault Free – 4 vehicle defect notices issued, 6 stop/suspension notices 

issued.

b) Private Hire on Street Inspections / Pre-Planned Inspections
Page 132

Agenda Item 9



 459 vehicles inspected
 60% Fault Free – 147 vehicle defect notices issued, 53 stop/suspension 

notices issued.

4.4 Lighting, bodywork, interior condition, wheels and tyres remain the most common 
faults.

5. Prosecutions

5.1 During the year the Council carries out targeted enforcement exercises to deter 
rogue drivers from illegally plying for hire. Offenders are typically ‘non-Sefton’ 
hackney carriage vehicles plying for hire within Sefton or private hire vehicles 
taking a fare without a pre-booking. In 2019/20 there were no prosecutions for 
plying for hire compared with 6 prosecutions the previous year. There are 
currently 2 prosecutions pending relating to unlicensed operators and drivers.

6. Requests for Service

6.1 The service dealt with 1,621 various requests for service, complaints or enquiries. 
Below is a summary of the main subjects dealt with;

 85 new operator enquiries & checks
 26 exemption certificate applications & enquiries
 137 general requests for advice
 85 document irregularities
 44 unlicensed activity complaints
 144 driving style complaints
 208 complaints regarding driver conduct or appearance
 20 lost property enquiries
 375 vehicle advice requests
 21 overcharging complaints
 148 vehicle accident reports
 12 notification of convictions
 161 public body enquiries
 2 guide dog refusal complaints
 4 solicitor enquiries
 36 plate/livery enquiries

7. Impact of Coronavirus

7.1 Vehicles. The One Stop Shops closed to the public at the end of March 2020 but 
continued to process vehicle licence and plate renewals. This was possible due to 
the invaluable support and co-operation of the vehicle testing stations. All new and 
renewal vehicles licences can now be issued by the One Stop Shop.

7.2 Drivers. All driver licences were automatically renewed for a further 6 months but 
we are currently unable to accept applications for new driver licences but this will 
hopefully be resumed shortly.

7.3 Operators. All operator licences were automatically renewed for a further 6 
months.

Page 133

Agenda Item 9



7.4 Payments. Due to the automatic renewal of licences, there are a number of 
licences that still have an outstanding payment. New telephony software allowing 
staff to process payments from home is now in place so these outstanding 
payments are being collected.

8. Summary & the Year Ahead

8.1 The proactive approach adopted by the Taxi Licensing Unit is the key factor in 
ensuring the quality of hackney carriage and private hire vehicles and hence the 
safety of the travelling public. 

8.2 The service will continue its ‘plying for hire’ exercises and will target vehicle 
defects by carrying out district vehicle checks when possible.

8.3 Service provision will need to be modified due to coronavirus restrictions and work 
is underway in relation to online applications, appointment only interviews, 
electronic payments and a range of other modifications. The current priority for the 
council is to resume its normal services in the safest way possible and the trade 
will be advised of how we aim to achieve this. 

8.4 Further reports will be presented to the Licensing & Regulatory Committee 
detailing any service enhancements as they take place.

Page 134

Agenda Item 9



Report to: Licensing and 
Regulatory 
Committee

Date of Meeting: Monday, 15 June 
2020

Subject: Local Licensing: Performance Report 2019/20

Report of: Head of Highways 
and Public 
Protection 

Wards Affected: (All Wards);

Portfolio:

Is this a Key 
Decision:

N Included in 
Forward Plan:

N

Exempt / 
Confidential 
Report:

N

Summary:

To report the progress against the 2019/20 Local Licensing Service Plan.

Recommendation(s):

That Licensing and Regulatory Committee: 

i) Notes this report; and
ii) Requests that similar reports be brought on an annual basis.

Reasons for the Recommendation(s):

In order that the Licensing & Regulatory Committee can have an overview of the work 
carried out by the Local Licensing Unit.

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: (including any Risk Implications)

None

What will it cost and how will it be financed?

(A) Revenue Costs

There are no direct financial implications associated with the report.

(B) Capital Costs

There are no direct financial implications associated with this report.

Page 135

Agenda Item 10



Implications of the Proposals:

Resource Implications (Financial, IT, Staffing and Assets):

None

Legal Implications:

None

Equality Implications:

There are no equality implications. 

Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose:

Protect the most vulnerable: Yes

Facilitate confident and resilient communities:

Commission, broker and provide core services: Yes

Place – leadership and influencer:

Drivers of change and reform:

Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity:

Greater income for social investment: 

Cleaner Greener

What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when?

(A) Internal Consultations

The Executive Director of Corporate Resources and Customers Services has been 
consulted and notes the report indicates no direct financial implications for the Council.  
(FD 6007 /20).

The Chief Legal and Democratic Officer has also been consulted with regard to any legal 
implications and any comments have been incorporated into the report.  (LD 4190/20).

(B) External Consultations 

None.

Implementation Date for the Decision

Immediately following the Committee meeting.

Page 136

Agenda Item 10



Contact Officer: Kevin Coady
Telephone Number: Tel: 0151 934 2946
Email Address: kevin.coady@sefton.gov.uk

Appendices:

None.

Background Papers:

There are no background papers available for inspection.

1. Details of licensing applications accepted for process 

1.1 During the period 1 April 2019 to 31 March 2020 962 applications were accepted 
for process under the Licensing Act 2003 (“the LA03”), this representing an 8% 
decrease over the 1,046 applications received during the equivalent 12 month 
period for 2018/2019.

1.2 Under the Gambling Act 2005 (“the GA05”), 32 applications were accepted for 
process, this representing a 16% decrease over the 38 applications received 
during the equivalent 12 month period for 2018/2019.

1.3 With respect to general licensing applications (pet shops, animal welfare, scrap 
metal dealers, personal treatment registrations etc.), 132 applications were 
received, this representing a 17% decrease over the 158 applications received 
during the equivalent 12 month period for 2018/2019.

1.4 With respect to permit applications for street collections, 70 applications were 
received, this representing a 35% decrease over the 108 applications received 
during the equivalent 12 month period for 2018/2019.

1.5 With respect to those permit applications for house to house collections, 39 
applications were received, this representing a 95% increase over the 20 
applications received during the equivalent 12 month period for 2018/2019.

2. Advertisement of certain LA03 applications

2.1 In order to ensure that Grant and Variation applications are brought to residents’ / 
businesses’ attention, since 25 April 2012 (via legislation introduced into the LA03 
by The Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011) the Licensing Unit has 
been required to advertise these types of applications on the Council website (this 
is in addition to the existing provisions which were retained whereby the applicant 
has to advertise the application in a newspaper and on the premises).

2.2 In respect of Sefton these Notices can be found via a dedicated page on the 
Council website via:

www.sefton.gov.uk/business/licensing-registration/entertainment,-alcohol-and-
late-night-refreshment/licensing-act-public-notices.aspx.

Page 137

Agenda Item 10

http://www.sefton.gov.uk/business/licensing-registration/entertainment,-alcohol-and-late-night-refreshment/licensing-act-public-notices.aspx
http://www.sefton.gov.uk/business/licensing-registration/entertainment,-alcohol-and-late-night-refreshment/licensing-act-public-notices.aspx


2.3 During the relevant period there were 47 applications received which required 
such advertisement; these comprised of 32 Grant applications and 15 Variation 
applications, this representing a 25% decrease over the 63 applications received 
during the equivalent 12 month period for 2018/2019.

3. Sefton’s LA03 leafleting notification scheme

3.1 This scheme was formally adopted by Members at their Meeting on 6 June 2011. 
The scheme involves the Licensing Unit going over and above the advertising 
provisions of the LA03 by proactively informing those occupiers and owners of 
properties with curtilages abutting premises, who have made certain applications 
under the LA03, of the fact of that application.

3.2 As a consequence Licensing Officers sent out a total of 252 notifications to 
residents / businesses; the average being 6 notifications sent per application.

3.3 The Licensing Unit received no objections from residents / businesses leafletted 
as a result of this activity. 

4. Reports submitted to Licensing Sub-Committee

4.1 During the relevant period 9 Reports were submitted by the Unit for consideration 
by the Licensing Sub-Committee, this representing a 29% increase over the 7 
Reports submitted during the equivalent 12 month period for 2018/2019.

5. Details of Reviews held

5.1 During the relevant period no premise licence review applications were received, 
this representing no change from the equivalent 12 month period for 2018/2019.

5.2 During the relevant period 4 personal licence reviews were heard, this 
representing a 300% increase over the 1 personal licence review heard during the 
equivalent 12 month period for 2018/2019.

6. Details of LA03 Licences surrendered

6.1 At their Meeting on 19 November 2012 Members RESOLVED that any future 
Performance Reports should “provide details of surrendered Licences”.

6.2 During the period 1 April 2019 to 31 March 2020 18 Licences were surrendered, 
this representing a 14% decrease over the 21 Licences which were surrendered 
during the equivalent 12 month period for 2018/2019.

7. Programmed inspections

7.1 The guidance issued under Section 182 of the LA03 states that the “2003 Act 
does not require inspections to take place save at the discretion of those charged 
with this role. Principles of risk assessment and targeted inspection (in line with 
the recommendations of the Hampton review) should prevail”.

Page 138

Agenda Item 10



7.2 The guidance issued under Section 25 of the GA05 states that local authorities 
“should adopt a risk-based approach when determining the frequency at which 
gambling premises are to be inspected”.

7.3 In implementing both inspection regimes Sefton has adopted these recommended 
approaches.

7.4 The following number of inspections were undertaken between 1 April 2019 and 
31 March 2020:

Inspection Regime Number of inspections 
for year

Licensing Act 2003 107
Gambling Act 2005     3

LGMPA 1982     1

7.5 During the inspections themselves, licensing officers carry out a proactive audit of 
the premise against its licensing conditions reviewing the suitability of the licence 
conditions against current use as well as reviewing any mandatory conditions 
imposed by the LA03 or the GA05 as applicable.

7.6 Officers also actively promote Council initiatives such as ‘Knock Back’ as well as 
the continued usage of the Council Door Supervisor Logbooks, the Designated 
Premise Supervisor delegation forms as well as continuing to publicise the Drink 
Less Enjoy More initiative.

8. Details of Service Requests received

8.1 During the relevant period the Unit received and dealt with 864 service requests. 
This representing a 3% decrease over the 891 service requests received during 
the equivalent 12 month period for 2018/2019. Of these 24 took the form of LA03 
complaints.

8.2 With regard to the Doorman Logbooks the Unit dealt with 18 requests for 
Logbooks to be dispatched, with 1 request for a “Knock Back” pack to be 
despatched also received.

8.3 Of the remaining service requests the following were requests to the section for 
guidance, advice or information: 536 under the LA03, 50 under the GA05, with 
235 under general licensing.

8.4 All of the above matters were attended to within the departmental timescales laid 
down for such matters.

Page 139

Agenda Item 10



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to: Licensing and 
Regulatory 
Committee

Date of Meeting: Monday 7 
September 2020

Subject: Determinations made under the Licensing Act 2003 and the 
Gambling Act 2005: period covering 29 February 2020 to 7 
August 2020

Report of: Head of Highways 
and Public 
Protection

Wards Affected: (All Wards);

Portfolio:

Is this a Key 
Decision:

N Included in 
Forward Plan:

N

Exempt / 
Confidential 
Report:

N

Summary:

To update Members regarding those applications, made under the Licensing Act 2003 
and the Gambling Act 2005, that have been determined by Officers.

Recommendation(s):

That Members:

i) note this Report and its contents;
ii) note that further Reports will be brought forward to up date Members as and when 

necessary.

Reasons for the Recommendation(s):

The Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 2014 requires that a written 
record of delegated decisions that would otherwise be made by a committee be 
published to the Council’s website. The publication of this report satisfies that 
requirement for the delegated decisions made in relation to the administration of the 
Licensing Act 2003 and the Gambling Act 2005.

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: (including any Risk Implications)

None

What will it cost and how will it be financed?

(A) Revenue Costs

There are no financial costs associated with the proposals in this report

Page 141

Agenda Item 11



(B) Capital Costs

There are no financial costs associated with the proposals in this report

Implications of the Proposals:

Resource Implications (Financial, IT, Staffing and Assets):

None

Legal Implications:

None

Equality Implications:

There are no equality implications. 

Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose:

Protect the most vulnerable: Yes

Facilitate confident and resilient communities:

Commission, broker and provide core services: Yes

Place – leadership and influencer:

Drivers of change and reform:

Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity:

Greater income for social investment: 

Cleaner Greener

What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when?

(A) Internal Consultations

The Executive Director Corporate Resources and Customer Services has been 
consulted and notes the report indicates no direct financial implications for the Council.  
(FD 6087/20).

The Chief Legal and Democratic Officer has also been consulted with regard to any legal 
implications and any comments have been incorporated into the report.  (LD 4269/20).

(B) External Consultations 

None.

Page 142

Agenda Item 11



Implementation Date for the Decision

Immediately following the Committee meeting.

Contact Officer: Kevin Coady
Telephone Number: Tel: 0151 934 2946
Email Address: kevin.coady@sefton.gov.uk

Appendices:

Annex 1: Numbers determined – Licensing Act 2003
Annex 2: Numbers determined – Gambling Act 2005

Background Papers:

There are no background papers available for inspection.

1. Background

1.1 Members will recall that the Statement of Licensing Policy (issued under the 
Licensing Act 2003) and the Statement of Gambling Licensing Policy (issued 
under the Gambling Act 2005) both follow the recommended delegation of 
functions contained within the Guidance issued under Section 182 of the 
Licensing Act 2003 and the Guidance issued under Section 25 of the Gambling 
Act 2005.

1.2 In effect this means that where there are no relevant representations to 
applications then these matters are dealt with by Officers. This ensures that 
decisions and functions, particularly for non-contentious applications and purely 
administrative functions, are taken or carried out in a speedy, efficient and cost-
effective way.

1.3 The Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 2014 requires that a 
written record of delegated decisions that would otherwise be made by a 
committee be published to the Council’s website. The publication of this report 
satisfies that requirement for the delegated decisions made in relation to the 
administration of the Licensing Act 2003 and the Gambling Act 2005.

2. Numbers determined – Licensing Act 2003

2.1 During the period 29 February 2020 to 7 August 2020 the following number of 
applications have been determined under this Act:

 Applications made under Premise Licences 76
 Applications made under Personal Licences 32
 Notification of Temporary Event Notices 19
 Notification of Late Temporary Event Notices 12   

2.2. Details of determinations made under Premise Licences are attached within  
Annex 1 to this Report.

Page 143

Agenda Item 11



3. Numbers determined – Gambling Act 2005

3.1 During the period 29 February 2020 to 7 August 2020 the following number of 
applications have been determined under this Act:

 Notifications given for Licensed Premises Automatic Gaming 1
 Applications made under Club Machine Permits 1

3.2. Details of determinations made under the above are attached within Annex 2 to 
this Report.

Page 144

Agenda Item 11



name address2 address3 action closeddate 
Pacific Hotel 168 Linacre Road Litherland Variation of DPS  03/03/2020 
Marks and Spencer Unit 4 Aintree Retail & Business 

Park 
Ormskirk Road, 
Aintree 

Minor Variation      06/03/2020 

Tenpin Southport Ocean Plaza Marine Drive Variation of DPS  06/03/2020 
West Lancashire Yacht Clubhouse Marine Drive Southport Grant      09/03/2020 
Iceland Frozen Foods Plc 28-30 Chapel Lane Formby Variation of DPS  10/03/2020 
Bargain Booze 2 Liverpool Avenue Ainsdale Variation of DPS  11/03/2020 
Co-op Late Shop 99 Deyes Lane Maghull Variation of DPS  11/03/2020 
The Shrimper Fylde Road Southport Variation of DPS  12/03/2020 
Kalash Divine Indian 1-5 Lord Street Southport Change of Name and/or Address           16/03/2020 
The Metro 3 Portland Street Southport Transfer 16/03/2020 
Adana BBQ 60 South Road Waterloo Licence Holder Transfer & Variation of 

DPS       
20/03/2020 

Morrisons Daily 115 Marshside Road Southport Minor Variation      23/03/2020 
Greek Taverna Crete 20A Gordon Street Southport Licence Holder Transfer & Variation of 

DPS       
24/03/2020 

Rumah 51 Weld Road Birkdale Removal of DPS   25/03/2020 
Bliss Hotel Promenade Southport Variation   26/03/2020 
D & S Food and Wine 65 Marsh Lane Bootle Licence Holder Transfer & Variation of 

DPS       
26/03/2020 

Co-op Late Shop 1-3 Mersey Road Crosby Minor Variation      27/03/2020 
Spitfire Pub & Kitchen Kenilworth Road Ainsdale Licence Holder Transfer & Variation of 

DPS       
30/03/2020 

Eight Degrees 8D Moor Lane Crosby Licence Holder Transfer & Variation of 
DPS       

31/03/2020 

New Pleasureland Marine Drive Southport Minor Variation      31/03/2020 
Tesco 108 Sefton Road Litherland Variation of DPS  06/04/2020 
Spitroast Ltd 104 South Road Waterloo Variation   07/04/2020 
Esso Petrol Station 103 College Road Crosby Variation of DPS  15/04/2020 
Tesco Stores 42-46 Eastbank Street Southport Variation of DPS  16/04/2020 

ANNEX 1

P
age 145

A
genda Item

 11



Malthurst Town Lane 258 Scarisbrick New Road Southport Variation of DPS                                   17/04/2020 
Co-Operative Food 1 Station Road Ainsdale Variation of DPS                                   20/04/2020 
Rumah 51 Weld Road Birkdale Licence Holder Transfer & Variation of 

DPS         
22/04/2020 

Bootle Music Festival Grounds 2 Irlam Road Bootle Grant                                              23/04/2020 
Tesco Express Unit 1 23 Edge Lane Crosby Variation of DPS                                   05/05/2020 
Duke Convenience 71/71b Duke Street Southport Grant                                              06/05/2020 
Co-operative 142a Cambridge Road Southport Variation of DPS                                   11/05/2020 
Nutelle Bar 70 Stanley Road Bootle Grant                                              27/05/2020 
S S Peter & Paul Parochial Club 161 Liverpool Road Crosby Variation of DPS                                   28/05/2020 
Tesco Stores Limited Unit 9/10 Sherwood House, 

Station Road 
Ainsdale Variation of DPS                                   28/05/2020 

Morrisons Filling Station Winter Gardens Lord Street Southport Variation of DPS                                   29/05/2020 
Timberwolf Grind & Tap 44 South Road Waterloo Minor Variation                                    29/05/2020  

79 Coronation Road Crosby Minor Variation                                    15/06/2020 
Danny's General Store 95 Stanley Road Bootle Grant                                              16/06/2020 
Savers 100 South Road Waterloo Variation of DPS                                   19/06/2020 
Frankie & Benny's Ormskirk Road Aintree Transfer                                           22/06/2020 
Chiquito Mexican Grill & Bar Unit 8 Ocean Plaza Marine Drive Transfer                                           24/06/2020 
Skylight 459 Lord Street Southport Licence Holder Transfer & Variation of 

DPS         
26/06/2020 

Aintree Gin Limited Unit 10, Bechers Business Centre Heysham Road, 
Netherton 

Grant                                              29/06/2020 

Great Himalayas Nepalese Restaurant 
and Bar 

665 Lord Street Southport Transfer                                           01/07/2020 

Southport Theatre & Convention 
Centre 

Promenade Southport Transfer                                           06/07/2020 

The Alexandra 194-196 Marsh Lane Bootle Minor Variation                                    08/07/2020 
Bar Eleven 11A West Street Southport Minor Variation                                    09/07/2020 
Beaconsfield Club Strand Road Bootle Variation                                          10/07/2020 
Freshfield Hotel 1 Massams Lane Formby Variation of DPS                                   10/07/2020 

P
age 146

A
genda Item

 11



Netherton Snooker Club 1A The Marian Square Netherton Variation of DPS                                   10/07/2020 
Chiquito Mexican Grill & Bar Unit 8 Ocean Plaza Marine Drive Removal of DPS                                     13/07/2020 
No 4 4 Liverpool Road Birkdale Grant                                              13/07/2020 
Ainsdale Sports Club 772 Liverpool Road Ainsdale Variation                                          17/07/2020 
Marine Football Club College Road Crosby Variation of DPS                                   17/07/2020 
Morrisons Lord Street Southport Variation                                          20/07/2020  

15 The Cloisters, Halsall Lane Formby Grant                                              21/07/2020 
Bargain Booze 2 Liverpool Avenue Ainsdale Variation of DPS                                   23/07/2020 
Marks and Spencer Unit 4 Aintree Retail & Business 

Park 
Ormskirk Road, 
Aintree 

Variation                                          23/07/2020 

The Liver Public House 137 South Road Waterloo Variation of DPS                                   24/07/2020 
Tesco Stores 42-46 Eastbank Street Southport Variation of DPS                                   24/07/2020 
Thorougoods 597-599 Lord Street Southport Variation of DPS                                   24/07/2020 
Delish 44 Brows Lane Formby Licence Holder Transfer & Variation of 

DPS         
27/07/2020 

The New Hideout 1a Hoghton Place Southport Transfer                                           27/07/2020 
Bargain Booze 278 Liverpool Road Birkdale Variation of DPS                                   28/07/2020 
Asda Supermarket Orrell Lane Bootle Minor Variation                                    29/07/2020 
Le Bistrot Pierre 385 Lord Street Southport Transfer                                           29/07/2020 
Scarisbrick Hotel 239 Lord Street Southport Variation of DPS                                   29/07/2020 
Prince Of Wales Hotel Lord Street Southport Variation of DPS                                   30/07/2020 
Grill Hunters 199 Lord Street Southport Grant                                              31/07/2020 
The Office Bar & Restaurant 9B Hoghton Street / 36 Anchor St Southport Variation of DPS                                   31/07/2020 
The Old Post Office Sports Bar 113 Deyes Lane Maghull Grant                                              04/08/2020 
Spar 51 Ovington Drive Southport Licence Holder Transfer & Variation of 

DPS         
04/08/2020 

Bliss Hotel Promenade Southport Removal of DPS                                     06/08/2020 
Sainsburys 1 - 3 Liverpool Road Crosby Variation of DPS                                   06/08/2020  

7 Liverpool Road North Maghull Grant                                              07/08/2020 
Kraft Burger 161 College Road Crosby Grant                                              07/08/2020 

P
age 147

A
genda Item

 11



T
his page is intentionally left blank



name address2 address3 action closeddate activity 
Fleetwood Hesketh Sports & Social Club Fylde Road Southport Renewal 31/07/2020 Club Machine Permit          
Southport Tavern 63 London Street Southport Grant      05/08/2020 Licensed Premises Automatic 

Gaming          

ANNEX 2

P
age 149

A
genda Item

 11



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the Meeting held on 23 March 2020
	4 A59 Northway - Receipt of Petition
	5 Public Path Dedication – Meadway, Maghull
	6 Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, Section 53, Application to modify the Definitive Map and Statement to include various public rights of way on and around St Luke’s Church Road, Formby.
	7 Proposed Zebra Crossing  - Park Lane West, Netherton, Bootle
	8 Statutory Taxi & Private Hire Vehicle Standards
	Enc. 1 for Statutory Taxi & Private Hire Vehicle Standards
	1.  Introduction
	1.1 There is evidence to support the view that taxis and private hire vehicles are a high-risk environment. In terms of risks to passengers, this can be seen in abuse and exploitation of children and vulnerable adults facilitated and in some cases per...
	1.2 The Policing and Crime Act 2017 enables the Secretary of State for Transport to issue statutory guidance on exercising taxi and private hire vehicle licensing functions to protect children and vulnerable individuals who are over 18 from harm when ...
	(a) has needs for care and support (whether or not the authority is meeting any of those needs),
	(b) is experiencing, or is at risk of, abuse or neglect, and
	(c) as a result of those needs is unable to protect himself or herself against the abuse or neglect or the risk of it.
	1.3 Whilst the focus of the Statutory Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Standards is on protecting children and vulnerable adults, all passengers will benefit from the recommendations contained in it. There is consensus that common core minimum standards ...
	1.4 It should be noted that as policing and criminal justice is not a devolved matter, the Statutory Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Standards issued under the Policing and Crime Act 2017 will continue to have effect in Wales although responsibility for...
	1.5 All local authorities and district councils that provide children’s and other types of services, including licensing authorities, have a statutory duty to make arrangements to ensure that their functions and any services that they contract out to ...
	1.6 The Statutory Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Standards reflect the significant changes in the industry and lessons learned from experiences in local areas since the 2010 version of the Department’s Best Practice Guidance. This includes extensive ad...
	1.7 The standards in this document replace relevant sections of the Best Practice Guidance issued by the Department in 2010, where there is a conflict between the Statutory Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Standards and the Best Practice Guidance the Dep...
	2. Consideration of the Statutory Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Standards

	2.1 The past failings of licensing regimes must never be repeated. The Department has carefully considered the measures contained in the Statutory Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Standards and recommend that these should be put in to practice and admini...
	2.2 The Government set out in the Modern Crime Prevention Strategy the evidence that where Government, law enforcement, businesses and the public work together on prevention, this can deliver significant and sustained cuts in certain crimes. That is g...
	2.3 The Strategy committed to protect children and young people from the risk of child sexual abuse and exploitation (CSAE), by working with local authorities to introduce rigorous taxi and private hire vehicle licensing regimes. Both the Jay and Case...
	2.4 The Casey Report made clear that weak and ineffective arrangements for taxi and private hire vehicle licensing had left the children and public at risk. The Department for Transport has worked with the Home Office, Local Government Association (LG...
	2.5 This document is published by the Secretary of State for Transport under section 177(1) of the Policing and Crime Act 2017 following consultation in accordance with section 177(5).
	2.6 The document sets out a framework of policies that, under section 177(4), licensing authorities “must have regard” to when exercising their functions. These functions include developing, implementing and reviewing their taxi and private hire vehic...
	2.7 “Having regard” to these standards requires public authorities, in formulating a policy, to give considerations the weight which is proportionate in the circumstances. Given that the standards have been set directly to address the safeguarding of ...
	2.8 Although it remains the case that licensing authorities must reach their own decisions, both on overall policies and on individual licensing matters in light of the relevant law, it may be that the Statutory Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Standards...
	2.9 The Statutory Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Standards does not purport to give a definitive statement of the law and any decisions made by a licensing authority remain a matter for that authority.
	3. Administering the Licensing Regime

	3.1 The Department recommends all licensing authorities make publicly available a cohesive policy document that brings together all their procedures on taxi and private hire vehicle licensing. This should include but not be limited to policies on conv...
	3.2 When formulating a taxi and private hire vehicle policy, the primary and overriding objective must be to protect the public. The importance of ensuring that the licensing regime protects the vulnerable cannot be overestimated. This was highlighted...
	3.3 The long-term devastation caused by CSAE was summarised in the same report:
	3.4 Rotherham Metropolitan Borough Council (‘Rotherham Council’) provides an example of how the systematic review of policies and procedures and the implementation of a plan to drive improvements in practice can result in a well-functioning taxi and p...
	3.5 One of the key lessons learned is that it is vital to review policies and reflect changes in the industry both locally and nationally. Licensing authorities should review their licensing policies every five years, but should also consider interim ...
	3.6 A previous argument against issuing licences for more than a year was that a criminal offence might be committed, and not notified, during this period; this can of course also be the case during the duration of a shorter licence. This risk can be ...
	3.7 The Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 (as amended) sets a standard length at three years for taxi and private hire vehicle drivers and five years for private hire vehicle operators. Any shorter duration licence should only be is...
	3.8 It is in the application of licensing authority’s policies (and the training and raising of awareness among those applying them) that protection will be provided. Where there are concerns that policies are not being applied correctly, it is vital ...
	3.9 The external investigation in South Ribble concluded “that there had been a lack of awareness and priority given to safeguarding and the safety of taxi [and private hire vehicle] passengers in the manner in which licensing issues were addressed”. ...
	3.10 It is hoped that all licensing authorities will have learnt from these mistakes but to prevent a repeat, local authorities should ensure they have an effective ‘whistleblowing’ policy and that all staff are aware of it. If a worker is aware of, a...
	3.11 The Public Interest Disclosure Act 1998 (PIDA), commonly referred to as whistleblowing legislation, provides protection for those that have a reasonable belief of serious wrongdoing, including failure to comply with professional standards, counci...
	3.12 Licensing authorities should consult on proposed changes in licensing rules that may have significant impacts on passengers and/or the trade. Such consultation should include not only the taxi and private hire vehicle trades but also groups likel...
	3.13 Any decision taken to alter the licensing regime is likely to have an impact on the operation of the taxi and private hire vehicle sector in neighbouring areas; and licensing authorities should engage with these areas to identify any concerns and...
	3.14 Any changes in licensing requirements should be followed by a review of the licences already issued. If the need to change licensing requirements has been identified, this same need is applicable to those already in possession of a licence. That ...
	3.15 Where a more subjective change has been introduced, for example an amended policy on previous convictions, a licensing authority must consider each case on its own merits. Where there are exceptional, clear and compelling reasons to deviate from ...
	4. Gathering and Sharing Information

	4.1 Licensing authorities must consider as full a range of information available to them when making a decision whether to grant a licence and to meet their ongoing obligation to ensure a licensee remains suitable to hold a licence.
	4.2 The Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) provides access to criminal record information through its disclosure service for England and Wales. The DBS also maintains the lists of individuals barred from working in regulated activity with children o...
	4.3 Enhanced certificates with a check of the barred lists include details of spent and unspent convictions recorded on the Police National Computer (PNC), any additional information which a chief officer of police believes to be relevant and ought to...
	4.4 It should be noted that licensing authorities must not circumvent the DBS process and seek to obtain details of previous criminal convictions and other information that may not otherwise be disclosed on a DBS certificate. Whilst data protection le...
	The Disclosure and Barring Service Update Service

	4.5 Subscription to the DBS Update Service allows those with standard and enhanced certificates to keep these up to date online and, with the individual’s consent, allows nominees to check the status of a certificate online at any time. Subscription t...
	4.6 The DBS will search regularly to see if any relevant new information has been received since the certificate was issued. The frequency varies depending on the type of information; for criminal conviction and barring information, the DBS will searc...
	4.7 Licensing authorities are able to request large numbers of status checks on a daily basis. The DBS has developed a Multiple Status Check Facility (MSCF) that can be accessed via a web service. The MSCF enables organisations to make an almost unlim...
	4.8 Should the MSCF advise that new information is available the DBS certificate should no longer be relied upon and a new DBS certificate requested.
	4.9 The DBS is not the only source of information that should be considered as part of a fit and proper assessment for the licensing of taxi and private hire vehicle drivers. Common Law Police Disclosure ensures that where there is a public protection...
	4.10 Common Law Police Disclosure replaced the Notifiable Occupations Scheme (NOS) in March 2015 and focuses on providing timely and relevant information which might indicate a public protection risk. Information is passed on at arrest or charge, rath...
	4.11 This procedure provides robust safeguarding arrangements while ensuring only relevant information is passed on to employers or regulatory bodies. Licensing authorities should maintain close links with the police to ensure effective and efficient ...
	4.12 Licence holders should be required to notify the issuing authority within 48 hours of an arrest and release, charge or conviction of any sexual offence, any offence involving dishonesty or violence and any motoring offence. An arrest for any of t...
	4.13 Importantly, a failure by a licence holder to disclose an arrest that the issuing authority is subsequently advised of might be seen as behaviour that questions honesty and therefore the suitability of the licence holder regardless of the outcome...
	4.14 In some circumstances it may be appropriate under the Safeguarding Vulnerable Groups Act 2006 for licensing authorities to make referrals to the DBS. A decision to refuse or revoke a licence as the individual is thought to present a risk of harm ...
	4.15 The Department recommends that licensing authorities should make a referral to the DBS when it is thought that:
	 an individual has harmed or poses a risk of harm to a child or vulnerable adult;
	 an individual has satisfied the ‘harm test’; or
	 received a caution or conviction for a relevant offence and;
	 the person they are referring is, has or might in future be working in regulated activity;
	if the above conditions are satisfied, the DBS may consider it appropriate for the person to be added to a barred list.
	4.16 These referrals may result in the person being added to a barred list and enable other licensing authorities to consider this should further applications to other authorities be made. Further information on referrals to DBS is available.
	4.17 The police are an invaluable source of intelligence when assessing whether a licensing applicant is a ‘fit and proper’ person. It is vital that licensing authorities have a partnership with the police service to ensure that appropriate informatio...
	4.18 This relationship can be mutually beneficial, assisting the police to prevent crime. The police can gain valuable intelligence from drivers and operators, for example, the identification of establishments that are selling alcohol to minors or dru...
	4.19 To aid further the quality of the information available to all parties that have a safeguarding duty, a revocation or refusal on public safety grounds should also be advised to the police.
	4.20 As has been stated elsewhere in this document, obtaining the fullest information minimises the doubt as to whether an applicant or licensee is ‘fit and proper’. An obvious source of relevant information is any previous licensing history. Applican...
	4.21 The LGA’s Councillors’ Handbook on taxi and private hire vehicle licensing advises that those responsible for licensing should “communicate regularly with licensing committees and officers in neighbouring councils to ensure critical information i...
	4.22 For these processes to be beneficial, all licensing authorities must keep a complete and accurate record as to the reasons for refusal, suspension or revocation of a licence in order that this might be shared if requested and appropriate to do so.
	4.23 Data protection legislation provides exemption from the rights of data subjects for the processing of personal data in connection with regulatory activities. This includes taxi and private hire vehicle licensing. The exemption applies only to inf...
	4.24 If notification under paragraph 4.20 or 4.21 of a refused or revoked licence is disclosed, the relevant licensing authority should be contacted to establish when the licence was refused, suspended or revoked and the reasons why. In those circumst...
	4.25 Should a licensing authority receive information that a licence holder did not disclose the information referred to in paragraph 4.20, for example by checking the NR3 register, the authority should consider whether the non-disclosure represents d...
	4.26 Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hubs are a way to improve the safeguarding response for children and vulnerable adults through better information sharing and high quality and timely safeguarding responses. MASHs (or similar models) should operate on th...
	4.27 The Home Office report on Multi Agency Working and Information Sharing recommended that effective multi-agency working still needs to become more widespread. The Children’s Commissioner’s 2013 Inquiry into Child Sexual Exploitation in Gangs and G...
	4.28 All licensing authorities should operate or establish a means to facilitate the objectives of a MASH (i.e. the sharing of necessary and relevant information between stakeholders). As has been emphasised throughout this document, one of the most e...
	4.29 Complaints about drivers and operators provide a source of intelligence when considering the renewal of a licence or to identify problems during the period of the licence. Patterns of behaviour such as complaints against drivers, even when they d...
	4.30 Licensees with a high number of complaints made against them should be contacted by the licensing authority and concerns raised with the driver and operator (if appropriate). Further action in terms of the licence holder must be determined by the...
	4.31 To ensure that passengers know who to complain to, licensing authorities should produce guidance for passengers on making complaints directly to the licensing authority that should be available on their website. Ways to make complaint to the auth...
	4.32 Importantly, this approach will assist in the directing of complaints and information regarding the behaviour of drivers who may be carrying a passenger outside of the area in which the driver is licensed to the authority that issued the licence....
	4.33 In terms of investigating complaints CCTV footage of an incident can provide an invaluable insight, providing an ‘independent witness’ to an event. This can assist in the decision whether to suspend or revoke a licence. The potential benefits of ...
	4.34 The DBS cannot access criminal records held overseas, only foreign convictions that are held on the Police National Computer may, subject to the disclosure rules, be disclosed. Therefore, a DBS check may not provide a complete picture of an indiv...
	4.35 Licensing authorities should seek or require applicants to provide where possible criminal records information or a ‘Certificate of Good Character’ from overseas in this circumstance to properly assess risk and support the decision-making process...
	4.36 Where an individual is aware that they have committed an offence overseas which may be equivalent to those listed in the annex to this document (Annex – Assessment of previous convictions), licensing authorities should advise the applicant to see...
	5. Decision Making

	5.1 A policy is only effective if it is administered properly. The taxi and private hire vehicle licensing functions of local councils are non-executive functions i.e. they are functions of the council rather than the executive (such as the Cabinet). ...
	5.2 Licensing authorities should ensure that all individuals that determine whether a licence is issued or refused are adequately resourced to allow them to discharge the function effectively and correctly.
	5.3 All individuals that determine whether a licence is issued should be required to undertake sufficient training. As a minimum, training for a member of a licensing committee should include: licensing procedures, natural justice, understanding the r...
	5.4 Public safety is the paramount consideration but the discharge of licensing functions must be undertaken in accordance with the following general principles:
	 policies should be used as internal guidance, and should be supported by a member/officer code of conduct.
	 any implications of the Human Rights Act should be considered.
	 the rules of natural justice should be observed.
	 decisions must be reasonable and proportionate.
	 where a hearing is required it should be fairly conducted and allow for appropriate consideration of all relevant factors.
	 decision makers must avoid bias (or even the appearance of bias) and predetermination.
	 data protection legislation.
	5.5 When a decision maker has a prejudicial interest in a case, whether it be financial or a personal relationship with those involved they should declare their interest at the earliest opportunity; this must be prior to any discussions or votes and, ...
	5.6 It is recommended that councils operate with a Regulatory Committee or Board that is convened at periodic intervals to determine licensing matters, with individual cases being considered by a panel of elected and suitably trained councillors drawn...
	5.7 It is considered that this approach also ensures the appropriate level of separation between decision makers and those that investigate complaints against licensees, and is the most effective method in allowing the discharge of the functions in ac...
	5.8 Avoidance of bias or even the appearance of bias is vital to ensuring good decisions are made and instilling and/or maintaining confidence in the licensing regime by passengers and licensees.
	5.9 Unlike officers, elected members are not usually involved in the day to day operation of the service and as such do not have relationships with licence holders that may give the impression that the discharge of a function is affected by the relati...
	5.10 Some licensing authorities may decide to operate a system whereby all matters are delegated to a panel of officers; however, this approach is not recommended and caution should be exercised. Decisions must be, and be seen to be, made objectively,...
	5.11 Whether the structure proposed is introduced or an alternative model is more appropriate in local circumstances, the objective should remain the same - to separate the investigation of licensing concerns and the management of the licence process....
	5.12 Licensing authorities have a duty to ensure that any person to whom they grant a taxi or private hire vehicle driver’s licence is a ‘fit and proper’ person to be a licensee. It may be helpful when considering whether an applicant or licensee is f...
	5.13 If, on the balance of probabilities, the answer to the question is ‘no’, the individual should not hold a licence.
	5.14 Licensing authorities have to make difficult decisions but (subject to the points made in paragraph 5.4) the safeguarding of the public is paramount. All decisions on the suitability of an applicant or licensee should be made on the balance of pr...
	5.15 In considering an individual’s criminal record, licensing authorities must consider each case on its merits, but they should take a particularly cautious view of any offences against individuals with special needs, children and other vulnerable g...
	5.16 Annexed to this document are the Department’s recommendations on the assessment of previous convictions (Annex – Assessment of previous convictions). This draws on the work of the Institute of Licensing, in partnership with the LGA, the National ...
	5.17 These periods should be taken as a starting point in considering whether a licence should be granted or renewed in all cases. The Department’s view is that this places passenger safety as the priority while enabling past offenders to sufficiently...
	6. Driver Licensing

	6.1 Licensing authorities are entitled to request an enhanced criminal record certificate with check of the barred lists from the DBS for all driver licence holders or applicants. The DfT’s 2019 survey of taxi and private hire vehicle licensing author...
	6.2 All individuals applying for or renewing a taxi or private hire vehicle drivers licence licensing authorities should carry out a check of the children and adult Barred Lists in addition to being subject to an enhanced DBS check (in section x61 of ...
	6.3 Driving a taxi or private hire vehicle is not, in itself, a regulated activity for the purposes of the barred list. This means that an individual subject to barring would not be legally prevented from being a taxi or private hire vehicle driver bu...
	6.4 Drivers working under an arrangement to transport children may be working in ‘regulated activity’ as defined by the Safeguarding Vulnerable Groups Act 2006. It is an offence to knowingly allow a barred individual to work in regulated activity. The...
	6.5 Licensing authorities should consider the role that those in the taxi and private hire vehicle industry can play in spotting and reporting the abuse, exploitation or neglect of children and vulnerable adults. As with any group of people, it is ove...
	6.6 All licensing authorities should provide safeguarding advice and guidance to the trade and should require taxi and private hire vehicle drivers to undertake safeguarding training. This is often produced in conjunction with the police and other age...
	 provide a safe and suitable service to vulnerable passengers of all ages;
	 recognise what makes a person vulnerable; and
	 understand how to respond, including how to report safeguarding concerns and where to get advice.
	6.7 Since 2015, the Department for Education (DfE) has run a nationwide campaign – ‘Together, we can tackle child abuse’ which aims to increase public understanding of how to recognise the signs to spot and encourage them to report child abuse and neg...
	6.8 County lines is a term used to describe gangs and organised criminal networks involved in exporting illegal drugs (primarily crack cocaine and heroin) into one or more importing areas [within the UK], using dedicated mobile phone lines or other fo...
	6.9 Exploitation is an integral part of the county lines offending model with children and vulnerable adults exploited to transport (and store) drugs and money between locations.  Children aged between 15-17 make up the majority of the vulnerable peop...
	6.10 The National Crime Agency’s 2018 county lines threat assessment set out that the national road network is key to the transportation of county lines victims, drugs and cash; with hire vehicles being one of the methods used for transportation betwe...
	6.11 Safeguarding awareness training should include the ways in which drivers can help to identify county lines exploitation. Firstly, they should be aware of the following warning signs:
	 Children and young people travelling in taxis or private hire vehicles alone;
	 travelling at unusual hours (during school time, early in the morning or late at night);
	 travelling long distances;
	 unfamiliar with the local area or do not have a local accent;
	 paying for journeys in cash or prepaid.
	6.12 The Home Office is working with partners to raise awareness of county lines and has provided material to help taxi and private vehicle hire staff to identify victims and report concerns to protect those exploited through this criminal activity.
	6.13 Drivers (or any person) should be aware of what to do if they believe a child or vulnerable person is at risk of harm. If the risk is immediate they should contact the police otherwise they should:
	 use the local safeguarding process, the first step of which is usually to contact the safeguarding lead within the local authority;
	 call Crime Stoppers on 0800 555 111.
	6.14 A lack of language proficiency could impact on a driver’s ability to understand written documents, such as policies and guidance, relating to the protection of children and vulnerable adults and applying this to identify and act on signs of explo...
	6.15 A licensing authority’s test of a driver’s proficiency should cover both oral and written English language skills to achieve the objectives stated above.
	7. Vehicle Licensing

	7.1 As with driver licensing, the objective of vehicle licensing is to protect the public, who trust that the vehicles dispatched are above all else safe. It is important therefore that licensing authorities are assured that those granted a vehicle li...
	7.2 Enhanced DBS and barred list checks are not available for vehicle licensing. Licensing authorities should require a basic disclosure from the DBS and that a check is undertaken annually. Any individual may apply for a basic check and the certifica...
	7.3 However, it is important that authorities acknowledge that in many cases individuals that license a vehicle may already be licensed as a driver. An authority which undertakes the biannual DBS checks recommended for its drivers should not require t...
	7.4 A refusal to license an individual as a driver or to suspend or revoke a driver licence does not automatically mean that that individual cannot be issued or continue to hold a vehicle or private hire vehicle operator licence; these decisions must ...
	7.5 Private hire vehicle operator and vehicle licences may be applied for by a company or partnership; licensing authorities should apply the ‘fit and proper’ test to each of the directors or partners in that company or partnership. For this to be eff...
	7.6 As explained earlier in the context of driver licensing, the DBS cannot access criminal records held overseas so other checks must be consider where and applicant has lived or worked overseas (see paragraph 4.34 - 4.36).
	7.7 Government has acknowledged the potential risk to public safety when passengers travel in taxis and private hire vehicles. It is unfortunately the case that no matter how complete the information available to licensing authorities is when assessin...
	7.8 The Department’s view is that CCTV can provide additional deterrence to prevent this and investigative value when it does. The use of CCTV can provide a safer environment for the benefit of taxi/private hire vehicle passengers and drivers by:
	 deterring and preventing the occurrence of crime;
	 reducing the fear of crime;
	 assisting the police in investigating incidents of crime;
	 assisting insurance companies in investigating motor vehicle accidents.
	7.9 All licensing authorities should consult to identify if there are local circumstances which indicate that the installation of CCTV in vehicles would have either a positive or an adverse net effect on the safety of taxi and private hire vehicle use...
	7.10 While only a small minority of licensing authorities have so far mandated all vehicles to be fitted with CCTV systems, the experience of those authorities that have has been positive for both passengers and drivers. In addition, the evidential be...
	7.11 The mandating of CCTV in vehicles may deter people from seeking a taxi or private hire vehicle licence with the intent of causing harm. Those that gain a licence and consider perpetrating an opportunistic attack against a vulnerable unaccompanied...
	7.12 CCTV systems that are able to record audio as well as visual data may also help the early identification of drivers that exhibit inappropriate behaviour toward passengers. Audio recording should be both overt (i.e. all parties should be aware whe...
	7.13 Imposition of a blanket requirement to attach CCTV as a condition to a licence is likely to give rise to concerns about the proportionality of such an approach and will therefore require an appropriately strong justification and must be kept unde...
	7.14 Licensing authorities are sometimes asked to license small (those constructed or adapted to carry fewer than nine passengers) limousines as private hire vehicles, these vehicles may be used for transport to ‘school proms’ as well as for adult boo...
	7.15 Stretched large limousines which clearly seat more than eight passengers should not be licensed as private hire vehicles because they are outside the licensing regime for private hire vehicles. However, in some circumstances a vehicle with space ...
	8. Private Hire Vehicle Operator Licensing

	8.1 As with driver licensing, the objective in licensing private hire vehicle operators is to protect the public, who may be using operators’ premises and trusting that the drivers and vehicles dispatched are above all else safe. It is important there...
	8.2 Enhanced DBS and barred list checks are not available for private hire vehicle operator licensing. Licensing authorities should request a basic disclosure from the DBS and that a check is undertaken annually. Any individual may apply for a basic c...
	8.3 However, it is important that authorities acknowledge that in many cases individuals that license as a private hire vehicle operator may already be licensed as a driver. An authority which undertakes the biannual DBS checks recommended for its dri...
	8.4 Refusal to license in individual as a driver or to suspend or revoke a driver licence does not automatically mean that that individual cannot be issued or continue to hold a private hire vehicle operator licence; this decision must be independent ...
	8.5 A private hire vehicle operator licence may be applied for by a company or partnership; licensing authorities should apply the ‘fit and proper’ test to each of the directors or partners in that company or partnership. For this to be effective priv...
	8.6 As explained earlier in the context of driver licensing, the DBS cannot access criminal records held overseas. Further information on assessing the suitability of those that have spent extended periods in overseas is provided in paragraphs 4.34 - ...
	8.7 Private hire vehicle drivers are not the only direct contact that private hire vehicle users have with private hire vehicle operators’ staff, for example a person taking bookings (be it by phone or in person). A vehicle dispatcher decides which dr...
	8.8 Licensing authorities should be satisfied that private hire vehicle operators can demonstrate that all staff that have contact with the public and/or oversee the dispatching of vehicles do not pose a risk to the public. Licensing authorities shoul...
	8.9 Operators should be required to evidence that they have had sight of a Basic DBS check on all individuals listed on their register of booking and dispatch staff and to ensure that Basic DBS checks are conducted on any individuals added to the regi...
	8.10 The register should be a ‘living document’ that maintains records of all those in these roles for the same duration as booking records are required to be kept, this will enable cross-referencing between the two records. A record that the operator...
	8.11 Operators may outsource booking and dispatch functions but they cannot pass on the obligation to protect children and vulnerable adults. Operators should be required to evidence that comparable protections are applied by the company to which they...
	8.12  Licensing authorities should also require operators or applicants for a licence to provide their policy on employing ex-offenders in roles that would be on the register as above. As with the threshold to obtaining a private hire vehicle operator...
	8.13 Section 56 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 requires private hire vehicle operators to keep records of the particulars of every booking invited or accepted, whether it is from the passenger or at the request of another ...
	 the name of the passenger;
	 the time of the request;
	 the pick-up point;
	 the destination;
	 the name of the driver;
	 the driver’s licence number;
	 the vehicle registration number of the vehicle;
	 the name of any individual that responded to the booking request;
	 the name of any individual that dispatched the vehicle.
	8.14 This information will enable the passenger to be traced if this becomes necessary and should improve driver security and facilitate enforcement. It is suggested that booking records should be retained for a minimum of six months.
	8.15 Private hire vehicle operators have a duty under data protection legislation to protect the information they record. The Information Commissioner’s Office provides comprehensive on-line guidance on registering as a data controller and how to meet...
	8.16 PCV licensed drivers are subject to different checks from taxi and private hire vehicle licensed drivers as the work normally undertaken, i.e. driving a bus, does not present the same risk to passengers. Members of the public are entitled to expe...
	8.17 Where a private hire vehicle is unsuitable, for example where a larger vehicle is needed because more than eight passenger seats required or to accommodate luggage, the booker should be informed that a PSV is necessary, and that a PCV licenced dr...
	9.  Enforcing the Licensing Regime

	9.1 Implementing an effective framework for licensing authorities to ensure that as full a range of information made available to suitably trained decision makers that are supported by well-resourced officials is essential to a well-functioning taxi a...
	9.2 Licensing authorities should, where the need arises, jointly authorises officers from other authorities so that compliance and enforcement action can be taken against licensees from outside their area. An agreement between licensing authorities to...
	9.3 Licensing authorities should ensure that drivers are aware of the policies that they must adhere and are properly informed of what is expected of them and the repercussions for failing to do so. Some licensing authorities operate a points-based sy...
	9.4 The provision of a clear, simple and well-publicised process for the public to make complaints about drivers and operators will enable authorities to target compliance and enforcement activity (see paragraphs 4.29 - 4.33). This will provide a furt...
	9.5 Section 61 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 provides a licensing authority with the ability to suspend or revoke a driver’s licence on the following grounds: -
	9.6 Licensing authorities have the option to suspend or revoke a licence should information be received that causes concern over whether a driver is a fit and proper person. Where the licence holder has been served an immigration penalty or convicted ...
	9.7 Before any decision is made, the licensing authority must give full consideration to the available evidence and the driver should be given the opportunity to state his or her case. If a period of suspension is imposed, it cannot be extended or cha...
	9.8 A decision to revoke a licence does not however prevent the reissuing of a licence should further information be received that alters the balance of probability of a decision previously made. The decision to suspend or revoke was based on the evid...
	9.9 New evidence may be produced at an appeal hearing that may result in the court reaching a different decision to that reached by the council or an appeal may be settled by agreement between the licensing authority and the driver on terms which, in ...
	9.10 A suspension may still be appropriate if it is believed that a minor issue can be addressed though additional training. In this instance the licence would be returned to the driver once the training has been completed without further consideratio...
	Annex – Assessment of Previous Convictions
	Annex – Disclosure and Barring Service information
	Annex – CCTV Guidance
	Annex - Staying Safe: Guidance for Passengers



	9 Taxi Licensing Performance Report 2019/20
	10 Local Licensing: Performance Report 2019/20
	11 Determinations made under the Licensing Act 2003 and the Gambling Act 2005: period covering 29 February 2020 to 7 August 2020
	Annex 1: Numbers determined – Licensing Act 2003
	Annex 2: Numbers determined – Gambling Act 2005




